



Department of Ecology (Katedra ekologie)

DYNAMIC OF NUTRIENTS IN GRASSLAND BIOMASS UNDER DIFFERENT MANAGEMENT PRACTICES

(Dynamika obsahu živin v biomase travního porostu při různém způsobu obhospodařování)

(Ph.D. Dissertation Thesis)

Klára Pavlů

Supervisor: prof. RNDr. Michal Hejcman, Ph.D. et Ph.D. *Consultant/Advisor*: doc. Ing. Petr Homolka, CSc. et Ph.D.

Prague 2021

AUTHOR'S STATEMENT/DECLARATION

I declare that this PhD thesis of Department of Ecology has been completed independently, under the supervision of Prof. Dr. Michal Hejcman. All the materials and resources are cited with regards to the scientific ethics, copyrights and laws protecting intellectual property. All provided and created digital data will not be publicly disposed without the consent of the Department of Ecology, Faculty of Environmental Sciences, Czech University of Life Sciences Prague.

In Prague, June 2021

.....

ACKNOWLEDGEMENT

I owe a debt of gratitude to my supervisors, Michal Hejcman and Petr Homolka for their advice, assistance and encouragement over the study.

I also give thanks to all my colleagues and staff in the joint workplace of Crop Research Institute and Czech University of Life Sciences "Ecology and Management of Grasslands" including Vilda Pavlů, Honza Titěra, Lenka Pavlů, Franta Paška, Chukwudi Nwaogu, Teowdroes Kassahun, Honza Gaisler, Věra Ismanická, and Irena Jonášová.

I appreciate everyone who directly or indirectly supported my studies and the completion of the thesis.

Finally, I would also like to say many thanks to my partner Dan Kajzr, my family and friends for bearing with me over the last few years.

The research was supported by grants awarded by the Internal Grant Agency – Faculty of Environmental Sciences, Czech University of Life Sciences Prague (Project No. 20194211), the ministry of Agriculture of the Czech Republic (RO0418, RO0718) and funding from the Biotechnology and Biological Sciences Research Council (grant no. BB/CSP1730/1).

Abbreviations:

- DMSB Dry Matter Standing Biomass
- IVOMD In Vitro Organic Matter Digestibility
- CP Crude Protein
- CF Crude fibre
- SH Sward Height
- **DM** Dry Matter
- NDF Neutral detergent fibre
- ADF Neutral detergent fibre
- WSC Water Soluble Carbohydrates
- Ntot Total Nitrogen in the soil
- **C**_{org} Organic carbon in the soil
- BRE Brignant Restoration Experiment (UK)
- **OFQE** Oldřichov Forage Quality Experiment (Czechia)
- **OPE** Oldřichov Patch Experiment (Czechia)
- RPE Resting Place Experiment (Slovakia)

Contents

CHAPTER 1 General introduction	7
1.1 Permanent grassland	
1.2 Plant species composition of grassland	9
1.2.1 Grasses	9
1.2.2 Legumes	10
1.2.3 Other forbs	10
1.3 Main methods of grassland management	10
1.3.1 Grazing	11
1.3.2 Cutting	
1.3.3 Combination of grazing and cutting	12
1.3.4 Fertilization	
1.3.5 Mulching	
1.3.5 Seeding	14
1.4 Quantitative parameters of grassland	14
1.5 Qualitative parameters of grassland	14
1.5.1 Mineral nutrients in the herbage	16
1.5.2 Organic components in the herbage	
1.6 Soil characteristics	
1.7 Grassland and Agri-environmental schemes	
1.8 References	22
CHAPTER 2 Main goals and questions	
2.1 The objective of the thesis	
CHAPTER 3 The effects of first defoliation and previous management intensity on forage qua a semi-natural species-rich grassland	ality of 33
CHAPTER 4 Effect of grazing intensity and dung on herbage and soil nutrients	49
CHAPTER 5 Restoration management of cattle resting place in mountain grassland	56
CHAPTER 6 The effect of 19 years of restoration managements on forage quality and herbag relationships within improved upland grassland	e soil
CHAPTER 7 The main results and overview discussion	99
7.1 The main results	100
7.1.1 The effects of first defoliation and previous management intensity on forage quality of natural species-rich grassland	a semi-
7.1.2 Effect of grazing intensity and dung on herbage and soil nutrients	101

7.1.3 Restoration management of cattle resting place in mountain grassland	102
7.1.4 The effect of 19 years of restoration managements on forage quality and herbage soil relationships within improved upland grassland	102
7.2 Overview discussion	104
7.2.1 Herbage production	104
7.2.2 Minerals	105
7.2.3 Organic components	108
7.2.2 Soil chemical properties	109
7.3 References	111
CHAPTER 8 Summary of results and future recommendation	117
8.1 Summary of results	118
8.2 Future recommendation	119
CHAPTER 9 Curriculum vitae and list of publications	120
9.1 Curriculum vitae	121
9.2 List of publications	123

CHAPTER 1

General introduction

1.1 Permanent grassland

Permanent grasslands are a major attribute of land use in Europe and comprise about 35% of the total utilized agriculture area in the EU-28 countries of Europe (Dudek et al., 2020; Smit et al., 2008). They comprise both semi-natural (man-made) and natural grasslands. Natural grasslands originate in areas, where there aren't suitable conditions for the creation of a forest, therefore they do not have to be maintained by men. Forest formation is mostly limited by temperature, mechanical damage, altitude and lack of rainfall (Pavlů et al., 2019b; Vera, 2000).

Permanent grasslands are complex of plant communities, which are characterized by large variety of botanical, morphological, physio-chemical and anatomical composition. These grasslands consist of grasses, forbs and legumes. Permanent grasslands have an important role in protecting and creating of environment such as water retention and erosion protection (Frame, 1992). They also support other ecosystem services including provision of landscapes and habitat, carbon sequestration, they provide the forage for livestock and further secure great source of plant and animal diversity (Le Clec'h et al., 2019).

Majority European grasslands are man-made (Hejcman et al., 2013) and regular human intervention based on defoliation is necessary for their maintenance (Frame, 1992; Novák, 2008a). Grasslands are divided into pastures and meadows according to the method of management, pastures are maintained by grazing and meadows are maintained by cutting (Gibson, 2009).

Pastures were originated in Central Europe after the last glaciation, when steppe vegetation areas were grazed by large herbivores (European bison, wild horse, wild cattle), which defended the formation of the forest. Their impact was very significant until the beginning of agriculture (during Neolithic period, 5300–4300 BC). Livestock farming (cows, goats, sheep, horses and pigs) was based on grazing, which kept or expanded existing the landscape in forestless until the early Iron Age (750–500 BC) (Hejcman et al., 2013; Vera, 2000).

Meadows originated much later than pastures and their origin is related with the invention of the main tool for harvesting of meadow stands-scythe, which first appeared around 500 BC. Their look was different from today's scythes, they were short tools and biomass had to be harvested a bit higher above the ground (Hejcman et al., 2013).

Botanical composition, sward density, type of defoliation, nutrient cycle, presence of faeces and disturbance are the major differences between pasture and meadow. Pasture are

usually characterized by creeping and short species, plants with a ground leaf rosette and with defence mechanisms against the grazing animals. Additionally, the sward in the pasture has high density. Aboveground biomass is removed selectively on the pastures during the grazing season, whereas on meadows non-selectively and at one time. About 80-90% of the nutrients are usually returned back to the soil in the form of faeces and urine (uneven distribution) to the pastures and on the contrary biomass from meadows is removed after cutting and if fertilizers aren't applied, nutrients are gradually depleted from the soil (Pavlů et al., 2019b). The presence of faeces on the pastures, which grazing cattle avoid (MacDiarmid and Watkin, 1972), leads to local eutrophication and the formation of a mosaic structure. Further, regular soil disturbance by animals (trampling) creates conditions for germination and subsequent growth of seedlings on the pastures (Pavlů et al., 2019b).

1.2 Plant species composition of grassland

Grasslands are formed by the different herbaceous plant species, which reflect soilclimatic conditions and management. Generally, plant species can be divided into these main functional (agro-botanical) groups: grasses, legumes and other forbs (Frame, 1992; Gibson, 2009; Whitehead, 2000).

1.2.1 Grasses

Grasses belong to the *Poaceae* family (Kaplan et al., 2019), which consists of different species with different characteristics. They usually create a dense sward, which resists livestock grazing very well (Pavlů et al., 2006c; Regál and Krajčovič, 1963). Further, roots of the grass sward significantly increase resistance of soil to water erosion (Kollárová et al., 2007) and in general, grasses produce more root biomass than legumes and other forbs (Whitehead, 2000).

Forage of grasses has the highest quality (the highest level of nutrients and digestibility) before and at the time of ear emergence, but during and after the flowering concentration of nutrients and digestibility decreases rapidly. This is due to increasing concentration of lignin, fiber and silicic acid, therefore, it is recommended to do the first cut or beginning of grazing before the flowering (Frame, 1992; Whitehead, 2000).

1.2.2 Legumes

Legumes belong to *Fabaceae* family (Kaplan et al., 2019) and they are primarily perennial plants. Symbiosis with tuberous bacteria is their very significant property, that enriches the soil with nitrogen up to 500 kg ha⁻¹ N year⁻¹, but more common is about 80–100 kg ha⁻¹ N year⁻¹ (Whitehead, 2000). They are demanding of light, therefore dense vegetation is not suitable for them and their maximum yield is usually achieved from the second to third year after sowing. They are modest to the temperature, but some of them are more sensitive to hard frost and harsh climatic conditions (Frame, 1992; Regál and Krajčovič, 1963). Legumes are characterized by high mineral concentrations (Mg, Ca, P, K), lower concentration of fiber and high concentration of crude protein (Hakl et al., 2015; Kollárová et al., 2007). Growing legumes are more sensitive to soil acidity or low concentrations of K and P than grasses (Frame, 1992).

Legumes have higher digestibility than grasses due to slightly incrusted and soft epidermis (Frame, 1992), so they are very important component of feed for livestock in fresh forage and also in hay (Ivanič, 1984). However, feeding only young clover, especially *Trifolium hybridum, T. pratense* and *T. repens*, is very dangerous, because it can cause bloating of animals. Legumes are evaluated as the best forage in terms of yield and quality, but greater average losses during conservation of forage are a major shortage of legumes (Frame, 1992; Regál and Krajčovič, 1963).

1.2.3 Other forbs

Generally, forbs have good digestibility (in the optimum harvest time) and good mineral concentrations. During extensive use of grassland (with low amount of harvest without fertilization), forbs are able to quickly adapt to changing trophic regime of soil (Kollárová et al., 2007). Forbs have a higher mineral content than grasses, drought resistance and acceptability to stock (Frame, 1992; Pirhofer-Walzl et al., 2011).

1.3 Main methods of grassland management

Biomass production has been the main goal of grassland management for centuries and forage quality has been reflection of the available mechanization and management (pasture and hay production) throughout history (Vera, 2000). Most grasslands were intensified in the second half of the last century and only a little of low-production grasslands remained. The intensification of grasslands was achieved by i) application of fertilizers - more frequent

defoliation, ii) earlier cutting - silage production needs younger vegetation than hay production, iii) replacement of permanent grasslands by temporary grasslands with species of high productivity (Isselstein et al., 2005).

1.3.1 Grazing

Grazing is the oldest way of grassland management, which resulted in creation of pastures. Short vegetation adapted to trampling and regular defoliation is typical for them. In Central European conditions a pasture sward is characterized by high proportion of short grasses together with rosette and creeping forbs, especially *T. repens* (Frame, 1992; Hejduk and Gaisler, 2006; Mládek and Hejcman, 2006).

The choice of grazing system depends on the climatic conditions, possibilities of pasture fencing, numbers and species of animals and their experience, botanical composition, areas of the grassland and soil properties (Pavlů, 2001). Pastures can be divided in to temporary or permanent, extensive or intensive (Novák, 2008b). Their intensity and the timing of grazing activities are important factors, that affect quality and quantity of grazing forage (Henkin et al., 2011; Koidou et al., 2019; Ma et al., 2014; Pavlů et al., 2006b). It means, that the determination of the convenient term for grazing should be suggested by several factors: plants, animals, site, management and economic factors (Vallentine, 2001).

Cattle are grazing generalists, it means they aren't very selective during grazing (Rook and Tallowin, 2003), but they avoid areas with tall-stem herbage, that are difficult to graze (DeVries and Daleboudt, 1994) and also areas with excrements (MacDiarmid and Watkin, 1972). Grazing by large herbivores causes a soil disturbance, alters concentration of nutrients in the patches after defecation and urine, which leads to changes in grassland structure and composition (Gibson, 2009; Ludvíková et al., 2014; Rook et al., 2004). For pastures, which are only grazed, it is advisable to cut the ungrazed patches after the first and second grazing (Nágl and Rais, 1961).

Different grazing intensity changes productivity of grasslands and their botanical composition and thus affects mineral contents in the herbage (Vermeire et al., 2008). Grasslands are the main source of minerals for grazing herbivores, which are necessary for maintaining livestock health, growth and reproduction (Jones and Tracy, 2013).

There are different preferences among grazers, goats and cattle prefer grasses, whereas sheep prefer mainly forbs. Leaves are part of the forage which has the highest-quality, so they are preferred by animals, if they have a choice (Gibson, 2009).

Different digestibility of single plant species or their parts is a reason of selective grazing of animals. Forages with higher yield and lower digestibility are more suitable for less demanding animals (Matches and Burns, 1985).

1.3.2 Cutting

Cutting with biomass removal is an alternative mechanical defoliation (Frame, 1992), which is a common management used in many grasslands in Europe. It keeps out woody plants, reduces forbs, encourages growth of grasses, maintains the required sward heights (Gibson, 2009). It is also used for hay and silage production, the optimum stage of phenology at harvest time is necessary for their quality, cutting at late maturity causes lower quality (Frame, 1992). Cutting is carried out using different tools: small mechanization, manual mowing by scythe or self-propelled and tractor mowers; in which above-ground biomass is separated from the stubble at a height of 3–10 cm (Hejduk and Gaisler, 2006). More frequent cutting generally supports short species, especially species with ground rosettes of leaves or species with creeping growth (Pavlů et al., 2019b). Height and frequency of cutting depends on the specific site condition and goals of management.

Cutting was primarily used for obtaining feed for livestock, later it began to be used for optimization of vegetation structures and species composition (Pavlů et al., 2019b). Optimum time and number of cutting are chosen according to optimal sward maturity it means compromise between quality and quantity of forage, the type of vegetation, habitat, soil conditions, altitude and climate (Frame, 1992). However, there are two main target groups of stakeholders. Farmers which are focused on the good forage quality and biomass production and on the other hand nature conservationists, who are focused on maintaining (or increasing) species diversity (Pavlů et al., 2019b).

1.3.3 Combination of grazing and cutting

Grasslands can also be managed by combination of cutting and grazing (Pavlů et al., 2021; Van Diggelen and Marrs, 2003). Cutting is non-selective removal of above-ground biomass, while grazing influences sward by selectivity of grazing, stocking rate, nutrient enrichment and trampling (Pavlů et al., 2019a; Stewart and Pullin, 2008; WallisDeVries, 1998). This combination is generally recommended for management supporting species richness (Krahulec et al., 2001).

1.3.4 Fertilization

The type of soil acidity affects the need for fertilization and nutrient availability for plants (Pavlů et al., 2006a). Fertilization can be minimized or omitted, if permanent grasslands are managed by grazing, because nutrients are returned (80–90%) into the soil in the form of solid and liquid faeces (Královec, 2001).

Fertilization is important especially in grasslands with long-term cutting, where a large loss of soil mineral nutrients, which can be up to tens of kg per ha during the year (Pavlů et al., 2016), is detected. It is very important to set up amount and type of fertilizer, date and method of fertilization. Breach of these principles usually leads to undesirable change in the species composition of grassland and leaching of nutrients (Hejduk and Gaisler, 2006). Organic fertilizers are more suitable for grassland fertilization than mineral ones from the nature conservation point of view, because they have the large surface, improve the soil structure and bind the nutrients, which are released gradually and thus prevent their leaching (Pavlů et al., 2019b).

The NPK fertilizers usually increase yield and the sward height, which creates unsuitable lighting conditions for short plant species and thus reduces their competitiveness. Therefore, short species react negatively to fertilization and as the sward usually comprises nearly half of short species, their decline significantly reduces grassland diversity (Titěra et al., 2020).

1.3.5 Mulching

The lack of livestock and the use of grassland biomass in Central Europe changed management of semi-natural grasslands and previously intensified upland grasslands. Mulching has been used as a low-cost management since the 1990s in the Czech Republic as alternative to grazing or conventional cutting (Gaisler et al., 2019). Above-ground biomass is mechanically separated from the stubble, crushed and evenly spread back on the stubble (Hejduk and Gaisler, 2006), to avoid the unwanted changes in botanical composition of grasslands, that are not currently used for agriculture (Gaisler et al., 2019). Mulching should not theoretically deplete available soil nutrients from the upper soil layer, unlike cutting, where biomass is removed. The nutrients released during the decomposition of organic matter should be reused by plants. Long-term use of mulching isn't suitable as substitute for standard grassland management, because it negatively affects the structure of vegetation, biodiversity of plant species and animals in grassland (Pavlů et al., 2016; Pavlů et al., 2019b).

1.3.5 Seeding

Seeding of high productive cultivars of legumes and grass species is used to improve quality and production of biomass (Hejduk and Gaisler, 2006), especially in case if the sward is sparse or composed from poor quality plants (Frame, 1992; Nágl and Rais, 1961). Cultivars for sowing are usually selected according to the optimum temperature for germination, growth conditions, emergence and early growth. Deep soils are better for seeding as they have smaller fluctuations in daily temperatures and more available water (Pearson and Ison, 1997). Seeds on the soil surface have worse conditions, because they can absorb water only through the part, which is in contact with the soil surface, so large seeds are at disadvantage in comparison with small ones (McWilliam and Dowling, 1970).

1.4 Quantitative parameters of grassland

The amount of harvested biomass depends on the soil moisture, fertility, intensity of grassland management (Pavlů et al., 2019b), type of management (Hejcman et al., 2010; Klimeš and Klimešová, 2002) and ecological conditions of the habitat. The range of biomass yield is generally between 5-12 t DM ha ⁻¹ year ⁻¹ in European grasslands (Kollárová et al., 2007; Wilkins, 2002) and the growth peak of the grassland is at the turn of May and June. The year-on-year variability of yields can be very different, due to various weather fluctuations, especially in the distribution and total precipitation (Kassahun et al., 2016).

1.5 Qualitative parameters of grassland

Forage quality and biomass yield are the most important factors that are affected by the date of harvest (Frame, 1992), type of vegetation, grassland management, weather conditions (Schaub et al., 2020), phenophases and representation of individual agro-botanical groups in grassland during the vegetation season (Mládek et al., 2011). Qualitative parameters are changing with ageing of swards during the vegetation season (Boob et al., 2019; Fiems et al., 2004; Mládek et al., 2011; Tallowin and Jefferson, 1999). Forage usually has high digestibility values but low herbage yields in the early part of the growing season. Later, biomass yield increases with increasing maturity and net biomass accumulation, which is connected with increase in cell wall content and decline in digestibility (Frame, 1992). Forage from single species have different properties. For instance, legumes are generally of higher quality than grasses, but the digestibility of legumes and coolseason grasses is very similar (Colins and Fritz, 2003).



Fig.1. Relationship between yield and quality (http://www.ostrich.org.uk)

Generally, fibre contents show a progressive increase but in vitro organic matter digestibility decrease with ageing of the forage during the vegetation season (Figs. 1,2) (Boob et al., 2019; Frame, 1992; Koidou et al., 2019) Similar decrease with ageing of the forage also occurs in case of P and K concentrations (Duru and Ducrocq, 1997).

The general knowledge about nutrient concentrations in the forage helps to predict their deficiency and suggest supplements according to their needs (Vallentine, 2001). Leached or depleted nutrients from the soil can be returned back by organic or mineral fertilizers (Novák, 2008b). Forage quality of grasslands is also affected by the secondary compounds such as allelochemicals and anti-herbivore defences, in which many of them are toxic and affect nutritive value and digestibility of forage (Gibson, 2009). These structural anti-quality factors have a negative effect on herbivore ingestive abilities by reducing chewing rate, chewing efficiency, bite rate and bite mass and also by reducing the digestibility of other nutrients (Laca et al., 2001). They can also affect herbivore physiology, that causes stress or toxicity. The terpenoids, phenolics and nitrogen compounds are most important ones (Gibson, 2009).

Therefore, there are important questions concerning the most suitable time to start the grazing season or to apply the first cut in relation to the nutritional and mineral requirements of cattle. Suitable time for grazing or mowing is affected not only by herbage maturation but also by the type of vegetation, weather conditions and grassland management (Schaub et al., 2020).

Animals generally prefer young plants with actively growing leaves and stems than older mature plants. If young forage is not available, the animals prefer the forage in the order of: green leaves, green stems, dry leaves, and dry stems (Wallace, 1984).



Fig. 2. Effect of plant maturity on forage quality (Ball et al., 2001)

1.5.1 Mineral nutrients in the herbage

The contents of minerals in the plants depend on several factors, which include plant genotype, stage of maturity, climate, soil properties (e.g. soil moisture, content of elements in the soil and their availability), intensity of shading (Míka, 1997; Schaffers, 2002; Suttle, 2010).

Mineral elements are divided into macro and micro-elements according to their amounts in the herbage. Macro-elements include nitrogen (N), potassium (K), phosphor (P), magnesium (Mg), calcium (Ca), sodium (Na), sulphur (S) and chlorine (Cl); while microelements include manganese (Mn), zinc (Zn), copper (Cu) iron (Fe), and selenium (Se) (Frame, 1992; Novák, 2008b; Whitehead, 2000).

Changes in the soil pH have significant influence on content of micro-elements in the herbage, on the contrary they have only slight influence on content of macro-elements. For example, contents of Se and Mo in the forage increase with growth of pH in the soil, conversely contents of Mn and Co in the forage decrease with slight increase of pH in the soil (Míka, 1997). Herbage in the early part of the growing season usually contains enough nutrients, but as soon as these plants begin to mature, the level of nutrient concentrations decreases (Vallentine, 2001). This is due to the 'dilution effect' described by Duru and

Ducrocq (1997), in which during the maturation stage the herbage biomass increases whereas mineral concentration declines (Míka, 1997; Mládek et al., 2011).

Herbs and legumes have higher concentration of minerals, especially K, Ca, Mg than grasses (Míka, 1997; Pirhofer-Walzl et al., 2011). *Dactylis glomerata* is connected with the highest and *Phleum pratense* with the lowest mineral concentration in the frame of grasses in temperate grassland. Content of Na is very variable unlike contents of Ca, K, N, P, where variability is relatively low (Míka, 1997).

Nitrogen is considered to be the most important element in plant nutrition, nonetheless, its high content in the soil causes greater grass growth at the expense of forbs, particularly legumes (Frame, 1992). High plant-available concentrations of nitrogen and phosphorus in the soil promote especially growth of tall grasses, while high concentration of nitrogen together with low phosphorus concentration supports the growth of short sedges and short grasses. Excessive amount of phosphorus reduces the species richness of grassland (especially in combination with nitrogen), although plants uptake only a small amount of phosphorus from the soil. Higher concentrations of potassium do not affect the number of species as negatively as phosphorus (Janssens et al., 1998). Common application of potassium and phosphorus (or each alone) without nitrogen application supports the occurrence of forbs, primarily legumes (Hejcman et al., 2007; Titěra et al., 2020).

When availability of some minerals decreases so much, that the level of nutrients in body of animal falls below threshold values, characteristic symptoms of disease may occur (Familton, 1990). Amount and ratio of nutrients are very important for adequate performance, which varied for different animals' categories (Pozdíšek et al., 2002). Intake of elements, which are in deficiency as well as in excess, is undesirable in animal nutrition (Míka, 1997; Suttle, 2010). Animal mineral deficiency is result of complex series of interactions involving cycle of soil-plant-animal (Familton, 1990). Lack of elements for animals is connected with those, which plants need in a small amount (Se, Co, I) and on the contrary surplus of elements occurs when plants need them in a bigger amount (K). Cattle can adapt to low intake of Na in the long term, but excessive intake has not positive effect on the performance (Suttle, 2010).

The need of minerals for animals depends on species, breed, ability of the animal to utilize minerals and on physiological state (e.g. pregnancy, lactation, growth). Some domestic animals are especially sensitive to mineral deficiency (Familton, 1990). The knowledge of available nutrients in the forage can help to predict their deficiency and suggest supplementation according to the needs of animals. Further, the growth phase of plants (phenology) also significantly influences nutritional levels in the forage (Vallentine, 2001).

Dairy cows have greater nutritional requirements for P, K, Ca, Mg and Na minerals than beef cattle and sheep, mainly due to the needs of lactation (Whitehead, 2000). The forage for livestock must be variable according to their requirements, which are different in various stages of production (Vallentine, 2001). Minerals that are in a shortage and do not meet the requirements for animals must be added by mineral licks (Novák, 2008b; Whitehead, 2000).

1.5.2 Organic components in the herbage

Organic components usually comprise crude protein, fat, fiber and nitrogen-free extract (Zeman et al., 2006). Digestible nutrients we call those, which are not excluded by faeces. They do not have to be only nutrients that have been resorbed in the gastrointestinal tract, but also nutrients that have been converted by microbial digestion in the stomach of ruminants, e.g. gas that is excreted from the organism through belching (Zeman et al., 2006). Increasing proportion of structural carbohydrates and lignification in herbage maturity causes gradual decrease of digestibility (Frame, 1992; Rymer, 2000). Young herbage cell wall has high digestibility up to 90%, but it declines during aging to 30% due to increasing lignification (Buxton, Russell and Wedin, 1987).

The concentration of the cell walls increases with increasing temperature, because high temperatures accelerate growth, flowering and maturation, that causes an increasing lignification and decreasing digestibility, because of reducing concentrations of soluble carbohydrate (Deinum and Dirven, 1976; Gibson, 2009), which might be supported by cloudy weather or shading (Pearson and Ison, 1997).

Amount of digestible matter allows us to evaluate the nutritional value of feed. (Koukolová et al., 2010). The optimal value of digestibility required in the forage for dairy cows is higher than 67% (Frame, 1992), for beef cattle at least 60% (NRC, 2000) and maintenance value in the forage for cattle is around 50% (ARC, 1980).

Carbohydrate complex (fiber) is one of the most important components of the forage. Carbohydrates are divided into the non-structural (sugars, starches, neutral detergent soluble fibers), which are stored in the cell protoplasm and on structural (crude fibers - hemicellulose, cellulose and lignin), which are stored in the cell walls (Urban et al., 1997; Van Saun and Koukal, 2003).

Crude fiber can be divided into neutral detergent fiber (NDF), acid detergent fiber (ADF) and lignin. The NDF consists from hemicellulose, cellulose and lignin, after removing the hemicellulose from NDF remains a part that is composed of cellulose and lignin, which is

called acid detergent fiber (ADF) and after removing the cellulose remains only indigestible lignin and silica (Horrocks and Vallentine, 1999).

Hemicellulose and cellulose are partially digestible for ruminants due to their microbial populations within digestive system, which break down these components by fermentation (Vallentine, 2001). Plant cell walls form a large part of the forage (40 to 80%), but they are less digestible (Hatfield, 1989; Van Soest, 1982) and structures, which are comprised of lignin and some mineral undigested residues, remain after digestion (Pearson and Ison, 1997). Indigestible lignin inhibits availability of hemicellulose and cellulose for microbial digestion (Horrocks and Vallentine, 1999). Hemicellulose (Fig.3), which is fixed into the cell wall and protected by layer of lignin, has variable and lower digestibility as well as lignin. Digestibility of hemicellulose itself is 70%, whereas of lignin is less than 3% in plant material (Minson, 1982)



Fig.3. Scheme of changes in the chemical composition of grasses as they age (Osbourne, 1980).

Generally, the optimal concentration of fiber in the diet of ruminant animals provides a mechanical saturation, promotes intestinal peristalsis and motility of rumen, limits intake and digestibility of feed (Zeman et al., 2006). It prolongs time the forage stays in the rumen (Thornton and Minson, 1973) and simultaneously reduces intake forage by animals regardless of other chemical compositions (Hogan, Kenny and Weston, 1987). Lignification is generally evaluated as a major factor, that limits digestibility of plant cell walls, though the current composition of the cell wall, based on polysaccharides (sugars), may affect the extent and rate of digestion by rumen microorganisms, regardless of lignin (Buxton, Russell and Wedin,

1987). Herbage inserts lignin (non-carbohydrate material) into the cell walls with advancing aging, this complex supplies the plant rigidity and tensile strength, thereby reducing the quality parameters of the forage (Horrocks and Vallentine, 1999).

1.6 Soil characteristics

Content of specific minerals in the soil is determined by bedrock properties (Familton, 1990). Further, nutrients also come to the soil by groundwater from the parent rock, waste and decomposition by organic fytomass (Novák, 2008b). Decomposition is the breakdown of organic substances into inorganic ones that are available for intake by plants and up to 90% of primary production in grasslands comes through a decomposition process (Úlehlová, 1992).

The concentration of the ions at the root/soil interface is affected by the amount of available nutrients in the soil, the transport of specific ions through the soil and the buffering capacity of the soil (Pearson and Ison, 1997).

Mineral concentrations in the herbage are indicators of nutrient supply in the soil, and decrease in nutrition reserves in the soil reduces the nutrient concentrations in the herbage, and this affects quality and yield of biomass (Novák, 2008b; Pavlů et al., 2021).

Plant available nutrients in the soil are only in a small amount from the total amount of nutrients present in the soil (nitrogen 5%, potassium 1-2%, phosphorus 0.01%) and these nutrients are mainly in inorganic form (Ashman and Puri, 2002).

Nitrogen is available for plants in inorganic form as soluble NH_4^+ or NO_3^- (Schimel and Bennett, 2004) and activity of soil microorganisms is necessary during nitrogen mineralization (Gibson, 2009). Phosphorus is available for plants in soluble phosphate ions as $H_2PO_4^-$ and HPO_4^{2-} in the soil surface, its intake depends on root distribution. Phosphorus removal by leaching from the soil can be difficult, because it is very stable and poorly mobile in soil solution (Gibson, 2009; Pavlů et al., 2019b). Plants uptake potassium, calcium and magnesium in the form of K⁺, Ca²⁺ and Mg²⁺ (Whitehead, 2000). In general concentration of potassium is relatively high in clay soils and low in sandy soils, and unlike phosphorus, potassium is leached more easily (Pavlů et al., 2019b).

1.7 Grassland and Agri-environmental schemes

The intensification of agriculture began in the second half of the 20th century, when sown meadows with higher yields and good forage quality began to be preferred and less productive species-rich meadows were omitted. Nature conservation authorities and active farmers have very different ideas concerning quality of grasslands. Nature conservation favours management, which maintains or increases species diversity and protects endangered plant and animal species, while farmers prefer management focused on higher yields of biomass with high quality of forage for livestock (Isselstein et al., 2005). In recent years, nature conservationists tried to motivate and involve farmers into the nature conservation trough agri-environmental schemes that support species diversity (Pavlů et al., 2019b). These schemes frequently involve a reduction of management intensity and delaying of the first cut or beginning of grazing season in order to allow flowering and seed creation of target species or to protect ground nesting birds (Lakner et al., 2020). However, these extensive managements, in comparison with intensive ones, lead to the reduction of forage quality, especially digestibility of organic matter (Tallowin and Jefferson, 1999). In EU reduced forage quality is compensated by the different payment to farmers that are under agrienvironmental schemes (Lakner et al., 2020).

1.8 References

- Agricultural Research Council. 1980. The nutrient requirement of ruminant livestock. Commonwealth Agricultural Bureaux, Slough, UK.
- Ashman M., Puri, G. 2002. Essential soil science: a clear and concise introduction to soil science. Blackwell Publishing, Oxford, UK.
- Ball D. M., Collins M., Lacefield G. D., Martin N. P., Mertens D. A., Olson K. E., Putnam D.
 H., Undersander D. J., Wolf M. W. 2001. Understanding forage quality. American
 Farm Bureau Federation Publication 1-01, Park Ridge, IL.
- Boob M., Elsaesser M., Thumm U., Hartung J., Lewandowski I. 2019. Harvest time determines quality and usability of biomass from lowland hay meadows. *Agriculture-Basel*, 9:198.
- Buxton D.R., Russell J.R., Wedin W.F. 1987. Structural neutral sugars in legume and grass stems in relation to digestibility. *Crop Sciences*, 27(6): 1279-1285.
- Collins M., Fritz J.O. 2003. Forage quality. In: Barnes R.F., Nelson C.J., Collins M., Moore K.J. (eds.): Forages: an introduction to grassland agriculture. Iowa State University Press, Ames, IA. pp. 363-390.
- Deinum B., Dirven J. G. P. 1976. Climate, nitrogen and grass 7. Comparisons of production and chemical composition of *Brachiaria ruziziensis* and *Setaria sphacelata* grown at different temperatures. *Netherlands Journal of Agricultural Science*, 24: 67-78.
- DeVries M.F.W., Daleboudt C. 1994. Foraging strategy of cattle in patchy grassland. *Oecologia*, 100: 8-106.
- Dudek T., Wolanski P., Rogut K. 2020. The content of macro- and micro minerals in the sward of different types of semi-natural meadows of temperate climate in SE Poland. *Agronomy-Basel*, 10: 273.
- Duru M., Ducrocq H. 1997. A nitrogen and phosphorus herbage nutrient index as a tool for assessing the effect of N and P supply on the dry matter yield of permanent pastures. *Nutrient Cycling in Agroecosystems*, 47: 59-69.
- Familton A. S. 1990. Animal disorders arising from consumption of pasture. In: Langer R. H. M. (ed.): Pastures their ecology and management. Oxford University Press, Auckland, NZL. pp. 284-298.
- Fiems L.O., De Boever J.L., De Vliegher A., Vanacker J.M., De Brabander D.L., Carlier L. 2004. Agri-environmental grass hay: Nutritive value and intake in comparison with hay from intensively managed grassland. *Archives of Animal Nutrition*, 58: 233-244.

Frame J. 1992. Improved grassland management. Farming Press Books, Ipswich, UK.

Gaisler J., Pavlů L., Nwaogu Ch., Pavlů K., Hejcman M., Pavlů V. V. 2019. Long -term effects of mulching, traditional cutting and no management on plant species composition of improved upland grassland in the Czech Republic. *Grass and Forage Science*, 74: 463-475.

Gibson D. J. 2009. Grass and grassland ecology. Oxford University Press, New York, USA.

- Hakl J., Fuksa P., Konečná J., Šantrůček J. 2015. Differences in the crude protein fractions of lucerne leaves and stems under different stand structures. *Grass and Forage Science*, 71: 413-423.
- Hatfield R. D. 1989. Structural Polysaccharides in Forage and Their Digestibility. *Agronomy Journal*, 81(1): 39-46.
- Hejcman M., Hejcmanová P., Pavlů V., Beneš J. 2013. Origin and history of grasslands in Central Europe – a review. *Grass and Forage Science*, 68: 345-363.
- Hejcman M., Klaudisová M., Schellberg J., Honsová D. 2007. The Rengen Grassland Experiment: plant species composition after 64 years of fertilizer application. Agriculture, Ecosystems and Environment, 122(2): 259-266.
- Hejcman, M., Schellberg, J., Pavlů, V. 2010. Long-term effects of cutting frequency and liming on soil chemical properties, biomass production and plant species composition of *Lolio-Cynosuretum* grassland after the cessation of fertilizer application. *Applied Vegetation Science*, 13(3):, 257-269.
- Hejduk S., Gaisler J. 2006. Obhospodařování travních porostů Stručná charakteristika základních způsobů obhospodařování. In: Mládek J., Pavlů V., Hejcman M., Gaisler J. (eds.): Pastva jako prostředek údržby trvalých travních porostů v chráněných územích. Výzkumný ústav rostlinné výroby a Ministerstvo životního prostředí ČR, Praha, CZ. pp. 35-37.
- Henkin Z., Ungar E.D., Dvash L., Perevolotsky A., Yehuda Y., Sternberg M., et al. 2011.Effects of cattle grazing on herbage quality in a herbaceous Mediterranean rangeland.*Grass and Forage Science*, 66: 516-525.
- Hogan J.P., Kenney P.A., Weston R.H. 1987. Factors affecting the intake of feed by grazing animals. In: Wheeler J.W., Pearson C.J., Robards G.E. (eds.): Temperate Pastures: their Production, Use and Management, Melbourne: Australian Wool Corporation and Commonwealth Scientific and Industrial Research Organization, Melbourne, AUS. pp. 317-327.

Horrocks R.D., Vallentine J. F. 1999. Harvested Forages. Academic Press, San Diego, CA.

- Isselstein J., Jeangros B., Pavlu V. 2005. Agronomic aspects of biodiversity targeted management of temperate grasslands in Europe – A review. Agronomy Research, 3 (2): 139-151.
- Ivanič J. 1984. Hnojenie krmovín. In: Ivanič J., Havelka B., Knop K. (eds.): Výživa a hnojenie rastlin. Príroda Bratislava, SK. pp. 379-387.
- Janssens F., Peeters A., Tallowin J.R.B., Bakker J.P., Bekker R.M., Fillat F., Oomes M.J.M. 1998. Relationship between soil chemical factors and grassland diversity. *Plant Soil*, 202, 69-78.
- Jones G.B., Tracy B.F. 2013. Evaluation of temporal nutrient dynamics in pasture-based beef production systems. Proceedings of the 17th Symposium of the European Grassland Federation, Akureyri, IS. pp. 129-131.
- Kaplan Z., Danihelka J., Chrtek J. jun., Kirschner J., Kubát K., Štech M., Štěpánek J. (eds)
 2019. Klíč ke květeně České republiky [Key to the flora of the Czech Republic]. Ed. 2,
 Academia, Praha, CZ.
- Kassahun T., Pavlů V., Hejcman M. 2016. Seasonal dynamics of herbage biomass under long-term intensive and extensive grazing management. In: Klumpp G., Pott T., Oeding S. (eds.): Bio-based economy for a sustainable future, ELLS scientific student conference, Germany: University of Hohenheim, Hohenheim, DE. p. 39.
- Klimeš L., Klimešová J. 2002. The effect of mowing and fertilisation on carbohydrate reserves and regrowth of grasses: do they promote plant coexistence in species rich meadows? *Evolutionary Ecology*, 15: 363-382.
- Koidou M., Mountousis I., Dotas V., Zagorakis K., Yiakoulaki M. 2019. Temporal variations of herbage production and nutritive value of three grasslands at different elevation zones regarding grazing needs and welfare of ruminants. *Archives Animal Breeding*, 62: 215-226.
- Kollárová M., Plíva P., Jelínek A., Zemánek P., Burg P., Altmann V., Mimra M., Hájková V. 2007. Zásady pro obhospodařování trvalých travních porostů. Výzkumný ústav zemědělské techniky, Praha, CZ.
- Koukolová V., Homolka P., Kudrna V. 2010. Vliv strukturních sacharidů na bachorovou fermentaci, zdraví zvířat a kvalitu mléka. Vědecký výbor výživy zvířat, Praha, CZ. 41p.
- Krahulec F., Skálová H., Herben T., Hadincová V., Wildová R., Pecháčková S. 2001.Vegetation changes following sheep grazing in abandoned mountain meadows.*Applied Vegetation Science*, 4(1): 97-102.

- Královec J. 2001. Obhospodařování pastvin- Základy hnojení travních porostů. In: Pavlů V. (ed.): Pastvinářství. ASZ, Praha, CZ. pp. 32-45.
- Laca E. A., Shipley L. A., Reid E. D. 2001. Structural anti-quality characteristics of range and pasture plants. *Journal of Range Management*, 54(4): 413-419.
- Lakner S., Zinngrebe Y., Koemle D. 2020. Combining management plans and payment schemes for targeted grassland conservation within the Habitats Directive in Saxony, Eastern Germany. *Land Use Policy*, 97: 104642.
- Le Clec'h S., Finger R., Buchmann N., Gosal A.S., Hörtnagl L., Huguenin-Elie O., et al.
 2019. Assessment of spatial variability of multiple ecosystem services in grasslands of different intensities. *Journal of Environmental Management*, 251: 109372.
- Ludvíková V., Pavlů V., Gaisler J., Hejcman M., Pavlů L. 2014. Long term defoliation by cattle grazing with and without trampling differently affects soil penetration resistance and plant species composition in *Agrostis capillaris* grassland. *Agriculture Ecosystems and Environment*, 197: 204-211.
- Ma L., Yuan F., Liang H., Rong Y. 2014. The effects of grazing management strategies on the vegetation, diet quality, intake and performance of free grazing sheep. *Livestock Science*, 161: 185-192.
- MacDiarmid B.N., Watkin B.R. 1972. The cattle dung patch. 3. Distribution and rate of decay of dung patches and their influence on grazing behaviour. *Journal of British Grassland Society*, 27: 48-54.
- Matches A.G., Burns J.C. 1985. Systems of Grazing Management. In: Heath M.E., Barnes R.F., Metcalfe D.S. (eds): Forages: The Science of Grassland Agriculture, Fourth Ed. Iowa State Univ. Press, Ames, IA. pp. 537-559.
- McWilliam J.R., Dowling P.M. 1970. Factors influencing the germination and establishment of pasture seed on the soil surface. *Proceedings of the 11th International Grassland Congress*, University of Queensland Press. St Lucia, QLD. pp. 578-82.
- Míka V. 1997. Minerální látky. In: Míka V. (Ed.): Kvalita píce. Ústav zemědělských a potravinářských informací, Praha, CZ. pp. 97-101.
- Minson D. J. 1982. Effects of chemical and physical composition of herbage eaten upon intake. In: Hacker J.B. (ed.): Nutritional Limits to Animal Production from Pastures. Commonwealth Agricultural Bureaux, Farnham Royal, UK. pp. 167-82.
- Mládek J., Hejcman M. 2006. Typy pastevně využívaných TTP dle Katalogu biotopů ČR. In: Mládek J., Pavlů V., Hejcman M., Gaisler J. (eds.): Pastva jako prostředek údržby

trvalých travních porostů v chráněných územích. Výzkumný ústav rostlinné výroby a Ministerstvo životního prostředí ČR, Praha, CZ. pp.10-20.

Mládek J., Hejcman M., Hejduk S., Duchoslav M., Pavlů V. 2011. Community seasonal development enables late defoliation without loss of forage quality in semi-natural grasslands. *Folia Geobotanica*, 46: 17-34.

Nágl F., Rais I. 1961. Pastevní technika. Státní zemědělské nakladatelství, Praha, CZ. 410 p.

- National Research Council. 2000. Nutrient Requirements of Beef Cattle (7th Revised Edition). The National Academies Press, Washington DC, USA.
- Novák J. 2008a. Obnova pasienkov na karpatských salašoch. NOI- ÚVTIP, Bratislava, SK.
- Novák J. 2008b. Pasienky, lúky a trávniky. Patria I. spol. s.r.o., Prievidza, SK.
- Osbourne D. F. 1980. The feeding value of grass and grass products. In: Holmes W. (ed.): Grass, its Production and Utilization. Blackwell, Oxford, UK. pp.70-124.
- Pavlů V. [ed.]. 2001. Pastvinářství. ASZČR, Praha, CZ.
- Pavlů K., Kassahun T., Nwaogu C., Pavlů L., Gaisler J., Homolka P., Pavlů V. 2019a. Effect of grazing intensity and dung on herbage and soil nutrients. *Plant Soil and Environment*, 65: 343-348.
- Pavlů L., Gaisler J., Hejcman M., Pavlů V. 2016. What is the effect of long-term mulching and traditional cutting regimes on soil and biomass chemical properties, species richness and herbage production in *Dactylis glomerata* grassland? *Agriculture, Ecosystems and Environment*, 217: 13–21.
- Pavlů L., Gaisler J., Pavlů V., Haase H., Kändler M., Titěra J., Pavlů K., Kassahun Teka T., Blechinger, K. 2019b. Obhospodařování travních porostů pro podporu biodiverzity v přeshraniční oblasti Liberec-Žitava. Výzkumný ústav rostlinné výroby, v.v.i., Praha, CZ. 72 pp.
- Pavlů L., Pavlů V.V., Fraser M.D. 2021. What is the effect of 19 years of restoration managements on soil and vegetation on formerly improved upland grassland? *Science* of the Total Environment, 755: 142469.
- Pavlů V., Gaisler J., Hejcman M. 2006a. Přírodní podmínky pro využití pastvy v ČR. In: Mládek J., Pavlů V., Hejcman M., Gaisler, J. (eds.): Pastva jako prostředek údržby trvalých travních porostů v chráněných územích. Výzkumný ústav rostlinné výroby a Ministerstvo životního prostředí ČR, Praha, CZ. pp. 21-22.
- Pavlů V., Hejcman M., Pavlů L., Gaisler J., Nežerková P. 2006b. Effect of continuous grazing on forage quality, quantity and animal performance. *Agriculture, Ecosystems and Environment*, 113: 349-355.

- Pavlů V., Hejcman M., Pavlů L., Gaisler J., Nežerková P., Meneses L. 2006c. Changes in plant densities in a mesic species-rich grassland after imposing different grazing management. *Grass and Forage Science*, 61: 42-51.
- Pearson C.J., Ison R.L. 1997. Agronomy of Grassland Systems. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, UK.
- Pirhofer-Walzl K., Søegaard K., Høgh-Jensen H., Eriksen J., Sanderson M.A., Rasmussen J. 2011. Forage herbs improve mineral composition of grassland herbage. *Grass and Forage Science*, 66: 415-423.
- Pozdíšek J., Kohoutek A., Jakešová H., Nerušil P., Odstrčilová V. 2002. Výživná hodnota travních porostů. In: Říha J. et al. (eds.): Chov a šlechtění skotu pro konkurence schopnou výrobu a obhospodařování drnového fondu. VÚCHS, Rapotín, CZ. pp. 138-145.
- Regál V., Krajčovič V. 1963. Pícninářství. Státní zemědělské nakladatelství, Praha, CZ.
- Rook A.J., Dumont B., Isselstein J., Osoro K., Wallis De Vries M.F., Parente G., Mills J. 2004. Matching type of livestock to desired biodiversity outcomes in pastures – a review. *Biological Conservation*, 119: 137-150.
- Rook A.J., Tallowin J.R.B. 2003. Grazing and pasture management for biodiversity benefit. *Animal Research*, 52: 181-189.
- Rymer C. 2000. The measurement of forage digestibility in vivo. In: Givens D.I., Owen E., Axford R.F.E., Omed H.M. (eds.): Forage evaluation in ruminant nutrition. CABI Publishing, Wallingford, UK. pp. 113-134.
- Schaffers A.P. 2002. Soil biomass, and management of semi-natural vegetation. Part I. Interrelationships. *Plant Ecology*, 158: 229-246.
- Schaub S., Finger R., Leiber F., Probst S., Kreuzer M., Weigelt A., et al. 2020. Plant diversity effects on forage quality, yield and revenues of semi-natural grasslands. *Nature Communications*, 11: 768.
- Schimel D.S., Bennett J. 2004. Nitrogen mineralization: challenges of a changing paradigm. *Ecology*, 85: 591-602.
- Smit H.J., Metzger M.J., Ewert F. 2008. Spatial distribution of grassland productivity and land use in Europe. *Agricultural Systems*, 98: 208-219.
- Stewart G.B., Pullin A.S. 2008. The relative importance of grazing stock type and grazing intensity for conservation of mesotrophic 'old meadow' pasture. *Journal for Nature Conservation*, 16:175-185.
- Suttle N. 2010. Mineral nutrition in livestock. CABI Publishing, Wallingford, UK.

- Tallowin J.R.B., Jefferson R.G. 1999. Hay production from lowland semi-natural grasslands:
 a review of implication for ruminant livestock systems. *Grass and Forage Science*, 54: 99-115.
- Thornton R.F., Minson D. J. 1973. The relationship between apparent retention time in rumen, voluntary intake and apparent digestibility of legume and grass diets in sheep. *Australian Journal of Agricultural Research*, 24: 889-898.
- Titěra J., Pavlů V.V., Pavlů L., Hejcman M., Gaisler J., Schellberg J. 2020. Response of grassland vegetation composition to different fertilizer treatments recorded over ten years following 64 years of fertilizer applications in the Rengen Grassland Experiment. *Applied Vegetation Science*, 23: 417-427.
- Úlehlová B. 1992. Microorganisms. In: Coupland R.T. (ed): Ecosystems of the world: natural grasslands: introduction and western hemisphere. Elsevier, Amsterdam, NL. pp. 95-119.
- Urban F., et al. 1997. Chov dojeného skotu. Nakladatelství APROS, Praha, CZ. 288p.
- Vallentine J. F. 2001. Grazing management. Academic Press, San Diego, USA.
- Van Diggelen R., Marrs R. 2003. Restoring plant communities-introduction. *Applied Vegetation Science*, 6: 106-110.
- Van Saun J. R., Koukal P. 2003. Výživa přežvýkavců trávení sacharidů. Farmář, 1: 40-42.
- Van Soest, P. J. 1982. Nutritional Ecology of the Ruminant. O & B Books, Corvallis, OR.
- Vera F. W. M. 2000. Grazing ecology and forest history. CABI Publishing, Wallingford, UK.
- Vermeire L.T., Heitschmidt R.K., Haferkamp M.R. 2008. Vegetation response to seven grazing treatments in the Northern Great Plains. *Agriculture, Ecosystems and Environment*, 125: 111-119.
- Wallace J.D. 1984. Some Comments and Questions on Animal Preferences, Ecological Efficiencies, and Forage Intake. In: Natl. Res. Council/Natl. Acad. Sci. Developing Strategies for Rangeland Mangement. Westview Press, Boulder, CO. pp. 275-287.
- WallisDeVries M.F. 1998. Large herbivores as key factors for nature conservation. In:WallisDeVries M.F. (ed.): Grazing and Conservation Management. Kluwer Academic Publishers, Dordrecht, NL. pp. 1-20.
- Whitehead DC. 2000. Nutrient elements in grassland, soil-plant-animal relationships. CABI Publishing, Wallingford, UK.
- Wilkins R.J. 2000. Forages and their role in animal systems. In: Givens D.I., Owen E., Axford R.F.E., Omed H.M. (eds.): Forage evaluation in ruminant nutrition. CABI Publishing, Wallingford, UK. pp. 1-14.

- Zeman L., Doležal P., Kopřiva A., Mrkvicová E., Procházková J., Ryant P., Skládanka J., Straková E., Suchý P., Veselý P., Zelenka J. 2006. Výživa a krmení hospodářských zvířat. Profi Press, s.r.o., Praha, CZ.
- Relationship between yield and quality [online]. [cit.2021-05-21]. Accessible from http://www.ostrich.org.uk/industry/alfalfa.pdf>

CHAPTER 2

Main goals and questions

2.1 The objective of the thesis

The objective of the thesis is to answer the following questions:

2.1.1 Finding nutritional properties of semi-natural grasslands with *Agrostis capillaris* and *Festuca rubra* dominance in relation to the period of the vegetation season and management intensity (*Chapter 3*).

a) What is the impact of previous different grazing intensity on dry matter standing biomass, digestibility, concentrations of crude protein, fibres (ADF, NDF) and macro-elements during the grazing season?

b) When is the appropriate period to introduce grazing or cutting of forage in order to meet cattle nutrition requirements?

2.1.2 Determining the effects of different intensities of grazing by heifers on the nutrient concentrations in the herbage and the soil under tall swardheight patches in Central European *Agrostis capillaris* grassland (*Chapter 4*).

a) What is the effect of the presence of dung on nutrient concentrations of soil beneath tall sward-height patches under intensive and extensive grazing management?

b) Does the presence of dung on the surface beneath tall sward-height patches affect dry matter standing biomass, dry matter content, dead biomass, and nutrient concentrations in the herbage?c) Is there any relationship between soil nutrient concentrations and herbage nutrient concentrations under the tall sward-height patches?

2.1.3 Investigating the effect of restoration management of a weed-infested area, previously used as cattle resting place, on herbage production and nutrient concentrations in the soil and herbage (*Chapter 5*).

a) Does cutting management, herbicide application, or a combination of both followed by reseeding have an effect on: i) herbage productivity?; ii) nutrient concentrations in herbage and soil?

b) How fast are nutrients depleted from the soil?

2.1.4 Comparing the different restoration management by sheep grazing, with and without lime application; hay cutting only, with and without lime application; and hay cutting followed by aftermath grazing, with and without lime application and their influence on forage quality and herbage soil relationships on improved upland grassland (*Chapter 6*).

a) What are the effects of long-term restoration managements and previous liming on forage quality?

b) What are the relations between herbage and soil chemical properties, species richness and soil chemical properties?

CHAPTER 3

The effects of first defoliation and previous management intensity on forage quality of a semi-natural species-rich grassland

Klára Pavlů, Teowdroes Kassahun, Vilém V. Pavlů, Lenka Pavlů, Petr Blažek and Petr Homolka

PlosOne, 16(3): e0248804





Citation: Pavlů K, Kassahun T, Pavlů VV, Pavlů L, Blažek P, Homolka P (2021) The effects of first defoliation and previous management intensity on forage quality of a semi-natural species-rich grassland. PLoS ONE 16(3): e0248804. https://doi. org/10.1371/journal.pone.0248804

Editor: Tanvir Shahzad, Government College University Faisalabad, PAKISTAN

Received: November 13, 2020

Accepted: March 8, 2021

Published: March 30, 2021

Copyright: © 2021 Pavlů et al. This is an open access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License, which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original author and source are credited.

Data Availability Statement: All relevant data are within the manuscript and its Supporting Information files.

Funding: The experiment was maintained under support of the Ministry of Agriculture of the Czech Republic Project No. MZe RO0418 (VP, LP). The laboratory analyses were financed by the Ministry of Agriculture of the Czech Republic, Project No. MZe RO0718 (KP, PH). This paper was finalized under support by the Internal Grant Agency – Faculty of Environmental Sciences, Czech RESEARCH ARTICLE

The effects of first defoliation and previous management intensity on forage quality of a semi-natural species-rich grassland

Klára Pavlů^{1,2}, Teowdroes Kassahun¹, Vilém V. Pavlů^{1,3}*, Lenka Pavlů³, Petr Blažek^{4,5}, Petr Homolka^{2,6}

1 Department of Ecology, Faculty of Environmental Sciences, Czech University of Life Sciences, Praha, Czechia, 2 Department of Nutrition and Feeding of Farm Animals, Institute of Animal Science, Praha, Czechia, 3 Grassland Research Station Liberec, Department of Weeds and Vegetation of Agroecosystems, Crop Research Institute, Praha, Czechia, 4 Department of Botany, Faculty of Science, University of South Bohemia, České Budějovice, Czechia, 5 Institute of Entomology, Academy of Sciences of the Czech Republic, České Budějovice, Czechia, 6 Department of Microbiology, Nutrition and Dietetics, Faculty of Agrobiology, Food and Natural Resources, Czech University of Life Sciences, Praha, Czechia

* pavlu@vurv.cz

Abstract

Semi-natural grasslands occupy large parts of the European landscape but little information exists about seasonal variations in their nutritive value during the growing season. This paper presents results of novel data showing the effect of 13 years of previous contrasting management intensities on herbage nutritional value in relation to different dates of first defoliation (by grazing or haymaking). The treatments were: extensive management and intensive management from previous years (1998-2011). Both treatments were cut in June followed by intensive/extensive grazing for the rest of the grazing season (July-October). To evaluate forage quality in the first defoliation date, biomass sampling was performed in the year 2012 for 23 weeks from May to mid-October, and in 2013 for seven weeks from May to mid-June. Sampling was performed from plots that were not under management during the sampling year. Previous extensive management was associated with significantly reduced forage quality for in vitro organic matter digestibility (IVOMD), crude protein, neutral detergent fibre, acid detergent fibre and reduced divalent cations (Ca, Mg) and Na during the first seven weeks of the grazing season and the forage was suitable only for beef cattle. Due to low forage IVOMD, the forage is suitable only for cattle maintenance or for low quality hay when the start of grazing was postponed from seven weeks of vegetative growth to 13 weeks, regardless of the previous intensity. Herbage harvested after 13 weeks of the grazing season was of very low quality and was unsuitable as a forage for cattle when it was the only source of feed. Agri-environmental payments are necessary to help agricultural utilisation to maintain semi-natural grasslands by compensating for deterioration of forage quality, not only for the postponement of the first defoliation (either as cutting or grazing) after mid-June, but also when extensive management is required.

University of Life Sciences Prague, Project No. 20194211 (KP, TK). The funders had no role in study design, data collection and analysis, decision to publish, or preparation of the manuscript.

Competing interests: The authors have declared that no competing interests exist.

Introduction

Permanent grasslands comprise about 35% of the total utilized agriculture area in the EU-28 countries of Europe [1, 2]. They provide not only forage for livestock, but also support other ecosystem services including carbon sequestration, and provision of landscapes and habitat [3]. Until the mid-twentieth century permanent grasslands were one of the most important feed sources for ruminant nutrition. Intensification of grassland managements (amelioration, reseeding with high productive mixtures, fertilization) and introduction of intensive milk production based on maize silage and concentrate mixtures, has resulted in semi-natural grasslands losing their main role of supplying feed for ruminants [4]. Nowadays, large areas of the semi-natural low-production grasslands in Europe that are characterised by rich floristic composition are managed under various types of agri-environmental schemes. These schemes frequently involve a reduction of management intensity and delaying the first cut or early season grazing in order to allow flowering of target species or to protect ground nesting birds. The result is the reduction of forage quality, especially digestibility of organic matter, in comparison with values from intensively managed grassland. In EU reduced forage quality is compensated by the different payment schemes to farmers that are under agri-environmental schemes [5].

Forage quality and biomass yield are the most important factors that affect decisions about the date of harvest of grassland. Achieving high forage quality together with high herbage production has been an important goal in grassland research in the context of intensive grassland management [6]. Therefore, there is much information available concerning the utilisation of high-production grasslands, particularly sown swards. On the other hand, there is considerably less information about forage quality and production of semi-natural species-rich grasslands, although such information is necessary for determination of appropriate management of grassland managed under agri-environmental measures [7]. Further, there have been few studies of changes in forage quality in relation to ageing of swards during the vegetation season [8–11]. Generally, fibre contents (acid detergent fibre (ADF) and neutral detergent fibre (NDF)) show a progressive increase but in vitro organic matter digestibility (IVOMD), nitrogen and phosphorus concentrations ('dilution effect') generally decrease with ageing of the forage during the vegetation season [6, 11-13]. Forage in the early part of the growing season (or in new regrowth) usually has high digestibility values but low herbage yields; in contrast, with increasing maturity and net accumulation, biomass yields increase but there is also an increase in cell wall content and a decline in digestibility [6]. Therefore, for livestock farmers utilising semi-natural grassland, there are important questions concerning the most suitable time to start the grazing season or to apply the first cut, if grazed or mown herbage is to support the nutritional and mineral requirements of cattle. The suitability of the time of grazing or mowing is affected not only by herbage maturation but also by the type of vegetation, weather conditions and grassland management [14].

Where grassland is managed for conservation objectives within an agri-environmental programme, continual sampling of the grassland herbage during the vegetation season is necessary to determine the optimum range of dates for forage harvesting or grazing periods. However, very few such studies have been done [13]. Several studies have evaluated the forage quality of semi-natural low-production grasslands [10, 11, 13, 15], but these have not dealt with forage maturation during the vegetation season in relation to management intensity.

Semi-natural grasslands are an important part of European grasslands, and the *Arrhenater-ion* alliance [16] with *Agrostis capillaris* and *Festuca rubra* dominance is one of the most wide-spread in Central Europe. However, not much is known about the nutritional properties of this grassland type in relation to the period of the vegetation season and management

35

intensity. Within this context we aimed to answer the following questions: i) what is the impact of previous different grazing intensity types on dry matter standing biomass (DMSB), digestibility (IVOMD), concentrations of crude protein (CP), fibres (NDF, ADF), and macro-elements during the grazing season? ii) when is the appropriate period to introduce grazing or cutting of forage in order to meet cattle nutrition requirements?

Materials and methods

Study site

The study was conducted at 'Oldřichov Grazing Experiment' located in the Jizerské hory Mountains in the northern part of the Czech Republic, in the village Oldřichov v Hájích, 10 km to the north of the city Liberec (50°50.34'N, 15°05.36'E; 420 m a.s.l.). This long-term experiment was established in 1998 [for details see 17]. We selected two treatments for this study where hay cutting (in June) was followed by aftermath intensive or extensive grazing.

The site has 30-year mean annual precipitation of 805 mm and a mean annual temperature of 7.2 °C. Table 1 summarises the monthly rainfall and mean monthly temperature for the site (Liberec Meteorological Station). The bedrock is granite and medium deep brown soil (cambisol) with the following characteristics: pH (CaCl₂) = 5.45, P = 64 mg kg⁻¹, K = 95 mg kg⁻¹ and Mg = 92 mg kg⁻¹. There are about 24 vascular plant species *per* square metre, and the dominant species of the sward are *Agrostis capillaris*, *Festuca rubra* agg., *Trifolium repens*, and *Taraxa-cum officinale*. Since 1998 the mean cover of dominant vascular plant species was recorded by visual percentage estimation every year in spring before the first management application in all treatments of Oldřichov Grazing Experiment [for details see 17]. Table 2 shows this information for the years 1998 (base line), 2003, 2008, 2012 and 2013. The experimental area has been continuously stocked by young heifers (initial live weights of 150 to 250 kg), since 1998 from June (after cut) until mid or late October, however, the first week of May is the common period for starting the grazing season in this region. In the years 2002–2015 the mean total dry matter biomass production in the study area under intensive and extensive grazing ranged from 2.4 to 5.0 t ha⁻¹ and from 2.3 to 4.7 t ha⁻¹ respectively [18].

Precipitation (mm)			n)	Temperature (°C)			
Month/Year	2012	2013	1998-2013	2012	2013	1998-2013	
January	134.9	99.2	72.8	-0.6	-2.3	-1.3	
February	78.7	53.2	60.2	-5.4	-1.7	-0.5	
March	34.6	35.8	63.6	4.8	-1.5	2.7	
April	39.3	39.5	40.4	8.2	7.8	8.5	
May	37.0	133.2	74.5	14.3	12	13.1	
June	64.1	201.9	85.0	15.9	15.5	15.9	
July	151.1	125.6	116.9	17.7	18.6	17.6	
August	139.4	64.6	113.2	17.2	17.2	17.0	
September	35.7	94.7	63.8	13.1	11.6	12.9	
October	33.4	57.1	58.9	7.5	10.1	8.4	
November	75.0	65.9	64.0	5.3	4.3	3.9	
December	48.7	40.1	64.6	-0.9	2.4	-0.4	
Total Sum/Mean	871.9	1010.8	877.8	8.1	7.8	8.1	

Table 1. Monthly precipitation (mm) and mean monthly temperature (°C) recorded in the years 2012 and 2013.

Values are compared with the 16-year mean 1998–2013 (Liberec meteorological station).

https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0248804.t001

36
Treatment			EG					IG		
Species/Year	1998	2003	2008	2012	2013	1998	2003	2008	2012	2013
Aegopodium podagraria	14	4	14	8	9	16	0	0	0	0
Agrostis capillaris	0	9	7	11	12	0	16	12	21	21
Alchemilla sp.	10	8	7	8	9	5	2	2	2	2
Alopecurus pratensis	28	3	4	8	9	22	3	4	1	1
Festuca rubra agg.	8	8	10	13	20	22	11	13	15	15
Galium album	15	8	10	5	5	6	0	1	1	0
Hypericium maculatum	1	2	5	7	9	5	0	0	0	0
Poa trivialis	2	3	6	3	3	2	3	14	16	18
Ranunculus repens	3	1	1	1	1	2	5	1	2	3
Rumex acetosa	1	3	5	3	2	2	1	3	4	4
Taraxacum spp.	2	26	14	13	12	2	22	29	22	32
Trifolium repens	0	13	3	1	1	0	33	24	18	9
Veronica chamaedrys	13	3	3	3	4	4	1	2	4	7
Veronica serpyllifolia	0	0	0	0	0	0	1	0	1	0

Table 2. Mean botanical composition (%) of the most abundant vascular plant species.

Numbers represent mean for the years 1998, 2003, 2008, 2012 and 2013 under extensive (EG) and intensive (IG) treatment.

https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0248804.t002

Experimental design

The experiment was established in two randomised blocks in the year 1998. Herbage sampling from two contrasting treatments were chosen: i) cutting in June followed by extensive grazing (EG) for the rest of the growing season, in which the stocking rate was adjusted to achieve a mean target sward surface height of more than 10 cm, and ii) cutting in June followed by intensive grazing (IG) for the rest of the growing season, in which the stocking rate was adjusted to achieve a mean target sward surface height of less than 5 cm throughout the grazing season. Both treatments were replicated twice in four plots. Each plot was approximately 0.35 ha.

Data collection and laboratory analyses

The sampling area, a strip about 20 m x 4 m in each plot, was fenced with electric wire in 2012 and 2013 to protect the sward from grazing animals from the start of grazing season to the end of sampling period of each study year. Each year, the sampling area was situated on the opposite side of the plot. It allowed us to collect grassland biomass during maturation period which was affected by the different management intensity in the previous years (S1 Fig). Six randomly selected herbage biomass samples within 50 x 50 cm quadrats were cut by electric clippers once a week. To avoid repeated sampling from the same places, the sampling areas from where samples had been taken were marked with coloured sticks.

In 2012 the herbage biomass samples were collected from each paddock once a week from 2 May to 3 October (23 weeks of sampling x 2 treatments x 2 blocks x 6 samples; i.e. 552 samples in total) to determine forage quality throughout the whole grazing season. Concentrations of N, P, K, Na, Ca and Mg were determined from the 552 herbage samples collected. For analyses of IVOMD and fibres (ADF and NDF), samples were bulked to three *per* paddock. Since the main development on the forage quality was revealed during the first six weeks of sampling in the year 2012 (S2 and S3 Figs), we reduced the sampling from 23 weeks to seven weeks (early part of the grazing season) for the next grazing season in 2013.

In 2013 the herbage biomass samples were collected from each paddock once a week from 2 May to 13 June (7 weeks of sampling x 2 treatments x 2 blocks x 6 samples; i.e. 168 samples in total). Concentrations of N, P, K, Na, Ca and Mg were determined from the 168 herbage samples collected. For analyses of IVOMD and fibres (ADF, NDF) samples were bulked to three *per* paddock.

The fresh herbage biomass samples were weighed then oven dried (48 h at 60°C) to determine DMSB. Finally, samples were weighed and the dry herbage biomass was recalculated on a *per* ha basis, then milled and passed through a 1mm sieve. The concentration of N was determined by the Kjeldahl method [19] and then multiplied by 6.25 to obtain CP content. The concentrations of P, K, Na, Ca and Mg were determined by ICP-OES after digestion in *aqua regia* in an accredited laboratory of the Crop Research Institute in Chomutov. The NDF and ADF concentrations were specified according to the protocol described by [20] and [21] using the Ankom 200 Fiber Analyzer (Ankom Technology, Macedon, NY), analysed at the Institute of Animal Sciences in Prague. Digestibility (IVOMD) was determined by the Ankon Daisy incubator (ANKOM Technology) modification of enzymatic in vitro digestion method [22, 23] in the Institute of Animal Sciences in Prague.

The herbage samples chemically analysed for IVOMD, ADF and NDF collected in the year 2012 were further analysed by NIRS (FOSS NIRSystems 6500; NIRSystems, Inc., Silver Spring, USA) and calibration equations for IVOMD, ADF and NDF were calculated. The herbage samples collected in the year 2013 were analysed by the FOSS NIRSystems 6500 only.

The experimental land is not a part of any protected area and Crop Research Institute, Prague is the owner, therefore no specific permissions were required for this location. Further, we confirm that the field study did not involve any endangered or protected species.

Data analysis

To obtain information about seasonal development of forage quality, data for the whole grazing season were collected in the year 2012 and are presented in the (S2 and S3 Figs). Based on the most important changes in forage quality in the year 2012, the first seven weeks period of sampling was chosen as a sampling period in the year 2013. Therefore, data from the first seven weeks of the grazing seasons of both 2012 and 2013 were statistically analysed.

A general linear model (GLM) with week (seven weeks as a continuous predictor) and treatment as fixed effects, with block and year as a random effects were used to analyse the effect of treatment, week and their interactions on DMSB, organic components (CP, IVOMD, ADF, NDF) and minerals (P, K, Ca, Mg, Na). Minerals data were log-transformed to meet GLM assumptions requirements. The effects were considered significant at the P < 0.05 level and Benjamini-Hochberg's procedure was applied to control for false-discovery rate (FDR) [24]. All GLM analyses were performed in Statistica 13.1 [25].

Results

Dry matter standing biomass production

The DMSB was significantly influenced only by week (Table 3). In the early part of the grazing season DMSB had similar development till the sixth week in both treatments (Fig 1A); after that there was a tendency of divergence between the treatments with higher DMSB under the EG treatment. The highest mean value of DMSB in the EG treatment was recorded in the twentieth week (5.9 t ha⁻¹) and in the IG treatment in the twenty-second week (5.3 t ha⁻¹). From the eighteenth week to the end of the grazing season there was no development of DMSB under either treatment (S2a Fig).

Characteristics	Effect	Df	F-ratio	P-value
DMSB	Treatment	326	0.36	0.549
	Week		638.24	<0.001
	Treatment x Week		3.21	0.074
Organic components				
IVOMD	Treatment	144	50.07	<0.001
	Week		217.53	<0.001
	Treatment x Week		3.96	0.048
СР	Treatment	309	33.29	<0.001
	Week		1156.61	<0.001
	Treatment x Week		4.10	0.044
ADF	Treatment	144	43.93	<0.001
	Week		93.73	<0.001
	Treatment x Week		2.41	0.123
NDF	Treatment	144	30.86	<0.001
	Week		87.41	<0.001
	Treatment x Week		5.36	0.022
Minerals				
Р	Treatment	309	5.72	0.017
	Week		214.39	<0.001
	Treatment x Week		0.50	0.481
K	Treatment	309	0.02	0.884
	Week		61.71	<0.001
	Treatment x Week		0.04	0.845
Ca	Treatment	309	36.39	<0.001
	Week		7.56	0.006
	Treatment x Week		7.46	0.007
Mg	Treatment	309	60.57	<0.001
	Week		8.92	0.003
	Treatment x Week		8.75	0.003
Na	Treatment	309	32.95	<0.001
	Week		1.50	0.221
	Treatment x Week		5.34	0.021
K/(Ca+Mg)	Treatment	309	13.62	<0.001
	Week		55.88	<0.001
	Treatment x Week		3.06	0.081

Table 3. Results of GLM for DMSB, IVOMD, CP, ADF, NDF, P, K, Ca, Mg, Na, K/(Ca+Mg).

Abbreviations: GLM—general linear model, DMSB—dry matter standing biomass, IVOMD—in vitro organic matter digestibility, CP—crude protein, ADF—acid detergent fiber, NDF—neutral detergent fiber. *Df* represents degrees of freedom, *F* represents the value derived from *F* statistics in GLM and *P* represents the resulting probability value. Results are summarized by denominator degrees of freedom *Df* (numerator *Df* was 1 in all tests). Significant results (after table-wise Benjamini-Hochberg's FDR correction) are highlighted in bold.

https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0248804.t003

Organic components

The concentrations of IVOMD, CP, ADF and NDF were significantly affected by treatment and week. The concentration of NDF was significantly also influenced by treatment x week interaction (Table 3). During the early part of the grazing season a sharp decline in IVOMD was recorded in both treatments (Fig 1B). The mean values of IVOMD were significantly higher in the IG than in the EG treatment, and ranged from 64.5 to 82.5% in the IG treatment



Fig 1. Mean dry matter standing biomass and organic components under extensive (EG) and intensive (IG) management. X-axis refers to the first seven weeks of grazing season in the years 2012 and 2013. Error bars represent standard error of the mean. For abbreviations see Table 3.

https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0248804.g001

and from 58.3 to 73.5% in the EG treatment. From the eighth week till the end of the grazing season a moderate decline was recorded with the mean values in the range 43–55% in both treatments (S2b Fig).

Concentrations of CP and fibres (ADF, NDF) showed opposite development trends over the whole period of the grazing season (Fig 1C–1E; S2C, S2D and S2E Fig). In the early part of the grazing season CP concentration was significantly higher in the IG treatment than in the EG treatment, and mean values ranged from 101.5 to 184.0 g kg⁻¹ for the EG treatment and from 112.6 to 206.8 g kg⁻¹ for the IG treatment (Fig 1C). In the eighth week the mean values of CP concentration were about 100 g kg⁻¹ in both treatments and they oscillated around this value till the end of the grazing season (S2c Fig). Fibre concentrations (ADF, NDF) were higher in the EG treatment in comparison with the IG treatment during the early part of grazing season. For ADF concentration the mean values ranged from 226.8 to 282.5 g kg⁻¹ for the IG treatment and from 267.8 to 310.2 g kg⁻¹ for the EG treatment. For NDF concentration the mean values ranged from 410.1 to 487.4 g kg⁻¹ for the IG treatment and from 454.0 to 506.1 g kg⁻¹ for the EG treatment in this period (Fig 1D and 1E). After the seventh week ADF and NDF concentrations were higher than 300 and 500 g kg⁻¹, in both treatments respectively, (S2d and S2e Fig) though with no significant trend.

Mineral nutrients

The concentrations of Mg and Ca were significantly influenced by treatment, week and interaction of week x treatment. The concentration of P and the K/(Ca +Mg) ratio were both significantly influenced by treatment and week. Concentration of Na was significantly influenced by treatment and interaction of treatment x week, and concentration of K was significantly influenced only by week (Table 3).

The sharp decrease of P concentration in the herbage was recorded from the second to the seventh week for both treatments (Fig 2A) with the highest mean values of 3.5 g kg^{-1} in the second week in both treatments. From the eighth week the mean values were maintained at almost the same level for both treatments and their range was approximately between 1.9 to 2.5 g kg⁻¹ till the end of the grazing season (S3a Fig).

In the early part of the grazing season the K concentration reached it highest peak in the second week under EG treatment and in the third week under IG treatment. There was then a decline in K concentration up to the seventh week in the both treatments with mean values ranging from 14.2 down to 9.6 g kg⁻¹ in the IG treatment and from 15.2 to 9.9 g kg⁻¹ in the EG treatment (Fig 2B). This declining trend was maintained for the rest of the grazing season (S3b Fig) in both treatments, with mean values ranging from 12.3 down to 8.3 g kg⁻¹.

Concentrations of both cations Ca and Mg in the herbage were significantly higher in the IG than in the EG treatment in the early part of the grazing season (Fig 2C and 2D); nevertheless, no developmental trend was recorded in any treatment during this period. The mean values of Ca concentration in the herbage ranged from 4.7 to 6.3 g kg⁻¹ for the EG treatment and from 6.7 to 7.3 g kg⁻¹ for the IG treatment. The mean values of Mg concentration in the herbage ranged from 1.3 to 1.9 g kg⁻¹ for the EG treatment and from 2.2 to 2.5 g kg⁻¹ for the IG treatment in this period. From the ninth week onwards the herbage Ca concentration in the EG treatment tended to be higher than in the IG treatment, whereas Mg concentration was similar in both treatments for the remainder of the season (S3c and S3d Fig).

In the early part of grazing season Na concentration in the herbage was significantly higher in the IG than in the EG treatment; the mean values ranged from 0.2 to 0.7 g kg⁻¹ for the EG treatment and from 0.7 to 1.1 g kg⁻¹ for the IG treatment (Fig 2E). The concentration of Na in the herbage decreased during the whole of the grazing season in both treatments (S3e Fig).



Fig 2. Mean concentration of minerals and K/(Ca+Mg) ratio under extensive (EG) and intensive (IG) management. X-axis refers to the first seven weeks of grazing season in the years 2012 and 2013. Error bars represent standard error of the mean.

https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0248804.g002

In the early part of the grazing season the K/(Ca+Mg) ratio (meq.) showed a slow decline in both treatments and this ratio was significantly higher in the EG than in the IG treatment (Fig 2F). The mean values of the K/(Ca+Mg) ratio ranged from 1.0 to 1.5 for the IG treatment and from 1.1 to 1.8 for the EG treatment in this period. From the eighth week throughout the rest of the grazing season the mean values for the K/(Ca+Mg) ratio were predominantly higher in the IG than in the EG treatment (S3f); however, no development was observed in this period.

Discussion

The timing of grazing activities and the grazing intensity are generally considered to be the key factors that affect both the quality and quantity of pasture forage [13, 15, 26, 27]. The stage of maturity of harvested herbage is affected by the date of harvesting and this greatly influences the overall forage quality, because of the increasing proportion of cell wall components during the growth of most grassland species [8, 11, 28].

During the early part of the grazing season rapid changes in forage quality and DMSB were found in our experiment. These occurred in both management intensities; nevertheless, the previous grazing intensity had a significant effect on value of many qualitative components of forage in this period. Of particular note was that parameters of forage quality in the EG treatment in the first week of the grazing season were negatively affected by the presence of overwintered herbage from the previous vegetation season.

Dry matter standing biomass production

The DMSB development reflected typical biomass growth at the study site [18] and it was not affected by treatment during the early part of the grazing season. From the seventh week the value of DMSB started to increase under the EG treatment, although total biomass production was higher under the IG treatment in the plots that previously had been defoliated regularly [18]. It seems that the taller vegetation that developed under extensive management could provide higher DMSB than the short vegetation under the IG treatment [17].

Organic components

Values of IVOMD and CP concentrations showed similar patterns over the course of the grazing season. In both treatments there was a sharp decline from the early part of the grazing season, as young forage in vegetative state has higher digestibility values and contains higher concentrations of N compared with more mature forage [13, 29, 30]. A gradual decrease of IVOMD as the sward herbage increases in maturity is usually linked to increasing accumulation of structural carbohydrates and lignification [6, 31] and this is also associated with a reduction in plant N content and therefore of CP. The optimal value of IVOMD required in forage for dairy cows is higher than 67% [6] but for beef cattle a lower threshold of at least 60% may be assumed [32]. A maintenance value of IVOMD in forage for cattle is around 50% [33].

In our experiment the optimum level of IVOMD required in forage for dairy cows was fulfilled during the first six weeks of the grazing season in the IG treatment but only during the first two weeks in the EG treatment. It means that the digestibility of forage is affected not only by the intensity of grazing during the recording period, as also shown in several studies previously [8, 34–37], but also that the grazing intensity applied during previous years can play an important additional role. In both the EG and IG treatments the value of IVOMD was suitable for feeding beef cattle during the whole early part of the grazing season, as beef cattle do not require forage to be of the high digestibility as that required by dairy cows [32]. In the period from the seventh week to the end of the grazing season 2012 the value of IVOMD seemed not to be affected by the previous grazing intensity, and maintenance values of IVOMD for feeding

cattle were sufficient until the 13th week of the grazing season under both treatments. Similar IVOMD development is typical for upland European grasslands [e.g. 13, 38]. However, the herbage harvested after 13 weeks in the year 2012 was of very low quality and was not usable as the only source for feed for cattle, although such herbage may be used for combustion [11].

Higher proportion of legumes or *Taraxacum* species in the sward of the IG treatment could contribute to higher CP concentration in the herbage especially during the early part of the grazing season. These plant species usually have higher CP concentrations than occur in grasses [e.g. 39-41]. The concentrations of CP were appropriate for the requirements of dairy cows (>160 g kg⁻¹) [42] only for the first two weeks in both treatments. However, the low amounts of DMSB do not permit the economical utilisation of herbage biomass in this period. After a sharp decline during the first seven weeks the CP concentrations in the forage were about 100 g kg⁻¹ regardless of treatment, a level which still met the requirements for beef cattle (80 g kg⁻¹) [42].

In both the EG and IG treatments forage quality in terms of NDF concentration was not suitable for dairy cows at all, the acceptable threshold being about 300–400 g kg⁻¹ [43, 44]. The relatively high NDF concentration in the forage means that it is useable only for beef cattle [32]. Except for the first week in the IG treatment, the concentrations of ADF in forage of both treatments were so high as to be considered not acceptable for dairy cows, as recommended thresholds for dairy cows are about 190–240 g kg⁻¹ [43, 44]. After the first seven weeks of the vegetation season in the year 2012 both NDF and ADF concentrations in the herbage increased and remained suitable only as forage for beef cattle [32].

Mineral nutrients

The concentrations of minerals in the herbage are mainly affected by the nutrient concentration in the soil [45], and also by phenophases and representation of individual agro-botanical groups in grassland during the vegetation season [10]. Other factors, such as shading intensity, soil moisture and pH, may also affect mineral concentrations in the herbage biomass [45]. During the grazing season a significant decline of P, K and Na concentrations occurred, most likely due to the 'dilution effect' described by [12], in which during the maturation the herbage biomass increases whereas mineral concentration declines [10, 46]. Dairy cows have greater nutritional requirements for P, K, Ca, Mg and Na minerals than beef cattle and sheep, mainly due to the needs of lactation [30].

In both the EG and IG treatments dietary concentration of P in herbage met the requirements of productive animals $(2.4-4.0 \text{ g kg}^{-1}, [30])$ only during the first six weeks. After sharp decline in the first seven weeks of grazing season P concentration was relative stable in the rest of grazing season; nevertheless, they were mostly below recommended threshold [30].

Potassium was the only mineral that exceeded the recommended range for cattle nutrition $(5-9 \text{ g kg}^{-1}, [30])$ during almost the whole grazing season in both treatments. Especially in the spring, K concentration in the biomass was high, but during the course of the vegetation season it decreased gradually, a finding also described by [47]. The physiological requirements of K for animals tend to be significantly lower than is usually present in herbage [30, 48]. However, due to high Ca and Mg concentrations in the herbage in our experiment the grass tetany ratio K/(Ca+Mg) in meq. of 2.5 [49, 50] was never exceeded.

The concentration of Ca in the IG treatment in the early part of grazing season was sufficiently high to meet nutritional requirements for dairy cows (4–6.0 g kg⁻¹, [<u>30</u>]). It was probably caused by higher proportions of legumes and *Taraxacum* species in the IG treatment as these species contain high concentrations of Ca [<u>30</u>, <u>48</u>, <u>51–54</u>]. In later periods the relative proportions of legumes and *Taraxacum* species decreased with increased growth of grasses

(*Agrostis capillaris, Festuca rubra* agg., *Poa trivialis*), which have generally lower mineral concentrations than forbs [55]; together with the 'dilution effect' this resulted in a decline in Ca concentration with maturation of the sward. In this period Ca concentration in the IG treatment was suitable only for low productive milking cows (threshold 3.0 g kg⁻¹) and beef cattle (threshold 2.9 g kg⁻¹) [30].

In the EG treatment the concentration of Ca, with no trend, mostly met the requirements for dairy cows during the whole grazing season. Its value was lower than in the IG treatment in the early part of grazing season only. Further, in the EG treatment in the late part of grazing season several tall forbs (*Aegopodium podagraria, Galium mollugo* agg., *Hypericum macula-tum*), which would likely have had higher concentrations of Ca than grasses [55], increased their proportion in the sward at the expense of the grasses (unpublished observation). Thus, higher Ca concentration in the herbage in the EG treatment than in the IG treatment in the late part of grazing season could be caused by seasonal development of plant species composition, as described also by [10].

The concentration of Mg in the herbage fulfilled the requirements for dairy cows (at least 2.0 g kg⁻¹) only in the early part of the grazing season in the IG treatment. During the later period the herbage was mostly suitable only for beef cattle (1.6 g kg⁻¹) in both treatments [30].

The requirements for Na by dairy cows (2.0 g kg^{-1}) as well as beef cattle (1.0 g kg^{-1}) usually exceed the Na concentration present in herbage [30]. In our experiment concentration of Na in the forage was not sufficient for the requirements of either dairy cows (2.0 g kg^{-1}) or beef cattle (1.0 g kg^{-1}) [30] in both treatments during the whole grazing season in the year 2012. In general, however, it is usually possible to deal with mineral imbalances by supplying livestock with free-choice mineral supplements [48, 56].

Conclusion

The previous extensive management had a carry-over effect which significantly reduced the quality of organic components (IVOMD, ADF, NDF, CP), divalent cations (Ca, Mg) and Na in herbage of *Agrostis capillaris* and *Festuca rubra* dominated grassland during the first seven weeks of the spring grazing season. Due to the high concentration of fibres (ADF, NDF) the forage was suitable only for beef cattle even during the first seven weeks of the grazing season. Besides Na and K, the concentrations of other tested minerals were in the range recommended for cattle feeding and were also affected by species composition of the sward. Herbage mineral concentrations declined over the course of the sward maturation. When the beginning of grazing or hay-making was postponed from the 7th to 13th week of the grazing season the forage was sufficient only for cattle maintenance (based on IVOMD) in both extensive and intensive treatments. Herbage harvested after 13 weeks had very low quality and was not suitable for use as the only source for cattle feeding.

Thus agri-environmental payments are necessary to compensate for deterioration of forage quality if the utilisation of semi-natural grassland is restricted for environmental reasons, and this will apply not only for the postponing of the first defoliation (either as cutting or grazing) to after mid-June, but also when extensive management is required.

Supporting information

S1 Fig. The design of the experiment. (TIFF)

S2 Fig. Mean dry matter standing biomass and organic components under extensive (EG) and intensive (IG) management. Axis X refers to the whole grazing season (23 weeks) in the

year 2012. Error bars represent standard error of the mean. For abbreviations see <u>Table 3</u>. (TIF)

S3 Fig. Mean concentration of minerals and K/(Ca+Mg) ratio under extensive (EG) and intensive (IG) management. Axis X refers to the whole grazing season (23 weeks) in the year 2012. Error bars represent standard error of the mean. (TIF)

Author Contributions

Conceptualization: Vilém V. Pavlů, Lenka Pavlů.

Data curation: Klára Pavlů, Vilém V. Pavlů.

Formal analysis: Klára Pavlů, Teowdroes Kassahun, Petr Blažek.

Funding acquisition: Klára Pavlů, Teowdroes Kassahun, Vilém V. Pavlů, Petr Homolka.

Investigation: Klára Pavlů, Vilém V. Pavlů.

Methodology: Klára Pavlů, Teowdroes Kassahun, Petr Blažek.

Supervision: Vilém V. Pavlů, Lenka Pavlů.

Writing - original draft: Klára Pavlů, Teowdroes Kassahun.

Writing - review & editing: Klára Pavlů, Vilém V. Pavlů, Lenka Pavlů, Petr Homolka.

References

- 1. Smit HJ, Metzger MJ, Ewert F. Spatial distribution of grassland productivity and land use in Europe. Agric Syst. 2008; 98: 208–219. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.agsy.2008.07.004
- Dudek T, Wolanski P, Rogut K. The content of macro- and micro minerals in the sward of different types of semi-natural meadows of temperate climate in SE Poland. Agronomy-Basel. 2020; 10 (2): 273. https://doi.org/10.3390/agronomy10020273
- Le Clec'h S, Finger R, Buchmann N, Gosal AS, Hörtnagl L, Huguenin-Elie O, et al. Assessment of spatial variability of multiple ecosystem services in grasslands of different intensities. J Environ Manage. 2019; 251: 109372. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jenvman.2019.109372 PMID: 31550606
- Isselstein J, Jeangros B, Pavlu V. Agronomic aspects of biodiversity targeted management of temperate grasslands in Europe—A review. Agron Res. 2005; 3 (2): 139–151.
- Lakner S, Zinngrebe Y, Koemle D. Combining management plans and payment schemes for targed grassland conservation within the Habitats Directive in Saxony, Eastern Germany. Land Use Pol. 2020; 97: 104642. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.landusepol.2020.104642
- 6. Frame J. Improved grassland management. Ipswich, UK: Farming Press Books; 1992.
- Bokdam J, Wallis De Vries MF. Forage quality as a limiting factor for cattle grazing in isolated Dutch nature reserves. Conserv Biol. 1992; 6:399–408. https://doi.org/10.1046/j.1523-1739.1992.06030399.
- Tallowin JRB, Jefferson RG. Hay production from lowland semi-natural grasslands: a review of implication for ruminant livestock systems. Grass Forage Sci. 1999; 54: 99–115. <u>https://doi.org/10.1046/j. 1365-2494.1999.00171.x</u>
- Fiems LO, De Boever JL, De Vliegher A, Vanacker JM, De Brabander DL, Carlier L. Agri-environmental grass hay: Nutritive value and intake in comparison with hay from intensively managed grassland. Arch Anim Nutr. 2004; 58: 233–244. https://doi.org/10.1080/00039420410001701369 PMID: 15264672
- Mládek J, Hejcman M, Hejduk S, Duchoslav M, Pavlů V. Community seasonal development enables late defoliation without loss of forage quality in semi-natural grasslands. Folia Geobot. 2011; 46:17–34. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12224-010-9083-4
- Boob M, Elsaesser M, Thumm U, Hartung J, Lewandowski I. Harvest time determines quality and usability of biomass from lowland hay meadows. Agriculture-Basel. 2019; 9:198 https://doi.org/10. 3390/agriculture9090198

- Duru M, Ducrocq H. A nitrogen and phosphorus herbage nutrient index as a tool for assessing the effect of N and P supply on the dry matter yield of permanent pastures. Nutr Cycl Agroecosyst. 1997; 47: 59– 69. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF01985719
- Koidou M, Mountousis I, Dotas V, Zagorakis K, Yiakoulaki M. Temporal variations of herbage production and nutritive value of three grasslands at different elevation zones regarding grazing needs and welfare of ruminants. Arch Anim Breed. 2019; 62: 215–226. <u>https://doi.org/10.5194/aab-62-215-2019</u> PMID: 31807632
- Schaub S, Finger R, Leiber F, Probst S, Kreuzer M, Weigelt A, et al. Plant diversity effects on forage quality, yield and revenues of semi-natural grasslands. Nature Communication. 2020; 11: 768. <u>https:// doi.org/10.1038/s41467-020-14541-4</u> PMID: 32034149
- Pavlů V, Hejcman M, Pavlů L, Gaisler J, Nežerková P. Effect of continuous grazing on forage quality, quantity and animal performance. Agric Ecosyst Environ. 2006; 113: 349–355. https://doi.org/10.1016/ j.agee.2005.10.010
- Chytrý M, editor. Vegetace České republiky. 1. Travinná a keříčková vegetace (in Czech) [Vegetation of the Czech Republic. 1. Grassland and Heathland Vegetation]. Praha, CZ: Academia; 2007.
- Pavlů V, Hejcman M, Pavlů L, Gaisler J. Restoration of grazing management and its effect on vegetation in an upland grassland. Appl Veg Sci. 2007; 10: 375–382. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1654-109X</u>. 2007.tb00436.x
- Kassahun T, Pavlů V, Hejcman M. Seasonal dynamics of herbage biomass under long-term intensive and extensive grazing management. In Klumpp G, Pott T, Oeding S, editors. Bio-based economy for a sustainable future, ELLS scientific student conference. Hohenheim, Germany: University of Hohenheim; 2016. p. 39.
- 19. AOAC. Official Methods of Analysis (15th ed.) Arlington, VA: Association of Official Analytical; 1990.
- Van Soest PJ, Robertson JB, Lewis BA. Methods for dietary fiber, neutral detergent fiber, and nonstarch polysaccharides in relation to animal nutrition. J Dairy Sci. 1991; 74 (10): 3583–3597. https://doi.org/ 10.3168/jds.S0022-0302(91)78551-2 PMID: 1660498
- Goering KH, Van Soest PJ. Forage fiber analysis (apparatus, reagents, procedures, and some application). Agric. Handbook. No. 379. Washington DC, USA: ARS-USDA; 1970.
- 22. Aufrere J, Michalet-Doreau B. Comparison of methods for predicting digestibility of feeds. Anim Feed Sci Technol. 1988; 20 (3): 203–218. https://doi.org/10.1016/0377-8401(88)90044-2
- Nousiainen J, Rinne M, Helämäki M, Huhtanen P. Prediction of the digestibility of the primary growth of grass silages harvested at different stages of maturity from chemical composition and pepsin-cellulase solubility. Anim Feed Sci Technol. 2003; 103: 97–111. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0377-8401(02)00283-3
- Verhoeven KJF, Simonsen KL, McIntyre LM. Implementing false discovery rate control: increasing your power. Oikos. 2005; 108: 643–647. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.0030-1299.2005.13727.x
- 25. Dell Inc., 2016. Dell Statistica (data analysis software system), version 13.1 software. dell.com.
- Ma L, Yuan F, Liang H, Rong Y. The effects of grazing management strategies on the vegetation, diet quality, intake and performance of free grazing sheep. Livest Sci. 2014; 161:185–192. https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.livsci.2013.12.025
- Henkin Z, Ungar ED, Dvash L, Perevolotsky A, Yehuda Y, Sternberg M, et al. Effects of cattle grazing on herbage quality in a herbaceous Mediterranean rangeland. Grass Forage Sci. 2011; 66 (4): 516– 525. https://doi.org/10.5194/aab-62-215-2019
- Schlegel P, Wyss U, Arrigo Y, Hess HD. Mineral concentrations of fresh herbage from mixed grassland as influenced by botanical composition, harvest time and growth stage. Anim Feed Sci Technol. 2016; 219: 226–233. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.anifeedsci.2016.06.022
- Rychnovská M. Úvod–Travinné porosty mírného pásma (In Czech) [Introduction–Temperate grasslands]. In: Rychnovská M, Balátová E, Úlehlová B, Pelikán J, editors. Ekologie lučních porostů [Ecology of meadow]. Praha, CZ: Academia; 1985. pp. 11–12.
- **30.** Whitehead DC. Nutrient elements in grassland, soil-plant-animal relationships. Wallingford, UK: CABI Publishing; 2000.
- Rymer C. The measurement of forage digestibility in vivo. In: Givens DI, Owen E, Axford RFE, Omed HM, editors. Forage evaluation in ruminant nutrition. Wallingford, UK: CABI Publishing; 2000. pp. 113– 134.
- **32.** National Research Council. Nutrient Requirements of Beef Cattle (7th Revised Edition). Washington, DC: The National Academies Press; 2000.
- Agricultural Research Council. The nutrient requirement of ruminant livestock. Slough, England: Commonwealth Agricultural Bureaux; 1980.

- Motazedian I, Sharrow SH. Defoliation frequency and intensity effects on pasture forage quality. J Range Manag. 1990; 43 (3): 198–201. https://doi.org/10.2307/3898671
- 35. Stejskalová M, Hejcmanová P, Pavlů V, Hejcman M. Grazing behavior and performance of beef cattle as a function of sward structure and herbage quality under rotational and continuous stocking on species-rich upland pasture. Anim Sci J. 2013; 84: 622–629. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/asj.12048</u> PMID: 23607767
- Bruinenberg MH, Valk H, Korevaar H, Struik PC. Factors affecting digestibility of temperate forages from seminatural grasslands: a review. Grass Forage Sci. 2002; 57: 292–301. https://doi.org/10.1046/j. 1365-2494.2002.00327.x
- **37.** Pelve ME, Olsson I, Spörndly E, Eriksson T. In vivo and in vitro digestibility, nitrogen balance and methane production in non-lactating cows and heifers fed forage harvested from heterogeneous semi-natural pastures. Livest Sci. 2012; 144: 48–56 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.livsci.2011.10.012
- Andueza D, Rodrigues AM, Picard F, Rossignol N, Baumont R, Cecato U, et al. Relationships between botanical composition, yield and forage quality of permanent grasslands over the first growth cycle. Grass Forage Sci. 2014; 71:366–378. https://doi.org/10.1111/gfs.12189
- Elgersma A, Søegaard K. Effects of species diversity on seasonal variation in herbage yield and nutritive value of seven binary grass-legume mixtures and pure grass under cutting. Eur J Agron. 2016; 78:73–83. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.eja.2016.04.011
- Jancovic J, Holubek R. Some quality parameters of chosen meadow plant species after long-term fertilization of semi-natural grassland. Rost Výr. 1999; 45 (2): 79–83.
- Biel W, Jaroszewska A, Łysoń E, Telesiński A. The chemical composition and antioxidant properties of common dandelion leaves compared with sea buckthorn. Can J Plant Sci. 2017; 97:1165–1174. https://doi.org/10.1139/cjps-2016-0409
- 42. Thumm U, Tonn B. Grünlandaufwüchse-Futter oder Bioenergie? Schreiber KF, Brauckmann HJ, Broll G, Krebs S, Poschlod P, editors. In Artenreiches Grünland in der Kulturlandschaft. Ubstadt-Weiher, Germany: Verlag Regionalkultur; 2009.pp. 305–313.
- Kudrna V, Čermák B, Doležal O, editors. Produkce krmiv a výživa skotu (in Czech) [Feed production and cattle nutrition]. Praha, CZ: Agrospoj; 1998.
- 44. National Research Council. Nutrient Requirements of Dairy Cattle (7th Edition). Washington, DC: The National Academies Press; 2001.
- Schaffers AP. Soil biomass, and management of semi-natural vegetation. Part I. Interrelationships. Plant Ecol. 2002; 158: 229–246. https://doi.org/10.1023/A:1015576520936
- 46. Míka V. Minerální látky (In Czech) [Minerals]. In: Míka V. editor. Kvalita píce [Forage quality]. Praha, CZ: Ústav zemědělských a potravinářských informací; 1997. pp. 97–101.
- Pelletier S, Bélanger G, Tremblay GF, Brégard A, Allard G. Diatary cation-anion difference of Timothy as affected by development stage and nitrogen and phosphorus fertilization. Agron J. 2006; 98: 774– 780. https://doi.org/10.2134/agronj2005.0229
- 48. Suttle N. Mineral nutrition in livestock. Wallingford, UK: CABI Publishing; 2010.
- Grunes DL, Stout PR, Brownell JR. Grass tetany of ruminants. Advanced Agronomy. 1970; 22: 33– 374. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0065-2113(08)60272-2
- 50. Voisin A. Grass tetany. Springfield, Illinois, USA: Charles C. Thomas Publisher; 1963.
- Ata S, Farooq F, Javed S. Elemental profile of 24 common medicinal plants of Pakistan and its direct link with traditional uses. J Med Plants Res. 2011; 5(26):6164–6168. <u>https://doi.org/10.5897/JMPR11. 866</u>
- Harrington KC, Thatcher A, Kemp PD. Mineral composition and nutritive value of some common pasture weeds. N Z Plant Prot. 2006; 59: 261–265. https://doi.org/10.30843/nzpp.2006.59.4414
- Grzegorczyk S, Alberski J, Olszewska M. Accumulation of potassium, calcium and magnesium by selected species of grassland legumes and herbs. J Elem. 2013; 18: 69–78. <u>https://doi.org/10.5601/jelem.2013.18.1.05</u>
- 54. Wilman D, Derrick W. Concentration and availability to sheep of N, P, K, Ca, Mg and Na in chickweed, dandelion, dock, ribwort and spurrey, compared with perennial ryegrass. J Agric Sci. 1994; 122(2): 217–223. https://doi.org/10.1017/S0021859600087396
- 55. Pirhofer-Walzl K, Søegaard K, Høgh-Jensen H, Eriksen J, Sanderson MA, Rasmussen J. Forage herbs improve mineral composition of grassland herbage. Grass Forage Sci. 2011; 66: 415–423. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2494.2011.00799.x
- 56. McDowell LR, Valle G. Major minerals in forages. In: Givens DI, Owen E, Axford RF, Omed HM, editors. Forage evaluation in ruminant nutrition. Wallingford, UK: CABI Publishing; 2000. pp. 373–397.

CHAPTER 4

Effect of grazing intensity and dung on herbage and soil nutrients

Klára Pavlů, Teowdroes Kassahun, Chukwudi Nwaogu, Lenka Pavlů, Jan Gaisler, Petr Homolka, Vilém Pavlů

Plant, Soil and Environment, 65, 2019 (7): 343-348



Effect of grazing intensity and dung on herbage and soil nutrients

Klára Pavlů^{1,3}, Teowdroes Kassahun¹, Chukwudi Nwaogu^{1,2}, Lenka Pavlů², Jan Gaisler², Petr Homolka^{3,4}, Vilém Pavlů^{1,2}*

¹Department of Ecology, Czech University of Life Sciences Prague, Prague, Czech Republic ²Department of Weeds and Vegetation of Agroecosystems, Crop Research Institute, Prague, Czech Republic ³Department of Nutrition and Feeding of Farm Animals, Institute of Animal Science,

Prague, Czech Republic

⁴Deparment of Microbiology, Nutrition and Dietetics, Czech University of Life Sciences Prague, Prague, Czech Republic

*Corresponding author: pavlu@vurv.cz

Citation: Pavlů K., Kassahun T., Nwaogu C., Pavlů L., Gaisler J., Homolka P., Pavlů V. (2019): Effect of grazing intensity and dung on herbage and soil nutrients. Plant Soil Environ., 65: 343–348.

Abstract: Dung deposited by grazing animals is a key driver affecting sward structure and nutrient cycling in pastures. We tested herbage and soil properties in three types of tall sward-height patches (> 10 cm): (i) patches with dung under intensive grazing; (ii) patches with dung under extensive grazing; and (iii) patches with no dung under extensive grazing. These patches were compared with grazed swards under intensive and extensive grazing. Analyses indicated no significant effect of different types of patches on plant available nutrients. Herbage nutrient concentrations from the different types of patches differed significantly. The highest concentrations of nitrogen (30.65 g/kg), phosphorus (4.51 g/kg) and potassium (22.06 g/kg) in the herbage dry matter were in the tall patches with dung presence under intensive grazing regime because of nutrients from dung utilized for sward regrowth. Regardless of dung presence, similar herbage nutrient concentrations were revealed in non-grazed tall sward-height patches in extensive grazing regime. The presence of dung did not have any effect on the plant available nutrients in any type of patches, therefore we suppose that non-utilized nutrients were probably leached, volatilised or transformed into unavailable forms and thus soil nutrient enrichment was low.

Keywords: heifer grazing; faeces; grassland; grazing management; plant-soil relationship

Selective defoliation by grazing, which is mainly due to dietary choice, is one of the main mechanisms by which grazing animals contribute to sward heterogeneity. Grazing changes the competitive advantage among plant species through the selective removal of plant biomass (Bullock and Marriot 2000), it opens spaces for gap-colonizing species, and there is contamination of the sward surface by the animals' dung and urine which decreases the amount of forage available for grazing (Bokdam 2001). Furthermore, as the level of contamination increases, there is increased rejection by grazing animals, especially in the immediate vicinity of dung pats (Forbes and Hodgson 1985). Dung deposition, in combination with other grazing-related effects such as trampling, is an important factor that can explain the structure of vegetation in the pasture (Kohler et al. 2004). It also has a significant effect on the chemical status of the soil and serves as a potential source of available nutrients for plants (Aarons et al. 2004).

Supported by the Ministry of Agriculture of the Czech Republic, Project No. RO0417. This paper was finalized under support from Interreg VA SN/CZ (100264999-DiverGrass) and by the Internal Grant Agency – Faculty of Environmental Sciences, Czech University of Life Sciences Prague, Project No. 20194211. The contributions of Klára Pavlů and Petr Homolka were supported by the Ministry of Agriculture of the Czech Republic, Project No. RO0717.

Cattle generally show a grazing preference for shorter (< 10 cm) herbage patches rather than taller (> 10 cm) patches, which are mostly left ungrazed as their biomass is usually of lower feed value. This differentiation of patches into short and tall height is commonly observed in temperate grasslands (Ludvíková et al. 2015). Cattle avoid areas with tallstem herbage where the leafy components of the sward are difficult to graze (De Vries and Daleboudt 1994) and also areas that have been contaminated by dung (MacDiarmid and Watkin 1972b). Several studies have been conducted that have focused on the effects of dung patches about botanical composition and nutrients (MacDiarmid and Watkin 1971, 1972a, Aarons et al. 2009, White-Leech et al. 2013). However, there has been little research focusing on patches of different heights in swards in terms of the concentrations of nutrients in the herbage and the soil, particularly in Central Europe, where only preliminary analyses are available (Pavlů et al. 2018).

Therefore, our goal was to determine the effects of different intensities of grazing by heifers on the nutrient concentrations in the herbage and the soil under tall sward-height patches in Central European *Agrostis capillaris* grassland. We aimed to answer the following questions: (i) what is the effect of the presence of dung on nutrient concentrations of soil beneath tall sward-height patches under intensive and extensive grazing management?; (ii) what is the effect of the presence of dung on dry matter standing biomass, dry matter (DM) content, dead biomass, and nutrient concentrations in the herbage?, and (iii) is there any relationship between soil nutrient concentrations and herbage nutrient concentrations under the tall sward-height patches?

MATERIAL AND METHODS

344

Study site. The study site of the 'Oldřichov Grazing Experiment' is located in the Jizerské hory (Jizera Mountains) in the northern Czech Republic, 10 km north of the city of Liberec (50°50.34'N, 15°05.36'E; 420 m a.s.l.). The experimental site was established in 1998 and had a mean annual temperature of 7.2°C and average annual precipitation of 803 mm (Liberec Meteorological Station). The site has a medium deep (10–15 cm) brown sandy soil (Cambisol, with less than 10% of clay, i.e., particle size fraction < 0.01 mm) and is underlain by granite bedrock. The sward on the experimental site has a high diversity of plant species, with about 24 vascular plant

species per m². The dominant species are *Agrostis capillaris*, *Festuca rubra* agg., *Trifolium repens*, and *Taraxacum officinale*.

Experimental design and plot management. The experimental site was established as two completely randomized blocks. Each block consisted of four paddocks with different grazing regimes, and each experimental paddock was approximately 0.35 ha (Ludvíková et al. 2015). For this study, we selected two paddocks in each block, with two contrasting levels of grazing intensity: (i) extensive grazing (EG), with a mean target sward surface height of greater than 10 cm; and (ii) intensive grazing (IG) with a mean target sward surface height of less than 5 cm. Target sward heights were achieved by increasing or decreasing the area available for grazing by moving fences with a set number of stock per plot for IG or EG. All paddocks were grazed under continuous stocking by young heifers (Czech Fleckvieh) of initial live weights of about 200 kg, from early May until late October.

Herbage and soil data collection. Sward height measurement, herbage biomass, and soil samples were taken late in the grazing season on 18 September 2013. For this study, we identified three types of tall sward-height patches and two types of grazed patches: (i) IG_TF – tall patches in IG with presence of residual spring dung; (ii) EG_TF – tall patches in EG with presence of residual spring dung; (iii) EG_TF – tall patches in EG with presence of residual spring dung; (iii) EG_TF – tall patches in EG with presence of residual spring dung; (iii) EG_TO – tall patches in EG without presence of residual spring dung; (iv) IG_C – grazed patches in IG; (v) EG_C – grazed patches in EG (for details see Table 1). For the IG regime, we were unable to find any presence of the tall sward-height patches without dung.

Four replications of the presented sward-height patches were randomly taken in each of two paddocks in the block. A total 40 of soil (each in 10 subsamples) and 40 herbage samples were then collected. Since the sward had a canopy height of > 10 cm in the EG regime, visual identification of dung presence was required. In spring, fresh dung deposits were 20-30 cm in diameter and weighed about 1 kg, with 15-20% DM content. The mean values of nutrient concentrations in the spring dung of heifers regardless of treatment were 21.1, 6.6, 7.7, 18.5 and 4.3 g/kg for N, P, K, Ca and Mg, respectively (V. Ludvíková unpublished data). To characterize sward height and patch type distribution in IG and EG, 100 measurements were taken along a transect in four paddocks of both regimes (400 measurements in total). At each sward height measurement, visual identification of the patch type was carried out simultaneously.

Patch abbre- viation terms used in text	Grazing management	Target average sward height (cm)	Patch type	Dung presence	Stocking rate (kg live weight per ha)	Patches percentage of total area
IG_C	intensive grazing	< 5	grazed	_	1000	95.0
IG_TF	intensive grazing	< 5	non-grazed or infrequently grazed tall sward patches > 10 cm	+	1000	5.0
EG_C	extensive grazing	> 10	grazed	_	500	92.5
EG_TF	extensive grazing	> 10	non-grazed or infrequently grazed tall sward patches > 10 cm	+	500	4.5
EG_T0	extensive grazing	> 10	non-grazed or infrequently grazed tall sward patches > 10 cm	_	500	3.0

Table 1. Description of the sward height patches and their management

The height of the sward along a transect in four paddocks and selected patches was measured using a rising plate meter (Correll et al. 2003). Using a circular ring of 30 cm in diameter on each type of patch, the proportion (as %) of dead plant biomass was assessed by visual observation; herbage biomass was then cut to ground level. The harvested herbage was weighed fresh, oven dried at 80°C, and the DM content and dry matter standing biomass (DMSB) were determined. Under each patch, any dung deposits present were removed, and soil samples were taken from the upper 10 cm of the soil profile using an auger, and the biomass residues and roots were removed. The soil samples were air dried and then ground to pass a 2 mm sieve.

The herbage concentrations of N, P, K, Ca, and Mg were determined after digestion of DM herbage in *aqua regia* by inductively coupled plasma-optical emission spectrometry (GBC Scientific Equipment Pty Ltd, Melbourne, Australia). Plant available P, K, Ca, Mg were extracted by Mehlich 3 (Mehlich 1984). Total nitrogen (N_{tot}) was determined by the Kjeldahl method and organic carbon content (C_{org}) by means of colorimetry (AOAC 1984). Determination for pH_{CaCl_2} was done using pH meter acidometer (Sentron, Wellinq, Leek, the Netherlands). All chemical analyses for soil and herbage were performed in an accredited laboratory at the Crop Research Institute in Chomutov.

Data analysis. A linear mixed-effects model with fixed effects of treatment and random effect of the block was used to analyse the effect of different type of patches on concentrations of each individual nutrient in the soil and the herbage, DMSB, sward height (SH), DM content, and proportion of dead biomass. Post hoc comparison using the Tukey *HSD* (honestly significant difference) test was applied to identify significant differences among different types of patches. In some cases, normality and homogeneity in data were achieved by applying the logarithmic transformation. Finally, linear regression analysis was used to identify the relationship between plant available nutrients in the soil and the nutrient contents in the herbage. All univariate analyses were performed using Statistica 13.1 (Dell Inc. 2016).

RESULTS AND DISCUSSION

Frequency of distribution of sward heights during the sampling under IG and EG is shown in Figure 1 and reflected the presence of different patches under the various types of management (Tonn et al. 2019). The highest values for SH, DM content and DMSB were found under EG_T0 and EG_TF patches, and the highest values for dead biomass under EG_T0 and EG_C (Table 2).

Based on the average amount of dung, their nutrient concentrations and area of coverage, the amounts of nutrients supplied in individual dung patches were calculated as follows: $40-60 \text{ g N/m}^2$, $14-20 \text{ g P/m}^2$, $16-25 \text{ g K/m}^2$, $40-60 \text{ g Ca/m}^2$ and $10-14 \text{ g Mg/m}^2$. These values are approximately half than those reported for cows by Whitehead (2000), differences which may be explained by the different types of grazed sward, supplementary feeding, weight, and age of animals and breed. However, this over-fertilization by faeces had a significant effect on herbage but not on soil properties.



Table 2. Sward characteristics and herbage nutrient concentrations of different sward height patches

	Tall	sward-height pa	tches	Grazed	patches		D 1
	IG_TF	EG_TF	EG_T0	IG_C	EG_C	F-ratio	<i>P</i> -value
SH (cm)	$10.00 \pm 0.46^{\rm b}$	14.00 ± 0.98^{a}	15.37 ± 0.98^{a}	$3.63 \pm 0.26^{\circ}$	10.38 ± 0.63^{b}	39.00	< 0.001
DM (%)	$18.09\pm0.68^{\rm b}$	24.13 ± 0.72^{a}	27.41 ± 1.27^{a}	10.48 ± 0.32^{c}	$18.53 \pm 1.14^{\rm b}$	58.46	< 0.001
DMSB (g/m ²)	358.58 ± 77.93^{b}	548.29 ± 57.42^{a}	707.43 ± 90.73^{a}	$79.03 \pm 8.18^{\circ}$	$254.91 \pm 12.23^{\rm b}$	47.37	< 0.001
Dead biomass (%)	$8.38 \pm 2.38^{\circ}$	24.38 ± 2.58^{b}	32.50 ± 0.94^{a}	$1.63 \pm 0.26^{\circ}$	28.75 ± 1.83^{ab}	53.28	< 0.001
Herbage nutrient							
N (g/kg DM)	30.65 ± 2.96^{a}	18.68 ± 0.40^{cd}	$16.68 \pm 0.34^{\rm d}$	25.49 ± 0.67^{ab}	22.56 ± 0.39^{bc}	21.48	< 0.001
P (g/kg DM)	4.51 ± 0.28^{a}	2.75 ± 0.08^{bc}	2.40 ± 0.09^{bc}	$2.96\pm0.05^{\rm b}$	$2.75 \pm 0.07^{\rm bc}$	34.89	< 0.001
K (g/kg DM)	22.06 ± 1.66^{a}	$14.73 \pm 1.30^{\rm b}$	11.87 ± 0.63^{b}	$11.79 \pm 0.92^{\rm b}$	12.53 ± 0.68^{b}	12.25	< 0.001
Ca (g/kg DM)	$6.14\pm0.37^{\rm b}$	7.24 ± 0.63^{ab}	$6.12\pm0.46^{\rm b}$	9.14 ± 0.70^{a}	6.92 ± 0.51^{ab}	4.97	0.003
Mg (g/kg DM)	$2.69\pm0.17^{\rm a}$	$1.97 \pm 0.15^{\rm b}$	1.75 ± 0.11^{b}	2.84 ± 0.19^{a}	$2.01\pm0.12^{\rm b}$	11.41	< 0.001
N:P	6.81 ± 0.57^{c}	$6.83 \pm 0.20^{\circ}$	6.98 ± 0.22^{bc}	8.62 ± 0.22^{a}	8.27 ± 0.32^{ab}	6.82	< 0.001
N:K	$1.39 \pm 0.09^{\rm b}$	1.34 ± 0.11^{b}	$1.43\pm0.07^{\rm b}$	2.28 ± 0.22^{a}	$1.84\pm0.10^{\rm ab}$	9.62	< 0.001
K:P	4.97 ± 0.41	5.41 ± 0.54	4.97 ± 0.28	3.98 ± 0.29	4.56 ± 0.26	2.23	0.086
Ca:P	$1.38\pm0.08^{\rm b}$	2.64 ± 0.23^{a}	2.54 ± 0.15^{a}	3.09 ± 0.23^{a}	2.52 ± 0.18^{a}	12.27	< 0.001
Total amount of n	utrients in herb	age per area					
N (g/m ²)	10.66 ± 2.76^{ab}	10.30 ± 1.18^{a}	11.82 ± 1.58^{a}	2.01 ± 0.20^{c}	$5.74\pm0.27^{\rm b}$	30.52	< 0.001
P (g/m ²)	1.52 ± 0.27^{a}	1.49 ± 0.14^{a}	1.72 ± 0.26^{a}	0.24 ± 0.03^{c}	0.70 ± 0.04^{b}	24.82	< 0.001
K (g/m ²)	8.10 ± 2.33^{a}	7.97 ± 1.13^{a}	8.42 ± 1.19^{a}	0.92 ± 0.11^{c}	3.22 ± 0.26^{b}	33.59	< 0.001
Ca (g/m ²)	$2.16\pm0.44^{\rm b}$	3.97 ± 0.52^{a}	4.37 ± 0.73^{a}	$0.73 \pm 0.10^{\rm c}$	$1.77 \pm 0.16^{\rm b}$	21.76	< 0.001
$Mg (g/m^2)$	0.95 ± 0.20^{ab}	1.11 ± 0.17^{a}	1.23 ± 0.17^{a}	0.23 ± 0.04^{c}	$0.51\pm0.04^{\rm bc}$	13.65	< 0.001

Numbers represent average values of patches; \pm values represent standard error of the mean. *F*-ratio – *F*-statistics for the test of a particular analysis; *P*-value – corresponding probability value. Significant differences (*P* < 0.05) between patches according to Tukey's post-hoc test are indicated by different letters in the row. Abbreviations for the type of patches see Table 1. SH – sward height; DM – dry matter content; DMSB – dry matter standing biomass

The highest N, P, K concentrations in the herbage were revealed in IG_TF patches, whereas the highest Ca and Mg concentrations were found in IG_C patches (Table 2). The presence of dung under tall sward-height patches in extensive grazing had no influence either on the DM content and DMSB or on N, P, K concentrations in the herbage (Table 2). We can suppose that released nutrients from dung were predominantly leached from the sandy soil and partly volatized as NH₃ from this type of dung patch. The youngest sward was under IG_C patches with the lowest SH, DM, DMSB, and dead biomass. Although herbage at early stages of maturity usually has very high nutrient concentrations (Duru and Ducrocq 1996, Pavlů and Velich 1998), the highest N, P, K concentrations in the herbage were found not in IG_C but IG_TF patches. It was caused by the nutrients released from dung under the IG_TF patches. Therefore, regardless of maturity, the key driver for N, P, K concentrations in the herbage under intensive grazing was the presence of faeces.

The highest concentrations of Mg in the herbage in both patches under intensive grazing regardless of dung presence (IG_C and IG_TF) as well as the highest Ca concentration in IG_C patches could be connected to a higher proportion of white clover (*T. repens*) and dandelion (*T. officinale*) in the sward (Ludvíková et al. 2015). These prostrate herbs have been reported to have high concentrations of Mg and Ca in the herbage (Whitehead 2000). Therefore, higher uptake of Mg and Ca by plants could also be the reason for the tendency of lower Ca and Mg concentrations in the soil under IG_C patches. Herbage in all tall sward-height patches accumulated more nutrients (N, P, K, Mg) on a per-m² basis (Table 2) than herbage in frequently grazed patches as nutrients were removed from tall patches by grazing animals only marginally.

Type of patch did not show any significant effect on the concentrations of N_{tot} , C_{org} , and plant available nutrients P, K, Ca, and Mg in the soil (Table 3). The higher C:N ratio and lower pH in the soil, and ratios of N:P and N:K in the herbage of both types of grazed patches is probably connected with higher amounts of nitrogen used for sward regrowth after grazing. The regression analysis showed no relationship between the concentrations of nutrients in the soil and the herbage. Similarly, Dickinson and Craig (1990) suggested nutrient losses from dung are not necessarily associated with increases in nutrients in the soil and argued that the nutrients might have been used immediately by the plants under the dung as soon as they were released from the dung. However, other studies have reported direct positive effects of dung-derived nutrients on the nutrient concentrations in the soil (MacDiarmid and Watkin 1972a, Aarons et al. 2009, Yoshitake et al. 2014) or herbage (Scheile et al. 2018). The inconsistencies in results might be attributed to nutrient mobility through the soil sampling depth, or to differences among types of grassland ecosystems, grazing management, soil type, differences in plant species, and environmental factors.

We can conclude that the intensity of grazing management can influence the utilization of nutrients released from dung. The intensive grazing supported

Soil chemical	Tall	sward-height pat	ches	Grazed	F matio	Duralua	
properties	IG_TF	EG_TF	EG_T0	IG_C	EG_C	- F-ratio	<i>P</i> -value
pH _{CaCl2}	5.49 ± 0.06^{a}	5.62 ± 0.20^{a}	5.27 ± 0.06^{ab}	4.91 ± 0.07^{b}	5.06 ± 0.07^{b}	7.80	< 0.001
N _{tot} (mg/kg)	5066 ± 101	5041 ± 171	4886 ±1 87	4876.80 ± 190	5068.23 ± 255	0.27	0.897
P (mg/kg)	53.72 ± 7.37	41.40 ± 4.31	47.24 ± 6.78	51.36 ± 6.82	52.36 ± 7.15	0.56	0.693
K (mg/kg)	226.42 ± 38.23	192.12 ± 15.97	191.77 ± 14.63	156.47 ± 18.69	173.14 ± 18.96	1.49	0.228
Ca (mg/kg)	1910 ± 123	2016 ± 192	1830 ± 131	1470 ± 111	2036 ± 142	2.52	0.060
Mg (mg/kg)	178.46 ± 16.31	166.23 ± 22.70	152.38 ± 16.23	113.60 ± 12.52	159.93 ± 14.96	2.21	0.089
C _{org} (mg/kg)	$49\ 838\ \pm\ 1047$	$53\ 800\ \pm\ 1528$	$52\ 563\ \pm\ 1955$	$48\ 655\ \pm\ 2466$	$54\ 892\ \pm\ 2736$	1.66	0.181
C:N	$9.84 \pm 0.32^{\circ}$	10.69 ± 0.32^{bc}	10.77 ± 0.32^{bc}	11.34 ± 0.26^{ab}	12.65 ± 0.61^{a}	11.54	< 0.001

Table 3. Soil chemical properties under different sward height patches: pH_{CaCl_2} , total nitrogen (N_{tot}), organic carbon (C_{org}), plant available (Mehlich 3) concentration of P, K, Ca, Mg and C:N ratio in 0–10 cm layer

Numbers represent average values of patches; \pm values represent standard error of the mean. *F*-ratio – *F*-statistics for the test of a particular analysis; *P*-value – corresponding probability value. Significant differences (*P* < 0.05) between patches according to Tukey's post-hoc test are indicated by different letters in the row. Abbreviations for the type of patches see Table 1

the frequency of defoliation, therefore some nutrients from dung were utilized for regrowth of the sward. In contrast to previous research, the presence of dung did not have any influence on the soil nutrient concentrations in any type of patches. Therefore we suppose that the non-utilized nutrients were either leached or volatilized, and thus soil nutrient enrichment was very low. The higher intensity of grazing can increase the utilization of nutrients from dung and can support higher forage production per area.

Acknowledgment

We would like to thank Crop Research Institute, Grassland Research Station Liberec employees for the support during the filed visits and laboratory analysis.

REFERENCES

- Aarons S.R., O'Connor C.R., Gourley C.J.P. (2004): Dung decomposition in temperate dairy pastures. I. Changes in soil chemical properties. Australian Journal of Soil Research, 42: 107–114.
- Aarons S.R., O'Connor C.R., Hosseini H.M., Gourley C.J.P. (2009): Dung pads increase pasture production, soil nutrients and microbial biomass carbon in grazed dairy systems. Nutrient Cycling in Agroecosystems, 84: 81–92.
- AOAC (1984): Official Methods of Analysis. 14st Edition. Washington, Association of Official Analytical Chemists.
- Bokdam J. (2001): Effects of browsing and grazing on cyclic succession in nutrient-limited ecosystems. Journal of Vegetation Science, 12: 875–886.
- Bullock J.M., Marriott C.A. (2000): Plant responses to grazing, and opportunities for manipulation. In: Rook A.J., Penning P.D. (eds.): Grazing Management, the Principles, and Practice of Grazing, for Profit and Environmental Gain, within Temperate Grassland Systems. BGS Occasional Symposium 34. Reading, British Grassland Society, 27–32.
- Correll O., Isselstein J., Pavlů V. (2003): Studying spatial and temporal dynamics of sward structure at low stocking densities: The use of an extended rising-plate-meter method. Grass and Forage Science, 58: 450–454.
- Dickinson C.H., Craig G. (1990): Effects of water on the decomposition and release of nutrients from cow pats. New Phytologist, 115: 139–147.
- Dell Inc. (2016): Dell Statistica (data analysis software system), version 13.1 software. Available at: https://www.dell.com
- De Vries M.F.W., Daleboudt C. (1994): Foraging strategy of cattle in patchy grassland. Oecologia, 100: 98–106.
- Duru M., Ducrocq H. (1996): A nitrogen and phosphorus herbage nutrient index as a tool for assessing the effect of N and P supply

on the dry matter yield of permanent pastures. Nutrient Cycling in Agroecosystems, 47: 59–69.

- Forbes T.D.A., Hodgson J. (1985): The reaction of grazing sheep and cattle to the presence of dung from the same or the other species. Grass and Forage Science, 40: 177–182.
- Kohler F., Gillet F., Gobat J.-M., Buttler A. (2004): Seasonal vegetation changes in mountain pastures due to simulated effects of cattle grazing. Journal of Vegetation Science, 15: 143–150.
- Ludvíková V., Pavlů V., Pavlů L., Gaisler J., Hejcman M. (2015): Swardheight patches under intensive and extensive grazing density in an *Agrostis capillaris* grassland. Folia Geobotanica, 50: 219–228.
- MacDiarmid B.N., Watkin B.R. (1971): The cattle dung patch. 1. Effect of dung patches on yield and botanical composition of surrounding and underlying pasture. Journal of British Grassland Society, 26: 239–246.
- MacDiarmid B.N., Watkin B.R. (1972a): The cattle dung patch.
 2. Effect of a dung patch on the chemical status of the soil, and ammonia nitrogen losses from the patch. Journal of British Grassland Society, 27: 43–48.
- MacDiarmid B.N., Watkin B.R. (1972b): The cattle dung patch. 3. Distribution and rate of decay of dung patches and their influence on grazing behavior. Journal of British Grassland Society, 27: 48–54.
- Mehlich A. (1984): Mehlich 3 soil test extractant: A modification of Mehlich 2 extractant. Communications in Soil Science and Plant Analysis, 15: 1409–1416.
- Pavlů V., Velich J. (1998): The quality of pasture forage under rotational and continual grazing of heifers. Rostlinná Výroba, 44: 287–292. (In Czech)
- Pavlů V., Pavlů L., Gaisler J., Kassahun T., Hejcman M., Pavlů K. (2018): Effect of long-term grazing on dry matter biomass production and heifer performance. Grassland Science in Europe, 23: 413–415.
- Scheile T., Isselstein J., Tonn B. (2018): Herbage biomass and uptake under low-input grazing as affected by cattle and sheep excrement patches. Nutrient Cycling in Agroecosystems, 112: 277–289.
- Tonn B., Raab C., Isselstein J. (2019): Sward patterns created by patch grazing are stable over more than a decade. Grass and Forage Science, 74: 104–114.
- Whitehead D.C. (2000): Nutrient Elements in Grassland, Soil-Plant-Animal Relationships. Wallingford, CABI Publishing.
- White-Leech R., Liu K.S., Sollenberger L.E., Woodard K.R., Interrante S.M. (2013): Excreta deposition on grassland patches.I. Forage harvested, nutritive value, and nitrogen recovery. Crop Science, 53: 688–695.
- Yoshitake S., Soutome H., Koizumi H. (2014): Deposition and decomposition of cattle dung and its impact on soil properties and plant growth in a cool-temperate pasture. Ecological Research, 29: 673–684.

Received on March 27, 2019 Accepted on June 25, 2019 Published online on July 14, 2019

CHAPTER 5

Restoration management of cattle resting place in mountain grassland

Teowdroes Kassahun, Klára Pavlů, Vilem Pavlů, Lenka Pavlů, Jan Novak, Petr Blažek

PlosOne, 16(4): e0249445.





G OPEN ACCESS

Citation: Kassahun T, Pavlů K, Pavlů V, Pavlů L, Novak J, Blažek P (2021) Restoration management of cattle resting place in mountain grassland. PLoS ONE 16(4): e0249445. https://doi.org/10.1371/ journal.pone.0249445

Editor: Tunira Bhadauria, Feroze Gandhi Degree College, INDIA

Received: September 30, 2020

Accepted: March 18, 2021

Published: April 1, 2021

Copyright: © 2021 Kassahun et al. This is an open access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License, which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original author and source are credited.

Data Availability Statement: All relevant data are within the manuscript and its <u>Supporting</u> Information files.

Funding: This research was conducted under support from the Slovak Research and Development Agency (1/3453/06, https://www. apvv.sk/?lang=en); J.N. This paper was written under support from the Internal Grant Agency of Faculty of Environmental Sciences, Czech University of Life Sciences Prague, "Vertical and Horizontal sward structure of species rich upland grassland under long-term grazing management", **RESEARCH ARTICLE**

Restoration management of cattle resting place in mountain grassland

Teowdroes Kassahun¹, Klára Pavlů¹, Vilem Pavlů^{1,2}*, Lenka Pavlů², Jan Novak³, Petr Blažek^{4,5}

1 Department of Ecology, Czech University of Life Sciences Prague, Prague, Czech Republic, 2 Department of Weeds and Vegetation of Agroecosystems, Crop Research Institute, Prague, Czech Republic, 3 Faculty of Agrobiology and Food Resources, Slovak University of Agriculture in Nitra, Nitra, Slovakia, 4 Faculty of Science, Department of Botany, University of South Bohemia, České Budějovice, Czechia, 5 Institute of Entomology, Academy of Sciences of the Czech Republic, České Budějovice, Czechia

* pavlu@vurv.cz

Abstract

This study investigated the effect of restoration management of a weed-infested area, previously used as cattle resting place, on herbage production and nutrient concentrations in the soil and herbage. The experiment was undertaken from 2004 to 2011 at the National Park of Nízké Tatry, Slovakia. Three treatments were applied: (i) cutting twice per year, (ii) herbicide application, followed after three weeks by reseeding with a mixture of vascular plant species and then cut twice per year, and (iii) unmanaged. Treatments had significant effect on biomass production and concentration of nutrients in the soil and in herbage. Nutrient concentrations in herbage and in soil declined progressively under the cutting treatments and reached optimum ranges for dairy cattle at the end of the experiment when herbage N was less than 15 g kg⁻¹ and herbage P was 3.4 g kg⁻¹. There was also a strong positive relationship under the cutting treatments between soil nutrient concentrations and herbage nutrient concentrations for N, P, K, Mg and Ca. Although the cutting management as well as the combination of herbicide application with cutting management reduced nutrient concentrations in the soil and in herbage, the nutrient concentrations remained relatively high. We can conclude that restoration of grassland covered with weedy species like Urtica dioica and Rumex obtusifolius, with excessive levels of soil nutrients, cannot be achieved just by cutting and herbicide application.

Introduction

Grasslands are one of the most important components of the landscape in temperate regions of Europe [1]. Although the development of grasslands, and semi-natural grasslands in particular, is largely related to the history of agricultural management, their existence faces serious threats from either intensification of management or from land abandonment. These threats have increased especially in recent decades [2]. It is widely assumed that when grazing is stopped and abandonment proceeds, a natural succession would take place leading to restoration of the land to its climax state, which is typically dominated by perennials [3].

No. 20194211 (https://www.fzp.czu.cz/cs/r-6897veda-a-vyzkum/r-7266-interni-granty); T.K., K.P., V.P. and the Ministry of Agriculture of the Czech Republic (RO0418, http://eagri.cz/public/web/mze/); V.P., L.P. The funders had no role in study design, data collection and analysis, decision to publish, or preparation of the manuscript.

Competing interests: The authors have declared that no competing interests exist.

Unfortunately, this does not happen often and instead it remains dominated by annual species [4] and invasive annual weeds. Persistence of many annual species in grassland is further supported by the increased rate of nutrient turnover, which is facilitated by the invasion of exotic annual species [5]. This challenge is exacerbated in high-altitude grasslands that were previously managed by regular grazing or as resting places for cattle, where they typically receive excessive nutrient returns from cattle excreta.

Restoration of botanical composition of semi-natural grasslands in these situations requires a reduction in the cover of weed species and improved performance of the perennial native species. This requires an integrated approach using multiple techniques, such as mechanical disturbance, fire, and in some cases the use of herbicides [6]. Among the various methods, the use of herbicide has been found to be an effective way to reduce or control weeds in grassland ecosystems, especially when mechanical control is expected to be too damaging [7]. Different types of herbicides are used, sometimes with formulations designed to target specific species such as *Rumex* spp., and others that are non-selective. Glyphosate is one of the most frequently used herbicides in the global market due to its effectiveness, relatively low cost, and its broad-spectrum application [8]. When the objective is to increase native species abundance and richness, broadcast spraying of herbicides is recommended [9,10]. Other studies recommend application of herbicide before the introduction of native species in order to open the sward and thereby increase opportunities for greater seedling density and survival.

Since its introduction in the 1970s, glyphosate remained popular among farmers across the world due to its broad-spectrum weed control capability [11]. During these periods, several countries in Central Europe such as Slovakia were struggling with the challenge of managing invasive weed species. Unfortunately, herbicide was widely used and glyphosate was the chosen chemical. Several studies have been conducted documenting the sever effects glyphosate based herbicide products and its wide spread presence in aquatic and terrestrial environments [12]. Among the main concern regarding glyphosate is its negative effect on non-target plant tissues and unintended areas through process like off target herbicide movement and root uptake [11]. Other consequences of glyphosate include reduction in soil dwelling earthworms reproduction capacity [13], bringing behavioral change in honey bees [14] and affecting the growth of aquatic bacteria and microalgae [15]. When application of herbicide is considered as unsuitable (e.g. due to off-site effects) cutting or mowing is considered [16,17]. Cutting especially has several attributes that can help control weeds. It can arrest flowering of weeds and thereby minimize the production of seeds and breaking their life cycle, leading to their eradication, and it can also increase tillering in some grasses and promote defoliation tolerant species [18-20].

Although the negative effects of non-selective herbicide application is well documented, very little is known about the effects of herbicide application combined with cutting, on changes in the nutrient content in herbage and soil, especially in mountain grasslands that are normally managed by grazing or used as a resting place. When control of invasive plant species is planned, intervention measures or control methods must be assessed not only in terms of their effectiveness in removing targeted species but also their impact on the ecosystem [21]. Herbicides like glyphosate are normally sprayed directly on to growing plants, and never applied intentionally on to the soil. Nevertheless, in open swards especially, there is a high chance that a significant portion may reach the soil surface during application. This technique was widely used in Slovakia, to eradicate invasive species. Against this background, a study was conducted in a mountain grassland area in Slovakia that is covered with weedy species (*Rumex obtusifolius* and *Urtica dioica*). In order to attempt to restore the grassland to its previous status, treatments that included a restoration measure of cutting and of herbicide (glyphosate) application combined with cutting, followed by reseeding with mixed grass species were

applied. These treatments were selected based on discussion with administrators and managers of the study site (National Park of Nízké Tatry, Slovakia) and the existing practice of defoliation (cutting) and herbicide application, which was widely used in the country during the study period. However, this approach raised a number of critically important questions that justified the monitoring of the site for 8 years and which are reported in this paper. These questions are: does cutting management, herbicide application, or a combination of both followed by reseeding have an effect on (i) herbage productivity; (ii) nutrient concentrations in herbage and soil, and (iii) how fast are nutrients depleted from the soil.

Materials and methods

Study site and experiment design

This study was conducted with approval from the Ministry of Environment of the Slovak Republic.

In 2004, a randomized block experiment was set up at 1140 m a.s.l. in the National Park of Nízké Tatry (48°51.22'N, 19°14.57'E), Slovakia. At the study site, the mean annual precipitation and temperature were 800 mm and 8°C respectively. The snow cover, which is higher than 10 mm, is 160 days per year. The soil type is classified as cambisol, and as the depth of the soil increases the lower the proportion of clay and silt fraction and the higher the proportion of sand fraction. The most dominant species recorded in the experiment plots were *U. dioica*, and *R. obtusifolius*. The total cover (%) of forbs, grasses, legumes and the mean value of the most abundant species in the experiment site under each treatment for the year 2004 (start of the experiment) and 2011 (end of the experiment) are shown in Table 1.

Table 1. 1	Total cover (%)	of forbs, grasses,	legumes and the	cover (%) of the mo	ost abundant species	in each treatment.
------------	-----------------	--------------------	-----------------	---------------------	----------------------	--------------------

	2004		2011					
Species	Treatment							
	Baseline	U	2CH	2C				
Achillea millefolium	0±0.00	0±0.00	8±0.57	5±0.57				
Alchemilla vulgaris	0±0.00	0±0.00	5.25±0.57	3.75±1.15				
Agrostis capillaris	0±0.00	0±0.00	0.75±0.57	4.5±0.57				
Dactylis glomerata	1±0.33	0±0.00	3±0.00	1±0.00				
Festuca pratensis	0±0.00	0±0.00	6.25±1.0	1.5±0.57				
Festuca rubra ssp. rubra	0±0.00	0±0.00	4.5±1.15	1.5±0.57				
Myosotis sylvatica	4±0.53	4.25±0.00	0±0.00	0±0.00				
Phleum pratense	0±0.00	0±0.00	10±1.00	0±0.00				
Poa pratensis	0±0.00	0±0.00	7.5±0.57	0±0.00				
Poa trivialis	4±1.41	3.75±0.57	0±0.57	13.25±1.00				
Ranunculus repens	0±0.00	0±0.00	0.5±0.57	9.25±1.00				
Rumex obtusifolius	76.5±1.20	76±0.57	0±0.00	3±1.00				
Taraxacum officinale agg.	0±0.00	0±0.00	6.5±0.57	7±1.53				
Trifolium repens	0±0.00	0±0.00	23±1.15	25.5±1.53				
Trisetum flavescens	0±0.00	0±0.00	11.25±0.57	5±1.00				
Urtica dioica	14.5±0.83	15±0.00	0±0.00	0±0.00				
Total cover of grass	5±1.27	4.75±0.57	43.75±2.64	27.25±3.78				
Total cover of legumes	0±0.00	0±0.00	27.5±0.57	27±1.73				
Total cover of forbs	95±1.30	95.25±0.57	28.75±1.53	34±3.61				

Numbers represent mean values in unmanaged (U), cutting twice per year (2C) and herbicide application, after three weeks reseeded with grass mixture and cut twice per year (2CH) for the year 2004 and 2011. ± Value indicate Standard deviation (S.D.).

https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0249445.t001

The experimental site was previously used for grazing and then for herding of heifers. However, during the decade before 2004, it was abandoned without any grazing or cutting management. The experiment was arranged in four randomized blocks each with the following treatments: (i) Unmanaged (U), (ii) Cutting twice per year (2C), and (iii) Herbicide application and, after three weeks, it was reseeded with 18 mixture of vascular plant species (list of species see Table 2) and subsequently cut twice per year (2CH). Glyphosate (active substance IPA 480 g.l.; Roundup; Monsanto) herbicide was applied on to the leaves of plants at 3 l ha⁻¹ (0.30 ml agent + 20 ml water on 1 m²) with a sprayer in the spring of 2004. Altogether 12 (three treatments x four blocks) plots were established for the experiment with each plot measuring 15 m².

Herbage biomass production and herbage chemical properties

The above ground dry matter (DM) biomass production for the whole vegetation season was determined in each of the years 2005–2011. It was calculated as the sum of sampled DM biomass (harvested in the spring and autumn for 2C and 2CH treatments). The harvested biomass in each treatment was measured in sub plots each of 6×2.5 m within each of the 15 m² experimental plots. In each treatment plot, the above ground biomass was cut 3 cm above the ground. In order to avoid any residual effect of herbage collection from previous years, the sampling for the U treatment was conducted from different sub plots outside the designated experimental plots in each year. To determine the DM content of biomass, and thus the DM yield, the harvested herbage samples were weighed fresh, and oven dried at 80°C.

Concentrations of N, P, K, Mg and Ca were determined from the herbage samples collected in autumn for the DM biomass determinations. The samples were used for analysis, after digestion in aqua regia by ICP-OES. The crude fibre was determined using Weende analysis [22].

Species	Proportion of the mixture (%)
Dactylis glomerata L.	25.00
Festuca pratensis Huds.	10.00
Phleum pratense L.	10.00
Poa pratensis L.	10.00
Festuca rubra L.	5.00
Trisetum flavescens (L.) P Beauv.	5.00
Trifolium repens L.	15.00
Trifolium pratense L.	3.00
Lotus corniculatus L.	3.00
Plantago lanceolata L.	2.00
Achillea millefolium L.	2.00
Carum carvi L.	2.00
Taraxacum officinale Weber	2.00
Alchemilla vulgaris L.	2.00
Daucus carota L.	1.00
Acetosa pratensis Mill.	1.00
Leucanthemum vulgare Lam.	1.00
Prunella vulgaris L.	1.00

Table 2. List of vascular plant species that were reseeded after application of herbicide on the 2CH treatment (herbicide application, then after three weeks reseeded with grass mixture and cut twice per year).

https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0249445.t002

Soil chemical properties

Every autumn (in September) after the last round of cutting, soil samples (consisting of three sub samples) were randomly collected from depths of 0–10 cm and 10–20 cm of the soil profile using an auger, from each of the 15 m² treatment plots for the years 2004 to 2011. The soil samples were oven dried at 100 °C, ground in a mortar, and sieved to 2 mm after removal of biomass residues and living roots. Soil pH was determined in potassium chloride solutions. Plant-available P, K, Mg, Ca were extracted by Mehlich III reagent [23]. Total Nitrogen (N_{tot}) was determined using the Kjeldahl method and soil organic carbon (C_{org}) using the oxidimetric method according to Tiurin.

Statistical analysis

A general linear model (GLM) with treatment as fixed effects, replication as a random effect and year as continuous predictor was used to identify the effect of year, treatment and the year x treatment interaction, on nutrient concentrations in the herbage and in the soil for the whole experiment period. One-way ANOVA followed by Tukey HSD test was used to identify significant differences between treatments for chemical properties of soil and herbage for the last year of the experiment (2011). In order to control for false-discovery rate (FDR), we applied Benjamini-Hochberg's procedure [24]. All univariate analyses were performed using Statistica 13.1 [25].

To illustrate the influence of treatments on nutrient concentration of the soil and the herbage over the entire experiment period, a partial principal component analysis (pPCA) with replication as covariate was conducted. Canoco 5 was used to perform pPCA [26]. Moreover, to identify the relationship between plant available nutrients in the soil and the nutrient contents in the herbage a linear regression analysis was applied.

Results

Herbage biomass production

As anticipated, the data on DM biomass showed considerable annual variation especially during the early stages of the experiment. The response of biomass production to treatments resulted in statistically significant differences between U, 2C, and 2CH treatments. The GLM analysis showed that DM biomass was significantly affected by year and treatment (P<0.001) as well as the interaction of year x treatment (P<0.001) (Table 3). From 2005 to 2011, the mean annual values of herbage biomass production were as follows: 7.1 t ha⁻¹ (U), 6.3 t ha⁻¹ (2C) and 5.9 t ha⁻¹ (2CH). Total DM biomass remained above 7 t ha⁻¹ under the U treatment and remained stable during the entire experiment period, while under 2C treatment it slowly but continuously declined from approximately 7 to 6 t ha⁻¹ (Fig 1). A large increase in DM biomass was observed under the 2CH treatment, from 2.5 to 6.5 t ha⁻¹ at the beginning of the experiment, and it then stabilized at 6.3 t ha⁻¹ (Fig 1). During the 7 years of biomass sampling, DM biomass production was significantly higher and stable under U, but after 2 years of the experiment, the DM under the cut treatments (2C and 2 CH) also became stable (Fig 1).

Herbage chemical properties

The GLM analysis revealed a significant effect of treatment on herbage nutrient concentrations of P, Mg and Ca, but not on crude fiber (CF), N and K. However, a significant effect of the year, and the interaction of year x treatment, was recorded for all nutrient concentrations except CF (Table 3; Fig 2). The results of one-way ANOVA showed that treatment had an effect on all herbage chemical properties except on CF (Table 4).

			Year		Treatment		Year x Treatment	
		F-ratio	P-value	F-ratio	P-value	F-ratio	P-value	
Herbage	DM (%)	8.23	0.005	29.36	<0.001	17.88	<0.001	
	Crude Fibre	6.50	0.013	2.92	0.060	2.63	0.078	
	N	253.67	<0.001	0.24	0.781	64.73	<0.001	
	Р	326.79	<0.001	17.33	<0.001	80.33	<0.001	
	K	292.26	<0.001	0.08	0.923	71.54	<0.001	
	Mg	31.13	<0.001	21.48	<0.001	8.12	<0.001	
	Ca	51.63	<0.001	3.59	0.032	12.40	<0.001	
Soil								
	N _{tot}	178.29	<0.001	0.31	0.737	49.01	<0.001	
	Р	76.99	<0.001	4.59	0.013	19.19	<0.001	
	K	171.17	<0.001	1.16	0.318	49.12	<0.001	
	Mg	67.08	<0.001	0.22	0.805	18.12	<0.001	
	Ca	27.28	<0.001	1.71	0.181	3.53	0.034	
	C _{org}	10.96	<0.001	0.02	0.980	3.92	0.023	
	C: N	204.17	<0.001	1.81	0.170	48.12	<0.001	
	pH/KCl	15.51	<0.001	5.08	0.008	3.49	0.034	

Table 3. Result of GLM analysis (year, treatment, year x treatment) of herbage and soil chemical properties for the whole experiment period.

F represents the value derived from *F* statistics in GLM and *P* represents the resulting probability value. Significant results (after table-wise Benjamini-Hochberg's FDR correction) are highlighted in bold.

https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0249445.t003

The mean concentration of N in herbage dry matter ranged from 14.56 g kg⁻¹ (2C) to 30.73 g kg⁻¹ (U) and the mean concentration of P ranged from 3.39 g kg⁻¹ (2CH) to 4.37 g kg⁻¹ (U). Similarly, the lowest concentrations of Mg and K were under treatment 2CH and the highest under treatment U, and ranged from 1.67 g kg⁻¹ to 2.59 g kg⁻¹ and 19.94 g kg⁻¹ to 37.12 g kg⁻¹, respectively. The mean concentration of Ca ranged from 2.24 g kg⁻¹ (2CH) to 5.24 g kg⁻¹ (U) (Table 4).

During the course of the experiment, significant amounts of nutrients were removed in harvested herbage under the cutting treatments. The removal of nutrients at the beginning of the experiment was much greater than in the last year of sampling. For instance, 135 kg ha⁻¹ of N, 21.59 kg ha⁻¹ of P and 171.31 kg ha⁻¹ of K were removed under the 2C treatment at the start of the experiment. In contrast only 60.15 kg ha⁻¹ of N, 14.09 kg ha⁻¹ of P and 87 kg ha⁻¹ of K were removed under 2C in the last year of the experiment (Table 5). Under the 2CH treatment the amount of nutrient concentrations removed in the first year was the lowest compared to the other sampling years. This is consistent with the amount of herbage biomass produced in the same period, which was also low as the treatment was reseeded with grass mixture during that period.

Soil chemical properties

Concentrations of N_{tot}, C_{org}, the plant available nutrients K, Mg and Ca, and the C: N in the soil were not significantly affected by treatments. However, year and the interaction of year x treatment, showed significant effects on all concentrations (Table 3; Fig 3). The one-way ANOVA result showed treatment had a significant effect on the soil chemical properties at the end of the experiment (Table 4). The mean concentrations of N, P, K, Mg and pH/KCL were lowest under the cut treatments (2C and 2CH) and the highest under U treatment, and ranged from 3007.50 mg kg⁻¹ to 6825 mg kg⁻¹, 75.04 mg kg⁻¹ to 400.01 mg kg⁻¹, 250.10 mg kg⁻¹ to



Fig 1. Dry matter biomass production in investigated treatments over the years 2005–2011. Error bars represent standard error of the mean (SE). For treatment abbreviation (U, 2C, 2CH) see Table 1.

https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0249445.g001

920.11 mg kg⁻¹, 197.50 mg kg⁻¹ to 455.03 mg kg⁻¹ and from 4.55 to 4.83 respectively. The C_{org} and the C:N ratio ranged from 50 220.11 (2C) to 60 810.01 (U) and 8.91 (U) to 16.71 (2C) respectively. The mean concentration of Ca ranged from 1455 mg kg⁻¹ (2CH) to 2512 mg kg⁻¹ (U) (Table 4).

Soil and herbage chemical properties

The pPCA analysis displayed the development and the decline of nutrient concentrations in the soil as well as in the herbage through the course of the experiment. The ordination showed nutrients under U treatment stable throughout the experiment period. In contrast, nutrient concentrations in the herbage and in the soil under the cutting treatments (2C and 2CH) declined starting from the second year, representing 64% of variation for the first axis. There were also small fluctuations in C:N and Ca in the soil as well as pH, representing about 10% of variation in the second axis (Fig 4).

In the cutting (2C and 2CH) treatments, the concentrations of N, P, K, Mg and Ca in the herbage increased with increasing concentrations of plant available N, P, K, Mg and Ca (Fig



Fig 2. Concentration of Ca (A), Crude fiber (B), K (C), Mg (D), N (E) and P (F) in the herbage. Error bars represent standard error of the means (SE). For treatment abbreviation (U, 2C, 2CH) see Table 1.

https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0249445.g002

5). Under U treatment, the concentrations of Ca, K and N in the herbage was negatively related to the concentrations of plant available Ca, K and N (Fig 5A, 5C and 5E). In contrast, the concentrations of P and Mg in the U treatment were related positively, and similar to the cutting treatments (Fig 5B and 5D).

Discussion

Herbage biomass production

Based on the results from the studied site, we could classify the site as a productive grassland with herbage productivity ranging from 6 to 7.4 t ha⁻¹ per year, which is very high for Central European conditions that normally exhibit only 2 to 4 t ha⁻¹ per year [27]. Even though we observed a decline in nutrients (discussed later) resulting from the removal of biomass from cutting, the site still produced a high amount of herbage dry matter for Central European conditions. This may indicate a high nutrient reserve within the soil. The variation in the DM biomass production observed during the early period of the experiment could be attributed to climatic conditions such as temperature and precipitation distribution during the vegetation season, as well as the species composition, management applied and altitude [28,29]. Such variability in biomass production is expected and similar results have been reported in other long-term studies in Central Europe [30–32]. One major outcome from this study is that biomass production did not increase either in response to the cutting or to the combination of cutting and herbicide application. Rather it continued to slowly decline and it stabilized throughout the experiment period under the cutting treatments (2C and 2CH). The sharp rise

Characteristics	U	2C	2CH	F- ratio	P- value
Herbage nutrient					
CF g kg ⁻¹	223.82±0.89	222.99±1.35	225.18±0.86	1.11	0.38
N g kg ⁻¹	30.73±0.34 a	14.56±0.22 b	14.97±0.04 b	1501.01	<0.001
P g kg ⁻¹	4.37±0.021 a	3.44±0.04 b	3.39±0.07 b	143.44	<0.001
K g kg ⁻¹	37.12±0.02 a	21.51±0.23 b	19.94±0.16 c	3458.48	<0.001
Mg g kg ⁻¹	2.59±0.01 a	1.86±0.02 b	1.67±0.06 c	181.49	<0.001
Cagkg ⁻¹	5.24±0.03 a	2.28±0.02 b	2.24±0.20 b	5647.75	<0.001
Soil Chemical Properties					
N _{tot} mg kg ⁻¹	6825.01±128.41 a	3007.50±170.41 c	4075.11±155.91 b	166.63	<0.001
P mg kg ⁻¹	400.01±7.07 a	75.04±2.88 b	135.00±26.29 b	119.62	<0.001
K mg kg ⁻¹	920.11±1.66 a	267.50±12.50 b	250.10±18.25 b	893.58	<0.001
Mg mg kg ⁻¹	455.03±17.08 a	197.50±7.50 b	222.51±19.31 b	83.92	<0.001
Ca mg kg ⁻¹	2512.50±26.57 a	1455.01±79.74 b	2115.11±215.27 a	16.02	<0.001
C _{org}	60810.01±1057.88 a	50220.11±2616.81 b	66047.51±1573.98 a	18.67	<0.001
C: N	8.91±0.04 b	16.71±0.11 a	16.23±0.24 a	784.46	<0.001
pH/KCl	4.83±0.01 a	4.59±0.03 b	4.55±0.03 b	30.21	<0.001

Table 4. Mean soil and herbage characteristics and mean dr	v matter biomass under the different treatments in 2011.
Tuble in hiteun bon und nerbuge endrueter ibitee und mean u	

F-ratio = F-statistics for the test of a particular analysis, P-value = corresponding probability value, d.f = (2, 9) in all tests. The numbers reflect the average of four replicates, \pm standard error of the mean (SE). Significant results (after table-wise Benjamini-Hochberg's FDR correction) were highlighted in bold. Significant differences between treatments in Tukey test are indicated by different lower-case letters (alphabetic order represents decreasing values of means, i.e. a represents the largest mean). For treatment abbreviation (U, 2C, 2CH) see Table 1.

https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0249445.t004

in biomass production at the early stage of the experiment under 2CH treatment is most likely due to the effect of reseeding, which was done at the start of the experiment. Furthermore, the continued decline of N_{tot} and of plant available P and K in the soil (discussed later) also

Year	Treatment		Nutrients					
		N (kg ha ⁻¹)	P (kg ha ⁻¹)	K (kg ha ⁻¹)	Mg (kg ha ⁻¹)	Ca (kg ha ⁻¹)		
2005	2C	135.97	21.59	171.31	11.251	21.30		
	2CH	56.67	8.93	71.27	3.97	8.47		
2006	2C	110.89	18.511	133.35	9.75	17.46		
	2CH	114.83	17.92	137.47	9.05	17.82		
2007	2C	82.13	17.654	112.02	11.05	9.49		
	2CH	81.65	16.34	110.25	7.73	10.18		
2008	2C	71.79	16.02	100.26	10.34	16.08		
	2CH	77.30	16.29	105.53	7.26	15.98		
2009	2C	71.13	15.57	95.49	9.77	14.48		
	2CH	75.92	15.66	100.03	8.50	11.06		
2010	2C	66.56	15.02	91.00	9.29	11.57		
	2CH	66.58	15.24	95.17	7.58	10.48		
2011	2C	60.15	14.09	87.89	7.61	9.28		
	2CH	64.59	14.71	86.01	7.24	9.71		
Total	2C	598.65	118.48	789.58	69.08	99.68		
	2CH	537.59	105.12	707.53	51.36	83.70		

Numbers represent average of four replicates. For treatment abbreviation (2C and 2CH) see Table 1.

https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0249445.t005



Fig 3. Concentrations of Ca (A), C_{org} (B), C: N (C), K (D), Mg (E), Total N (F), P (G) and pH/KCl (H), in the soil (0–10 cm). Error bars represent standard error of the means (SE). For treatment abbreviation (U, 2C, 2CH) see Table 1.

https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0249445.g003

showed similar patterns of decline under the 2C and 2CH treatments. This could be one of the reasons for the continuous decline in biomass production under the cutting treatments. However, the decline in biomass production under cutting management over the duration of the experiment were not huge. This may indicate a relatively high content of N_{tot} , and of plant available P and K in the soil, especially at the start of the experiment.

Herbage chemical properties

The concentration of P in the herbage declined and reached 3.39 g kg⁻¹ under the 2CH treatment at the end of the experiment, whereas at the beginning of the experiment there was a very high concentration of P of around 4.7 g kg⁻¹, indicating that biomass growth was not limited by P [33] A relatively high herbage P concentration recorded in the early periods of the experiment could be explained by the high presence of weedy *U. dioica*, in the harvested biomass, which is typically characterized by high concentrations of P [34]. The high concentration of P recorded even under the U treatment is quite remarkable when compared to the low concentration (less than 2 g kg⁻¹) recorded in low productive semi-natural grasslands [35,36]. Similarly, the high concentrations of K, N and Ca in the herbage, especially during the early periods of the experiment, in all treatments (though much more and stable under U), but declining under 2C and 2CH, could also be attributed to the dominant presence of *U. dioica* and *R. obtusifolius*, in the harvested biomass as these weed species are considered to have high concentrations of P, N and Ca [34,37–39]. The high nutrient concentrations recorded under the unmanaged treatments is very much connected to the high production of *U. dioica*



development over the years from 2005 to 2011. The first and the second axis explain 64% and 10%, respectively. Labels include nutrient names and abbreviations: B—herbage nutrient, S—soil nutrient, Fib–crude fibre. Sample labels include treatment abbreviations (see Table 1) and year of sampling.

https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0249445.g004

compared with other grassland species. Hence, a higher nutrient concentration is recorded on the above ground biomass under unmanaged treatments throughout the experiment period [40]. On the other hand, the cutting (2C and 2CH) treatments had lower nutrients, which may be explained by the consistent and continuous removal of nutrients that occurs under cutting (Table 5).



Fig 5. Relationship between concentrations of calcium (A), phosphorus (B), potassium (C), magnesium (D) and nitrogen (E) in the herbage and in the soil. For treatment abbreviation (U, 2C, 2CH) see Table 1.

https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0249445.g005

At the start of the experiment the relative high proportion of forbs, which were mostly represented by *U. dioica*, and *R. obtusifolius* in the unmanaged treatment (Table 1) are largely responsible for the high concentrations of nutrients in the herbage. It is common for certain plant functional groups to dominate a grassland after cessation of grazing, and the functional groups are dominated by species that are best suited to the given habitat [41]. In contrast, after the introduction of management (2C and 2CH), it was possible to see that in the final year of the experiment (2011) a significant increase in the cover of graminoids (Table 1) which have relatively lower mineral concentrations than forbs [42,43]. This shift from forbs to graminoids could explain the decline in herbage nutrient concentrations in the 2C and 2CH treatments. According to [44], the optimal concentrations of P and N in the herbage for dairy cattle ranges from 2.3 to 3.7 g kg⁻¹ and 19.2 to 25.6 g kg⁻¹ respectively. In this study, the optimal values or ranges under the cutting management were reached relatively rapidly in the last years of the experiment.

Soil chemical properties

Similar to the changes in nutrient concentrations in herbage, the major plant available nutrients N, P, K and Mg in soil on the experiment site showed a decline over the duration of the study under the cutting treatments (2C and 2CH). Although the amount of nutrients that are removed via harvested biomass each year is relatively small [45], it is well documented that cutting with biomass removal over a sustained period can result in nutrient depletion from the soil in the absence of any compensatory fertilizer application [46,47]. The decline for all plant available nutrients in the 0-10 cm soil layer was very similar to the decline recorded for all plant available nutrients in the 10-20 cm soil layers (S1 Fig). For instance, the decline in concentration of P is consistent with a reported decline in concentration of plant available P in a long-term cutting management without application of P and K fertilizer [48]. Similarly, plant available K concentration was expected to decrease under the cutting treatments, as this has been reported in other studies [48,49]. It is generally possible to remove K from the soil quickly by cutting and removing herbage, but similar rapid removal of P is less likely [50]. This result also indicates a positive relationship between the concentrations of herbage P and K and plant available concentrations of P and K (discussed later), which was also confirmed in another study in the Czech Republic [40]. Not surprisingly, the nutrient concentrations in the soil under the U treatment remained largely stable throughout the experiment period. This could be explained by the absence of management and thus no removal of herbage, which would otherwise have led to removal of nutrients similar to that of the plots with cutting treatments.

The removal of Ca and Mg in the soil under the cutting treatments was relatively small. This might be explained by the limited duration of the experiment, which was conducted for only 8 years, as significant removal of such nutrients is likely to require a long-term period [46,48,51]. Concerning the use of the herbicide glyphosate, it contains C, N, and P and these are essential nutrients for soil microorganisms, and the microorganisms acquire C and N by decomposing plant residues and other organic material added to the soil. The ratio of C:N in glyphosate is 3:1 (considered as low) and this may definitely have an immediate impact on soil microbial activity [52]. In our study the C:N ratio under the 2CH treatment showed increases every year. This may indicate that glyphosate application made a contribution to the increased rate of C and N mineralization [53] on the experiment site.

Soil and herbage chemical properties

Despite the variation in the different axes, the patterns illustrated by the pPCA largely overlapped with the GLM results and, after two years of the experiment, concentrations of most

nutrients in the soil, as well as in the herbage, declined sharply except under the unmanaged plots. Even though we can see decline in the nutrient concentrations, they remain high in terms of requirements for grassland species in all treatments. This is perhaps because the area was previously used over a long period (since the 15th century firstly as resting place for sheep and then for heifer) as a resting place for heifers, which would have resulted in excessive amounts of nutrient deposition through urine and faeces on the site. Furthermore, the sharp decline in nutrient concentrations at the early stage of the experiment, which has not been commonly observed in other experiments, can be explained by the high initial amounts of available nutrients in the area as well as the dominance of some nutrient-rich species like *U. dioica* and *R. obtusifolius*.

The nutrient concentration analyses of P, K, N, Mg and Ca in the herbage and in the soil revealed that the cutting management with biomass removal had an effect on nutrient concentrations in both the soil and in herbage. This could be one of the reasons for the strong positive correlation shown (2C and 2CH) between the herbage and plant available concentrations of P, K, N and Ca. This finding is consistent with the conclusions of previous work [40,50,54], that found P and K showing strong relationships between the soil and herbage concentrations. However, the positive relationship between total soil N content and the concentration of N in the herbage under the cutting management in the current study was contrary to the findings of [50] that showed a negative relationship indicating high total N content in the soil, which means poor soil quality and slow mineralization. The current study was conducted on a site that was used previously as a resting place for cattle, unlike the other studies such as [50], which was a cutting experiment without cattle. Due to the presence of cattle and the site being used as a resting place, high amounts of nutrients through deposition of dung and urine on the site are to be expected. According to [55] the amount of nutrients supplied from dung on an individual patch are $40-60 \text{ g N/m}^2$, $14-20 \text{ g P/m}^2$, $16-25 \text{ g K/m}^2$, $40-60 \text{ g Ca/m}^2$ and 10-14 g Mg/m^2 . Hence, dung deposition has a significant effect on the chemical status of the soil and thus presents a potential source of available nutrients for plants [56,57]. Furthermore, urine is another source of nutrient especially N, which occurs primarily as a hydrolyzed urea, and is easily plant-available after deposition [58] and enables increased plant biomass N uptake and biomass productivity [59,60].

Conclusions

- 1. The introduction of cutting management as well as a combination of cutting with herbicide application and reseeding had effects on herbage production and nutrient concentration in the herbage as well as in the soil.
- 2. The optimum range of nutrient concentrations in the forage (N and P) which is suitable for dairy cattle were reached within 8 years with low frequency of cutting management.
- 3. Even though the decline of nutrients from the soil associated with biomass removal was relatively high and fast compared with that of other long-term studies in central Europe, the study still showed that high amounts of nutrients remained. If the management applied on the experiment site were to be stopped or interrupted, we would expect that the weeds (*U. dioica and R. obtusifolius*) would emerge and become dominant once again. Therefore, removal of nutrients as well as eradication or suppression of *U. dioica and R. obtusifolius* with cutting management alone for some years will not be sufficient when the soil contains excess amounts of key nutrients.

4. Finally, considering the result from this experiment and other similar studies, we can see treatment with herbicide (glyphosate) application combined with cutting (2CH) did not demonstrate significant difference in removing nutrient from the soil/herbage compared to the nature friendly cut treatment (2C). We conclude restoration measures in national parks or other protected areas are better off without the application of destructive and non-selective herbicide as a potential measure against invasive weed species.

Supporting information

S1 Fig. Concentration of Ca (A), Cox (B), C:N (C), K (D), Mg (E), Total N (F), P (G) and pH/ KCl (H), in the soil (10–20 cm). Error bars represent standard error of the means (SE). For treatment abbreviation (U, 2C, 2CH) see <u>Table 1</u>. (DOCX)

S1 Table. Botanical composition of semi-natural grassland species in the vicinity of the experiment. (DOCX)

Author Contributions

Conceptualization: Vilem Pavlů, Lenka Pavlů, Jan Novak.

Data curation: Vilem Pavlů, Jan Novak.

Formal analysis: Teowdroes Kassahun, Petr Blažek.

Funding acquisition: Teowdroes Kassahun, Klára Pavlů, Vilem Pavlů.

Investigation: Vilem Pavlů, Jan Novak.

Methodology: Teowdroes Kassahun, Petr Blažek.

Supervision: Vilem Pavlů, Lenka Pavlů.

Writing - original draft: Teowdroes Kassahun, Klára Pavlů.

Writing - review & editing: Teowdroes Kassahun, Vilem Pavlů, Lenka Pavlů.

References

- 1. Huyghe C, De Vliegher A, Goliński P. European grassland overview: temperate region. In: Grassland Science in Europe, vol 19—EGF at 50: the future of European grasslands. 2014. p. 29–39.
- Galvánek D, Lepš J. How do management and restoration needs of mountain grasslands depend on moisture regime? Experimental study from north-western Slovakia (Western Carpathians). Appl Veg Sci. 2009;(12):273–82.
- 3. George MR, Brown JR, Clawson WJ. Application of nonequilibrium ecology to management of Mediterranean grasslands. J Range Manag. 1992; 45(5):436–9.
- Rietkerk M, van de Koppel J. Alternate Stable States and Threshold Effects in Semi-Arid Grazing Systems. Oikos. 1997;(79):69–76.
- Norton JB, Monaco TA, Norton JM, Johnson DA, Jones TA. Soil morphology and organic matter dynamics under cheatgrass and sagebrush-steppe plant communities. J Arid Environ. 2004;(57):445– 66.
- 6. Gibbons S.T and Youtie B. An examination of annual grass control methods for use on the Lawrence Memorial Grassland Preserve. Bull Ecol Soc Am. 1996.
- 7. Stover HJ, Naeth MA, Wilkinson SR. Glyphosate, steam and cutting for non-native plant control in Alberta fescue grassland restoration. Appl Veg Sci. 2017;(20):608–19.

- Benbrook CM. Trends in glyphosate herbicide use in the United States and globally. Environ Sci Eur. 2016;(3):28. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12302-016-0070-0 PMID: 27752438
- Simmons MT, Windhager S, Power P, Lott J, Lyons RK, Schwope C. Selective and non-selective control of invasive plants: The short-term effects of growing-season prescribed fire, herbicide, and mowing in two texas prairies. Restor Ecol. 2007;(15):662–9.
- Orloff LN, Mangold JM, Menalled FD. Site-specific effects of exotic annual grass control integrated with revegetation. Ecol Restor. 2015;(33):147–55.
- Kanissery R, Gairhe B, Kadyampakeni D, Batuman O, Alferez F. Glyphosate: Its environmental persistence and impact on crop health and nutrition. Plants. 2019. p. 499. <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/plants8110499 PMID: 31766148</u>
- Hanke I, Wittmer I, Bischofberger S, Stamm C, Singer H. Relevance of urban glyphosate use for surface water quality. Chemosphere. 2010;(81):422–9. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chemosphere.2010.06. 067 PMID: 20696461
- Gaupp-Berghausen M, Hofer M, Rewald B, Zaller JG. Glyphosate-based herbicides reduce the activity and reproduction of earthworms and lead to increased soil nutrient concentrations. Sci Rep. 2015; (5):12886. https://doi.org/10.1038/srep12886 PMID: 26243044
- Balbuena MS, Tison L, Hahn ML, Greggers U, Menzel R, Farina WM. Effects of sublethal doses of glyphosate on honeybee navigation. J Exp Biol. 2015;(218):2799–805. <u>https://doi.org/10.1242/jeb.</u> 117291 PMID: 26333931
- Tsui MTK, Chu LM. Aquatic toxicity of glyphosate-based formulations: Comparison between different organisms and the effects of environmental factors. Chemosphere. 2003;(52):1189–97. <u>https://doi.org/ 10.1016/S0045-6535(03)00306-0 PMID: 12821000</u>
- Wilson SD, Gerry AK. Strategies for Mixed-Grass Prairie Restoration: Herbicide, Tilling, and Nitrogen Manipulation. Restor Ecol. 1995;(3):290–8.
- Stromberg MR, Kephart P. Restoring Native Grasses in California Old Fields. Ecol Restor. 1996; (14):102–11.
- Wilson M V., Clark DL. Controlling invasive Arrhenatherum elatius and promoting native prairie grasses through mowing. Appl Veg Sci. 2001;(4):129–38.
- 19. Nuzzo VA. Experimental control of Garlic Mustard Alliaria-Petiolata Bieb. Cavara and granda in northern Illinois USA using fire herbicide and cutting. Nat Areas J. 1991; 11(3):158–67.
- Kimball S, Lulow ME, Mooney KA, Sorenson QM. Establishment and management of native functional groups in restoration. Restor Ecol. 2014;(22):81–8.
- 21. Flory SL, Clay K. Invasive plant removal method determines native plant community responses. J Appl Ecol. 2009;(46):434–42.
- 22. A.O.A.C. Official Methods of Analysis. 15th Editi. Washington, DC: Association of Official Analytical Chemist; 1990.
- 23. Mehlich A. Mehlich 3 Soil Test Extractant: A Modification of Mehlich 2 Extractant. Commun Soil Sci Plant Anal. 1984;(15):1409–16.
- Verhoeven KJF, Simonsen KL, McIntyre LM. Implementing false discovery rate control: Increasing your power. Oikos. 2005;(108):643–7.
- 25. Dell I. Dell Statistica (data analysis software system), version 13.1 software. dell.com. Tulsa, USA; 2019.
- 26. Ter Braak CJF, Smilauer P. Canoco (version 5): Software for multivariate data exploration, testing and summarization. Microcomputer Power, Ithaca, NY, USA. 2012.
- 27. Smit HJ, Metzger MJ, Ewert F. Spatial distribution of grassland productivity and land use in Europe. Agric Syst. 2008;(98):208–19.
- Smith P, Fang C, Dawson JJC, Moncrieff JB. Impact of Global Warming on Soil Organic Carbon. Adv Agron. 2008; 97:1–43.
- Mpokos JP, Yiakoulaki DM, Papazafeiriou ZA, Sgardelis S, Alifragis D, Papanikolaou K. Herbage production and species richness in sub-alpine grasslands of different soil parent material in Northern Greece. J Mt Sci. 2014;(11):1579–92.
- Smits NAC, Willems JH, Bobbink R. Long-term after-effects of fertilisation on the restoration of calcareous grasslands. Appl Veg Sci. 2008;(11):279–86.
- Hrevušová Z, Hejcman M, Pavlů V V., Hakl J, Klaudisová M, Mrkvička J. Long-term dynamics of biomass production, soil chemical properties and plant species composition of alluvial grassland after the cessation of fertilizer application in the Czech Republic. Agric Ecosyst Environ. 2009;(130):123–30.
- Pavlů V, Hejcman M, Pavlů L, Gaisler J. Effect of strip seeding of Trifolium repens on a sward under continuous cattle grazing. Bodenkultur. 2006;(57):501–15.
- Hejcman M, Strnad L, Hejcmanová P, Pavlů V. Response of plant species composition, biomass production and biomass chemical properties to high N, P and K application rates in Dactylis glomerata- and Festuca arundinacea-dominated grassland. Grass Forage Sci. 2012;(67):488–506.
- 34. Taylor K. Biological flora of the British Isles: Urtica dioica L. J Ecol. 2009;(97):1436–58.
- Tallowin JRB, Jefferson RG. Hay production from lowland semi-natural grasslands: A review of implications for ruminant livestock systems. Grass Forage Sci. 1999;(54):99–115.
- Kleinebecker T, Weber H, Hölzel N. Effects of grazing on seasonal variation of aboveground biomass quality in calcareous grasslands. Plant Ecol. 2011;(212):1563–76.
- Thompson K, Parkinson JA, Band SR, Spencer RE. A comparative study of leaf nutrient concentrations in a regional herbaceous flora. New Phytol. 1997;(136):679–89.
- Baeten L, Verstraeten G, de Frenne P, Vanhellemont M, Wuyts K, Hermy M, et al. Former land use affects the nitrogen and phosphorus concentrations and biomass of forest herbs. Plant Ecol. 2011; (212):901–9.
- Müllerová V, Hejcman M, Hejcmanová P, Pavlů V. Effect of fertilizer application on Urtica dioica and its element concentrations in a cut grassland. Acta Oecologica. 2014;(59):1–6.
- 40. Pavlů L, Gaisler J, Hejcman M, Pavlů V V. What is the effect of long-term mulching and traditional cutting regimes on soil and biomass chemical properties, species richness and herbage production in Dactylis glomerata grassland? Agric Ecosyst Environ. 2016;(217):13–21.
- 41. Golodets C, Kigel J, Sternberg M. Recovery of plant species composition and ecosystem function after cessation of grazing in a Mediterranean grassland. Plant Soil. 2010;(329):365–78.
- 42. Pirhofer-Walzl K, Søegaard K, Høgh-Jensen H, Eriksen J, Sanderson MA, Rasmussen J, et al. Forage herbs improve mineral composition of grassland herbage. Grass Forage Sci. 2011;(66):415–23.
- **43.** Liebisch F, Bünemann EK, Huguenin-Elie O, Jeangros B, Frossard E, Oberson A. Plant phosphorus nutrition indicators evaluated in agricultural grasslands managed at different intensities. Eur J Agron. 2013;(44):66–77.
- 44. Whitehead DC. Nutrient elements in grassland: soil-plant-animal relationships. Nutrient elements in grassland: soil-plant-animal relationships. Wallingford, Oxon, UK; CABI Publishing; 2000. 369 p.
- **45.** Bakker JP. Nature Management by Grazing and Cutting: On the ecological significance of grazing and cutting regimes applied to restore former species-rich grassland communities in the Netherlands. Nature Management by Grazing and Cutting. Dordrecht, Netherlands: Kluwer; 1989. 400 p.
- Perring MP, Edwards G, De Mazancourt C. Removing phosphorus from ecosystems through nitrogen fertilization and cutting with removal of biomass. Ecosystems. 2009;(12):130–1144.
- 47. Schnitzler A, Muller S. Towards an ecological basis for the conservation of subalpine heath-grassland on the upper ridges of the Vosges. J Veg Sci. 1998;(9):317–26.
- Hejcman M, Schellberg J, Pavlů V. Long-term effects of cutting frequency and liming on soil chemical properties, biomass production and plant species composition of Lolio-Cynosuretum grassland after the cessation of fertilizer application. Appl Veg Sci. 2010;(13):257–69.
- Pavlů V, Schellberg J, Hejcman M. Cutting frequency vs. N application: Effect of a 20-year management in Lolio-Cynosuretum grassland. Grass Forage Sci. 2011; 66(4):501–15.
- Pavlů L, Pavlů V, Gaisler J, Hejcman M. Relationship between soil and biomass chemical properties, herbage yield and sward height in cut and unmanaged mountain hay meadow (Polygono-Trisetion). Flora Morphol Distrib Funct Ecol Plants. 2013;(208):599–608.
- Hansson M, Fogelfors H. Management of a semi-natural grassland; results from a 15-year-old experiment in southern Sweden. J Veg Sci. 2000;(11):31–8.
- 52. Alexander M. Introduction to Soil Microbiology. 2nd Editio. John Wiley and Sons Ltd; 1977. 480 p.
- 53. Haney RL, Senseman SA, Krutz LJ, Hons FM. Soil carbon and nitrogen mineralization as affected by atrazine and glyphosate. Biol Fertil Soils. 2002;(35):35–40.
- Schaffers AP. Soil, biomass, and management of semi-natural vegetation. Part I. Interrelationships. Plant Ecol. 2002;(158):229–46.
- Pavlů K, Kassahun T, Nwaogu C, Pavlů L, Gaisler JAN, Homolka P, et al. Effect of grazing intensity and dung on herbage and soil nutrients. Plant, Soil Environ. 2019; 65(7):343–8.
- 56. Shepherd MJ, Anderson JM, Bol R, Allen DK. Incorporation of (15)N from spiked cattle dung pats into soil under two moorland plant communities. Rapid Commun Mass Spectrom. 2000;(14):1361–7. https://doi.org/10.1002/1097-0231(20000815)14:15<1361::AID-RCM35>3.0.CO;2-# PMID: 10920356
- Aarons SR, O'Connor CR, Gourley CJP. Dung decomposition in temperate dairy pastures I. Changes in soil chemical properties. Aust J Soil Res. 2004;(42):107–14.

- 58. Haynes RJ, Williams PH. Nutrient Cycling and Soil Fertility in the Grazed Pasture Ecosystem. Adv Agron. 1993;(49):119–99.
- Decau ML, Simon JC, Jacquet A. Fate of Urine Nitrogen in Three Soils throughout a Grazing Season. J Environ Qual. 2003;(4):1405–13. https://doi.org/10.2134/jeq2003.1405 PMID: 12931896
- **60.** Marsden KA, Jones DL, Chadwick DR. Disentangling the effect of sheep urine patch size and nitrogen loading rate on cumulative N2O emissions. Anim Prod Sci. 2016; 56(3):265.

CHAPTER 6

The effect of 19 years of restoration managements on forage quality and herbage soil relationships within improved upland grassland

Klára Pavlů, Teowdroes Kassahun, Lenka Pavlů, Vilém Pavlů and Mariecia D. Fraser

Manuscript



The effect of 19 years of restoration managements on forage quality and herbage soil relationships within improved upland grassland

Klára Pavlů¹, Teowdres Kassahun¹, Lenka Pavlů², Pavlů V. Vilém^{1, 2} and Mariecia D. Fraser ³ Czech University of Life Sciences Prague, Faculty of Environmental Sciences, Department of Ecology, CZ 165 21, Czechia¹, Crop Research Institute, Department of Weeds and Vegetation of Agroecosystems, Grassland Research Station Liberec, CZ 460 01, Czechia², and Pwllpeiran Upland Research Centre, Aberystwyth University, Cwmystwyth, Aberystwyth, SY23 4AB, United Kingdom³

Corresponding author: Vilém V. Pavlů, pavlu@vurv.cz

ABSTRACT

Restoration managements based on extensification strategies are commonly used to improve biodiversity on formerly improved grasslands. This paper reports novel data relating to the long-term impacts of extensification strategies when applied to reseeded marginal grasslands common to less favoured areas.

The long-term effects of six different extensive management regimes on forage quality, soil/herbage/sward characteristics and their relationships were studied and compared with a conventional, intensively managed, control. The treatments were: sheep grazing, with and without lime application; hay cutting only, with and without lime application; and hay cutting followed by aftermath grazing, with and without lime application; with the control treatment continuing the previous site management (liming, NPK application and continuous sheep grazing).

Higher proportions of forbs were linked to higher numbers of plant species in restoration

managements incorporating cutting (hay or hay/grazed defoliation) resulted in higher quality of the forage than forage from only grazed treatments. The dry matter standing biomass and concentrations of crude protein, neutral detergent fiber and K in the herbage were negatively correlated with total number plant species and cover of forbs, whereas *in vitro* organic matter digestibility and concentrations of Ca, Mg and Na were positively correlated with number of plant species and forb cover. However, the quality of the forage indicated it was suitable only for sheep or beef cattle feeding. A positive relationship between P and K concentration in the soil and in the herbage was recorded. No effect of previous liming on forage quality was found.

Overall, introducing long-term restoration managements to support biodiversity by postponing the timing of the first defoliation (hay cutting) to mid growing season (end July) increased forage quality in comparison with continual grazing in species rich upland grassland.

Keywords: Restoration, Grazing, Cutting, Nutrients, Herbage, Soil

1. Introduction

Improvement of grazed grasslands through the application of N, P and K fertilizers and of lime increases plant and livestock productivity, but by changing nutrient availability simultaneously reduces plant species richness (Bakker et al., 2002; Hejcman et al., 2010; Pavlů et al., 2011; Humbert et al., 2016). The majority of European grasslands underwent such improvement in the second half of the 20th century, leading to the predominance of productive, but species-poor, grasslands with high residual nutrient availability in the soil (Pegtel et al., 1996; Isselstein et al., 2005; Pavlů et al., 2011). Restoration management strategies effective at removing soil nutrients (Hansson and Fogelfors, 2000; Van Diggelen and Marrs, 2003) and increase plant species diversity are long-term hay-making with biomass removal or grazing without fertilization (Pavlů et al., 2021). Through such long-term extensification management practices we can affect soil chemical properties, botanical composition and forage quality (Pavlů et al., 2006; Pavlů et al., 2011). However, while there have been many studies exploring changes in vegetation structure and soil nutrient status in response to different types of extensification management, very little is known about related impacts on forage quality (Hofman and Isselstein, 2005; French, 2017). To introduce such extensive species-rich grasslands as a source of ruminants feeding could support not only sustainable farming but also simultaneously improve livestock welfare and health (French, 2017). It is hypothesised that increases in protein supply associated with a greater legume and forb proportion within the diet together with the more rapid particle breakdown of these within the rumen (Jamot and Grenet, 1991; Waghorn et al., 1989) would offset the greater maturity and related fibre concentrations of the grass fraction.

The study was conducted using the Brignant long-term plots at he Pwllpeiran Upland Research Centre (UK). In a previous study (Pavlů et al., 2021) it was found that defoliation type was the key driver influencing plant species diversity (hay cutting followed by aftermath

grazing >hay cutting>grazing). Further, higher concentrations of Ca and Mg in the soil in treatments with former liming had no effect on species richness and plant species composition. In this paper we described forage quality after 19 years of continual exposure to various alternative restoration regimes.

In this paper we compare forage quality and its relationship with species richness and soil chemical properties when managed according to one of seven regimes that represent the common and best practices in less favoured areas dominated by temperate European upland grassland. We aimed to answer the following questions: (i) what are the effects of long-term restoration managements and previous liming on herbage quality characteristics? (ii) what relationships exist between minerals in the soil and in the herbage and between herbage quality and sward characteristics?

2 Materials and Methods

2.1. Experimental design

The experimental plots used (the Brignant plots) were set up in 1994 at the Pwllpeiran Upland Research Centre on permanent pasture that had been ploughed and reseeded in 1973, and which had received regular inputs of fertilizer and lime. The plots are located 310 m a.s.l. (O.S. Ref: SN752757) on free-draining typical brown podzolic soils. The area receives a mean annual rainfall of approximately 1850 mm, and has minimum and maximum air temperatures of 5.2 °C and 11.9 °C respectively. The plots are arranged in a randomized block design with three blocks and a total of seven grassland management regimes imposed. The treatments are: sheep grazing, with (GL+) and without (GL-) lime application; hay cutting only, with (HL+) and without (HL-) lime application; and hay cutting followed by aftermath sheep grazing, with (HGL+) and without (HGL-) lime application. Control (CO) plots continuing the previous site management (i.e. limed, fertilized and continually grazed by

sheep) are also included within each block. These receive an annual application of 60 kg ha⁻¹ N and 30 kg P ha⁻¹ with K also applied as required to maintain an index of 2+ (ADAS, 1983). All the lime treatments received a single application of lime in 1998 with the intention of maintaining a soil pH of 6.0. Treatments are imposed on plots 0.08 ha (hay cut only) or 0.15 ha (grazed) in size. The schematic block design of the experiments and an aerial photo are provided in Appendix A, Figs. S1 and S2.

The plots are stocked with sheep (usually Welsh Hill Speckled Faced yearlings) with numbers adjusted to maintain a sward surface height of approximately 4 to 6 cm. Turnout occurs late April/early May, when there is sufficient biomass to sustain stock. The HL+, HL-, HGL+ and HGL- plots have a single hay harvest taken annually after the 15th of July, as and when weather conditions allow. Stock are subsequently restocked on the HGL+ and HGLplots after a short period of sward re-growth. All stock are removed end of September/early October, depending on seasonal climatic conditions and related biomass growth.

2.2. Measurements

Sward biomass was sampled in July 2012 by cutting the herbage within a 14 cm \times 100 cm quadrat to ground level using electric shears at three random sites across each plot. The fresh herbage biomass samples were weighed, oven dried (48 h at 60°C) and then re-weighed to determine dry matter (DM) standing biomass (DMSB), which was expressed on a *per* ha basis. The samples were then milled to pass through a 1 mm sieve prior to chemical analysis.

Total N was determined using a Leco FP 428 nitrogen analyser (Leco Corporation, St. Joseph, MI, USA) and then multiplied by 6.25 to obtain crude protein (CP) concentrations. Concentrations of Ca, K, Mg, Na and P were determined by inductively coupled plasma optical emission spectrometry. *In vitro* organic matter digestibility (IVOMD) was determined according to the two-stage method of <u>Tilley and Terry (1963)</u>, adapted for the ANKOM

DAISY^{II} 220 incubator system (ANKOM Technology Corporation, Fairport, NY, USA). Water soluble carbohydrate (WSC) concentrations were determined using an automated anthrone method (Thomas, 1977) for extracting sugars using a sulphuric acid reagent. Neutral detergent fibre (NDF) was calculated using the Gerhart fibrecap system (Kitcherside, Glen and Webster, 2000). Reagents were as described by <u>Van Soest et al. (1991)</u>, with the following exceptions; sodium sulphite was omitted and Termamyl (NCBE Enzymes, Reading, UK) replaced α -amylase. Ash was defined as the remainder after ignition at 550 °C, so that all C is removed. Ash was assumed to contain all the inorganic residue of the DM. All analyses were conducted in an accredited laboratory at Aberystwyth University.

2.3. Data analysis

As explanatory variables we used: i) all study treatments: CO, GL+, GL-, HL+, HL-, HGL+, HGL-; ii) type of defoliation management: Grazed (GL+, GL-, CO), Hay (HL+, HL-), Hay and Grazed (HGL+, HGL-); iii) liming: Limed (GL+, CO, HL+, HGL+), No limed (GL-, HL-, GL-).

A linear mixed-effects model (LMM) with fixed effects of explanatory variables (treatment, defoliation management and liming) and random effect of experimental block was used to analyse the effects of explanatory variables on herbage quality characteristics. If necessary, data was log-transformed to meet LMM assumptions. In order to control for falsediscovery rate (FDR) we applied Benjamini-Hochberg's correction. To identify significant differences between individual treatments a post-hoc comparison using Tukey's HSD test was applied. Relationships between minerals in the soil and in the herbage and between herbage quality and sward characteristics were analysed by linear regression analysis. Soil chemical properties and vegetation (total number of plant species, cover of forbs and graminoids) data were as reported previously (Pavlů et al., 2021). All LMM and regression analyses were

performed in Statistica 13.1 (Dell Inc., Texas, 2016).

Redundancy analysis (RDA) in the CANOCO 5 program (ter Braak and Šmilauer, 2012) was used to evaluate multivariate herbage chemical properties data. All data in RDA were logarithmically transformed [y = log (y + 1)]. For all analyses 999 permutations were performed, with blocks used as covariables to restrict permutations into blocks. To visualize the results of the RDA analysis a standard biplot ordination diagram was used.

3. Results

3.1. Herbage quality

The RDA analysis showed strict discrimination on the first ordination axis according to management regime (Fig. 1, Table 1, Analysis 1). In particular, the CP, NDF, P and K concentrations and N:P, K:P ratios in the herbage were positively correlated with grazed only treatments (GL+, GL-, CO), whereas IVOMD, WSC, Na, Mg and Ca concentrations were positively correlated with all treatments where cutting was introduced (HL+, HL–, HGL+, HGL–). The defoliation management was the second best explanatory variable, whereas liming had no effect on herbage chemical properties (Table 2, Analyses 2 – 3).

Based on LMM results, there were significant effects of treatment (Table 2) and the type of defoliation (Table 3) on the majority of nutrient characteristics of the herbage, however liming did not have any effect (Table 4).

Organic components DMSB, NDF and IVOMD were significantly influenced by treatment and by the type of defoliation. The DMSB ranged from 217.9 ± 9.6 (HL+) to 404.6 \pm 70.9 g m⁻² (GL-), NDF ranged from 58.8 ± 1.3 (HGL-) to 65.2 ± 0.2 g kg⁻¹ (GL-) and IVOMD ranged from 48.0 ± 0.9 (GL-) to 53.2 ± 1.1 % (HGL-) (Table 2). Both DMSB and NDF were significantly supported by grazing-only defoliation (CO, GL+, GL-), whereas IVOMD was supported by defoliation that incorporated cutting (hay and hay/grazed defoliation) (Table 3). Concentrations of CP were not influenced by treatment or type of defoliation (Tables 2, 3) and ranged from 96.9 ± 8.2 (HGL⁺) to 144.0 ± 17.3 g kg⁻¹ (CO). WSC was significantly influenced only by treatment, and ranged from 5.6 ± 0.3 (CO) to 9.3 ± 0.7 g kg⁻¹ (HL⁺) (Table 2).

Minerals Ca, Mg and Na were significantly lower under grazed only defoliation than under treatments that incorporated cutting (Tables 2, 3), whereas liming had no effect on mineral concentrations (Table 4). Concentrations of Ca ranged from 2.6 ± 0.6 (CO) to $5.6 \pm$ 0.6 g kg^{-1} (HGL-), concentrations of Mg from 1.1 ± 0.3 (CO) to $2.0 \pm 0.2 \text{ g kg}^{-1}$ (HL+), and concentrations of Na from 0.5 ± 0.1 (CO) to $3.3 \pm 0.7 \text{ g kg}^{-1}$ (HL-) (Table 2).

The concentrations of ash, P and K in the herbage were not influenced by the treatment or the type of defoliation (Tables 2, 3). Ash concentration ranged from 5.2 ± 0.4 (GL-) to 6.8 ± 0.1 g kg⁻¹ (HGL-), P concentration from 1.6 ± 0.2 (HGL+) to 2.3 ± 0.3 g kg⁻¹ (HL-), and K concentration from 7.3 ± 0.7 (HL-) to 11.8 ± 0.2 g kg⁻¹ (GL+) (Table 2). However, significant differences in the K:P ratio were recorded between treatments (Table 2) and between types of defoliation (Table 3). The lowest K:P ratio was 3.4 ± 0.1 (HL-) and the highest ratio 5.9 ± 0.5 (GL+) (Table 2). In contrast, there was no effect of the treatment or the type of defoliation on the N:P and N:K ratios in the herbage (Tables 2, 3), which ranged from 7.8 ± 0.9 (HL-) to 13.3 ± 5.6 (CO) and from 1.6 ± 0.1 (GL+) to 2.3 ± 1.2 (CO), respectively (Table 2).

3.4. Relationships between minerals in the soil and in the herbage and between herbage quality and sward characteristics

Positive relationships between P and K concentrations in the soil and in the herbage were revealed (P = 0.003, r = 0.62, P = 0.031, r = 0.47), respectively. In contrast, there were no relationships between bivalent cation (Ca and Mg) concentrations in the herbage and in the soil.

IVOMD and concentrations of WSC, Ca, Mg and Na in the herbage were significantly and positively correlated with total number of plant species, whereas DMBS, CP and NDF that were correlated negatively. No correlation with total number of plant species was found for any of the other herbage characteristics (P, K and ash) (Table 5). DMBS and concentrations of CP, NDF and K in the herbage were significantly and positively correlated with total cover of graminoids, whereas IVOMD and concentrations of Ca, Mg and Na were correlated negatively with grass cover. Conversely, relationships between herbage quality properties and total cover of forbs were opposite to those revealed for the total cover of graminoids.

4. Discussion

Compared to cattle, sheep are more selective grazers (Dumont et al., 2011), and choose the best quality components (especially forbs) during grazing (Garcia et al., 2003), regardless of grazing intensity. As species richness in temperate grasslands is usually associated with higher proportions of forbs in the sward (e.g. Hansson and Fogelfors, 2000; Heinsoo et al., 2020), species-poor pastures are formed as a result of this selectivity (Marriott et al., 2009; Pavlů et al., 2021).

The sheep grazing not only reduced the cover of forbs in our experiment (Pavlů et al., 2021) and but the extensivity of grazing led to large proportion of ungrazed matured grasses with dead biomass remaining on the pasture (unpublished observation). The standard methodology used to measure sward surface heights (Barthram, 1986) only records hits of green, vegetative growth and so does not take into account this type of material. The rejected vegetation resulted in the estimated forage quality based on DOMD and NDF being lower for vegetation within grazed only treatments compared to treatments which included cutting (hay and hay/grazed treatments), where almost all biomass was removed annually, rejuvenating the

sward. The NDF and CP concentrations recorded out in our experiment were typical for UK species rich grasslands (French, 2017; Hayes et al., 2016), and due to the low IVOMD values none of forages met the requirements of high productive lactating animals; only those of sheep or beef cattle (NRC, 1985; NRC, 2000).

The highest concentrations of Ca, Mg and Na were found under treatments which comprised cutting (hay and hay/grazed defoliation) regardless of liming. It was probably because of the higher proportion of forbs in these treatments (Pavlů et al., 2021), as generally forbs contain higher mineral concentrations than grasses (Whitehead, 2000; Pirhofer-Walzl et al., 2011; Liebisch et al., 2013). Although previous liming positively affected Ca and Mg concentrations in the soil (Pavlů et al., 2021), it had no effect on these elements in the forage. It seems that forage quality was considerably affected by botanical composition which reflected applied management. In our experiment mineral concentrations in the herbage was in the range observed for species rich grasslands in UK (French, 2017) and more suitable for sheep and beef feeding (Whitehead, 2000; NRC, 1985). Some mineral imbalances in the forage can be easily solved by supplying livestock with free-choice mineral supplements (Suttle, 2010).

In our experiment the forage quality was positively affected by the higher total number of plant species, which was almost exclusively increased via the forb species. Species rich grasslands with high proportions of forbs can have higher concentrations of protein and minerals (French, 2017), and higher Ca and Mg concentrations in particular have been linked to higher digestibility (Mládková et al., 2018). Therefore, this type of grassland can have a higher forage quality than unimproved ones with dominance of grasses. While the positive relationships between P and K concentration in the soil and in the herbage recorded have also been reported in earlier studies (Schaffers et al., 1998; Pavlů et al., 2013, 2016), only a few authors have found a similar relationship in the case of P (Pavlů et al., 2016).

5. Conclusion

Restoration managements for supporting biodiversity that postponed the timing of the first defoliation (hay cutting) to mid growing season (mid July) improved forage quality in comparison to grazed only treatments. No effect of previous liming on forage quality was found. Lower forage quality in grazed only treatments was due to a combination of low IVOMD, high NDF, low divalent cations (Ca, Mg) and low Na, and was exclusively connected with the reduction of forbs cover, presumably as a result of long-term selective grazing. The forage quality in all treatments was suitable only for sheep or beef cattle feeding.

Acknowledgements

This study was supported by Natural Resources Wales, a Stapledon Memorial Trust Travel Fellowship awarded to V. P. and funding from the Biotechnology and Biological Sciences Research Council (grant no. BB/CSP1730/1). Manuscript finalisation for L.P. and VP was supported by the Ministry of Agriculture of the Czech Republic (RO0418). The Ecological Continuity Trust's support of the Brignant plots was also appreciated. Thanks to JE Vale and J Corton for assistance in the field.

References

- ADAS, 1983. *Lime and Fertiliser Recommendations*. No. 5. Grass and Forage Crops. Ministry of Agriculture, Fisheries and Food Booklet 2430. Northumberland, MAFF, UK.
- Bakker, J.P., Elzinga, J.A., de Vries, Y. 2002. Effects of long-term cutting in a grassland system: perspectives for restoration of plant communities on nutrient-poor soils. *Appl. Veg. Sci.* 5, 107–120.
- Barthram, G. T. (1986). Experimental techniques: the HFRO sward stick. Biennial report, 1984–85. Hill Farming Research Organisation.

Dell Inc. 2016. Dell Statistica (data analysis software system), version 13.1 software. dell.com.

Dumont, B., Carrère, P., Giname, C., Farruggia, A., Lanore, L., Tardif, A., Decuq, F.,

Darsonville, O., Louault F. 2011. Plant-herbivore interactions affect the initial direction of community changes in an ecosystem manipulation experiment. *Basic Appl. Ecol.* 12, 187–194. DOI: b>10.1016/j.baae.2011.02.011

- French, K.E. 2017. Species composition determines forage quality and medicinal value of high diversity grasslands in lowland England. *Agric. Ecosyst. Environ.* 241, 193–204.
- Garcia, F., Carrere, P., Soussana, J.F., Baumont, R. 2003. How do severity and frequency of grazing affect sward characteristics and the choices of sheep during the grazing season? *Grass Forage Sci.* 58, 138–150. https://doi.org/10.1046/j.1365-2494.2003.00363.x.
- Hansson, M., Fogelfors, H. 2000. Management of a semi-natural grassland; results from 15year-old experiment in southern Sweden. *J. Veg. Sci.* 11, 31–38. DOI: 10.2307/3236772
- Hayes, F., Mills, G., Jones, L., Abbott, J., Ashmore, M., Barnes, J. and Wyness, K. 2016.
 Consistent ozone-induced decreases in pasture forage quality across several grassland types and consequences for UK lamb production. *Sci. Total Environ*, 543, 336–346.
- Heinsoo, K., Sammul, M., Kukk, T., Kull, T., Melts, I. 2020. The long-term recovery of a moderately fertilised semi-natural grassland. *Agric. Ecosyst. Environ.* 289, 106744. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.agee.2019.106744
- Hejcman, M., Češková, M., Schellberg, J., Pätzold, S. 2010. The Rengen grassland experiment: Effect of soil chemical properties on biomass production, plant species composition and species richness. *Folia Geobot.* 45, 125–142. DOI: 10.1007/s12224-010-9062-9
- Humbert, J-Y., Dwyer, J.M., Andrey, A., Raphaël, A. 2016. Impacts of nitrogen addition on plant biodiversity in mountain grasslands depend on dose, application duration and climate: a systematic review. *Glob. Change Biol.* 22, 110–120. doi: 10.1111/gcb.12986

Isselstein, J., Jeangros, B., Pavlu, V. 2005. Agronomic aspects of biodiversity targeted

management of temperate grasslands in Europe - a review. Agron. Res. 3, 139-151.

- Jamot, J., Grenet E. 1991. Microscopic investigation of changes in histology and digestibility in the rumen of a forage grass and a forage legume during the first stage of growth. *Reprod. Nutr. Dev.* 31, 441–450.
- Kitcherside, M., Glen, E.F., Webster, A.J.F. 2000. FibreCap: an improved method for the rapid analysis of Fibre in feeding stuffs. *Anim. Feed Sci. Technol.* 86, 125–132. doi: 10.1016/S0377-8401(00)00153-X.
- Liebisch, F., Bünemann, E.K., Huguenin-Elie, O., Jeangros, B., Frossard, E., Oberson, A. 2013 Plant phosphorus nutrition indicators evaluated in agricultural grasslands managed at different intensities. *Eur J Agron.* 44, 66–77.
- Marriott, C.A., Hood, K., Fisher, J.M., Pakeman, R.J. 2009. Long-term impacts of extensive grazing and abandonment on the species composition, richness, diversity and productivity of agricultural grassland. *Agric. Ecosyst. Environ.* 134 (3), 190–200. DOI: 10.1016/j.agee.2009.07.002
- Mládková, P., Mládek, J., Hejduk, S., Hejcman, M., Pakeman, R. J. 2018. Calcium plus magnesium indicates digestibility: the significance of the second major axis of plant chemical variation for ecological processes. *Ecol. Lett.* 21(6), 885–895. https://doi.org/10.1111/ele.12956
- National Research Council. 1985. *Nutrient requirements of sheep* (Vol. 5). Washington, DC: National Academies Press.
- National Research Council. 2000. *Nutrient Requirements of Beef Cattle* (7th Revised Edition). Washington, DC: National Academies Press.
- Pavlů L., Pavlů V.V., Fraser M.D. 2021. What is the effect of 19 years of restoration managements on soil and vegetation on formerly improved upland grassland? *Sci. Total Environ*, 755: 142469. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2020.142469

- Pavlů V, Hejcman M, Pavlů L, Gaisler J, Nežerková P. 2006. Effect of continuous grazing on forage quality, quantity and animal performance. *Agric Ecosyst Environ*. 113, 349–355.
 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.agee.2005.10.010
- Pavlů, L., Gaisler, J., Hejcman, M., Pavlů, V. 2016. What is the effect of long-term mulching and traditional cutting regimes on soil and biomass chemical properties, species richness and herbage production in *Dactylis glomerata* grassland? *Agric. Ecosyst. Environ.* 217, 13–21. DOI: 10.1016/j.agee.2015.10.026
- Pavlů, L., Gaisler, J., Hejcman, M., Pavlů, V. 2016. What is the effect of long-term mulching and traditional cutting regimes on soil and biomass chemical properties, species richness and herbage production in Dactylis glomerata grassland? *Agric. Ecosyst. Environ.* 217, 13–21. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.agee.2015.10.026.
- Pavlů, L., Pavlů, V., Gaisler, J., Hejcman, M. 2013. Relationship between soil and biomass chemical properties, herbage yield and sward height in cut and unmanaged mountain hay meadow (*Polygono-Trisetion*). *Flora*. 208, 599–608. DOI: 10.1016/j.flora.2013.09.003
- Pavlů, V., Schellberg, J., Hejcman, M. 2011. Cutting frequency vs. N application: effect of a 20-year management in *Lolio- Cynosuretum* grassland. *Grass Forage Sci.* 66, 501–515. DOI: 10.1111/j.1365–2494.2011.00807.x
- Pegtel, D.M., Akker, J.P., Verweij, G.L., Fresco, L.F.M. 1996. N, P and K deficiency in chronosequential cut summer – dry grasslands on gley podsol after the cessation of fertilizer application. *Plant Soil*. 178, 121–131.
- Pirhofer-Walzl, K., Søegaard, K., Høgh-Jensen, H., Eriksen, J., Sanderson, M.A., Rasmussen, J.
 2011. Forage herbs improve mineral composition of grassland herbage. *Grass Forage Sci.* 66, 415–423. DOI: 10.1111/j.1365-2494.2011.00799.x
- Schaffers, A.P., Vesseur, M.C., Sýkora, K.V. 1998. Effects of delayed hay removal on the nutrient balance of roadside plant communities. *J. Appl. Ecol.* 35, 349–364. DOI:

10.1046/j.1365-2664.1998.00316.x

Suttle, N. 2010. Mineral nutrition in livestock. Wallingford, UK: CABI Publishing.

- ter Braak, C.J.F., Šmilauer, P. 2012. Canoco 5, Windows release (5.00). [Software for canonical community ordination]. Microcomputer Power, Ithaca, NY, US.
- Thomas, T. A. 1977. An Automated Procedure for the Determination of Soluble Carbohydrates in Herbage. *J. Sci. Food Agric.* 28, 639–642.
- Tilley, J.M.A., Terry, R.A. 1963. A two-stage technique for the invitro digestion of forage crops. *J. Brit. Grassland Soc.* 18, 104–111
- Van Diggelen, R., Marrs, R., 2003. Restoring Plant Communities Introduction. *Appl. Veg. Sci.* 6, 106–110.
- Van Soest, PJ., Robertson, J.B., Lewis, B.A. 1991. Methods for dietary fiber, neutral detergent fibre, and nonstarch polysaccharides in relation to animal nutrition. *J. Dairy Sci.* 74, 3583–3597.
- Waghorn, G.C., Shelton I.D., Thomas V.J. 1989. Particle breakdown and rumen digestion of fresh ryegrass (*Lolium perenne* L.) and lucerne (*Medicago sativa* L.) fed to cows during a restricted feeding period. *Br. J. Nutr.* 61, 409–423.
- Whitehead DC. 2000. Nutrient elements in grassland, soil-plant-animal relationships. Wallingford, UK: CABI Publishing.

Table 1 Results of the redundancy analyses for three different H0 analyses (A1-A3); % expl. = explained variation by axis 1 (adjusted explained variation by all ordination axes), a measure of the explanatory power of the explanatory variables; F-ratio = F-statistics for the test of a particular analysis; P-value = corresponding probability value obtained by the Monte Carlo permutation test. Treatment abbreviations are given in Fig. 1.

Analysis	Expl. var.	Covariables	% expl.	F-ratio	P-value
A1 Different grassland managed regimes have no effect on herbage quality characteristics	CO, HGL+, HGL-, HL+, HL-, GL+, GL-	blocks	49.3 (61.6)	2.1 (3.5)	0.001 (0.001)
A2 Different defoliation management regimes have no effect on herbage quality characteristics	Grazing, Hay, Grazing+Hay	blocks	44.8 (48.6)	6.9 (8.1)	0.001 (0.001)
A3 Liming have no effect on herbage quality characteristics	Limed+, Limed-	blocks	8.8	1.6	0.167

Table 2 Herbage quality characteristics per plot under the different treatments in 2012. Treatment abbreviations (CO, GL+, GL, HL+, HL-, HGL+, HGL-) are explained in Table 1. Numbers represent average of three replicates \pm standard error of the mean (SE); *F*—ratio = *F*—statistics for the test of a particular analysis; P—value = corresponding probability value. In cases of significant differences obtained by LMM after table-wise Benjamini-Hochberg's FDR correction (highlighted in bold), the post hoc comparison using the Tukey's HSD test was applied to identify significant differences between treatments. Differences are indicated by different small letters. Herbage quality characteristics and treatment abbreviations are given in Fig. 1.

		Treatment									
Herbage quality characteristics	<i>F</i> —ratio	P— value	СО	GL+	GL-	HL+	HL-	HGL+	HGL-		
DMSB g m ⁻²	5.62	0.006	304.42±31.31ab	319.72±46.32ab	404.62±70.92a	217.86±9.59b	253.10±10.08b	262.77±23.06ab	223.41±24.37b		
IVOMD %	5.87	0.005	50.32±0.42ab	49.24±0.23ab	47.95±0.92b	53.11±0.61a	52.85±0.21a	50.99±1.74ab	53.21±1.14a		
CP g kg ⁻¹	2.70	0.070	143.96±17.32	118.13±4.88	111.46±4.21	108.33±8.87	106.88±3.48	96.88±8.16	100.63±5.00		
NDF g kg ⁻¹	10.31	< 0.001	63.67±0.77ab	63.09±1.25abc	65.26±0.24a	59.54±0.49cd	60.52±1.05bcd	60.64±0.45bcd	58.76±1.34d		
WSC g kg ⁻¹	5.00	0.009	5.64±0.27b	8.88±1.07a	7.51±0.56ab	9.29±0.73a	8.89±0.19a	8.50±0.44a	8.36±0.55ab		
Ash g kg ⁻¹	2.24	0.110	6.07±0.24	6.20±0.50	5.22±0.43	5.89±0.16	5.67±0.50	6.59±0.43	6.84±0.10		
Pgkg ⁻¹	0.84	0.562	2.20 ± 0.56	2.03 ± 0.17	1.93 ± 0.12	1.83 ± 0.18	2.27 ± 0.30	1.63 ± 0.17	1.93 ± 0.09		
K g kg ⁻¹	1.44	0.278	11.70 ± 3.18	11.80 ± 0.21	9.13 ± 0.58	8.33 ± 0.44	7.27 ± 0.69	8.27 ± 0.50	9.53 ± 0.85		
Ca g kg ⁻¹	7.72	0.001	$2.63\pm0.62~\text{c}$	$3.20\pm0.10\ bc$	$3.20\pm0.10\ bc$	$4.97\pm0.18ab$	$4.07\pm0.35 abc$	$5.07\pm0.47\;ab$	$5.57\pm0.55a$		
Mg g kg ⁻¹	6.77	0.003	$1.10\pm0.31c$	$1.37\pm0.09 abc$	$1.27\pm0.15bc$	$2.03\pm0.15a$	$1.97\pm0.12\ ab$	$1.83\pm0.15\ ab$	$1.90\pm0.15~ab$		
Na g kg ⁻¹	13.34	<0.001	$0.47\pm0.09c$	$0.73 \pm 0.12 c$	$1.17\pm0.23 bc$	$2.50\pm0.30\text{ab}$	$3.30\pm0.69a$	$2.70\pm0.35 ab$	$2.80\pm0.42a$		
N:P	0.47	0.819	13.29 ± 5.58	9.43 ± 0.94	9.34 ± 0.97	9.49 ± 0.33	7.78 ± 0.93	9.67 ± 1.14	8.36 ± 0.53		
N:K	0.54	0.771	2.59 ± 1.18	1.60 ± 0.09	1.98 ± 0.19	2.07 ± 0.08	2.39 ± 0.20	1.90 ± 0.25	1.72 ± 0.17		
K:P	4.31	0.015	$5.26 \pm 0.37ab$	$5.88 \pm 0.45a$	$4.73\pm0.19ab$	$4.59\pm0.21 ab$	$3.24 \pm 0.14b$	$5.25 \pm 0.92ab$	$4.99\pm0.65ab$		

Table 3 Herbage quality characteristics per plot under the different type of defoliation in 2012. Numbers represent average of three replicates \pm standard error of the mean (SE); *F*—ratio = *F*—statistics for the test of a particular analysis; *P*—value = corresponding probability value. In cases of significant differences obtained by LMM after table-wise Benjamini-Hochberg's FDR correction (highlighted in bold), the post hoc comparison using the Tukey's HSD test was applied to identify significant differences between the types of defoliation. Differences are indicated by different small letters. Herbage characteristics abbreviations are given in Fig. 1.

			Type of defoliation					
Herbage quality characteristics	F-ratio	P-value	Grazed Hay		Hay and Grazed			
DMBS g m ⁻²	9.88	0.002	342.92±30.37a	235.48±10.04b	243.09±17.39b			
IVOMD %	11.56	0.001	49.17±0.45b	52.98±0.30a	52.10±1.06a			
CP g kg ⁻¹	4.24	0.033	124.51±7.28	107.60±4.27	98.75±4.36			
NDF g kg ⁻¹	20.70	<0.001	64.00±0.54a	60.03±0.56b	59.70±0.76b			
WSC g kg ⁻¹	3.84	0.043	7.34±0.59	9.09±0.35	8.43±0.31			
Ash g kg ⁻¹	4.23	0.034	5.83±0.26	5.78±0.24	6.72±0.21			
P g kg ⁻¹	0.99	0.392	2.06±0.18	2.05±0.18	1.78±0.11			
K g kg ⁻¹	3.79	0.045	10.88±1.03	7.80±0.44	8.90±0.52			
Ca g kg ⁻¹	20.23	<0.001	3.01±0.21b	4.52±0.27a	5.32±0.34a			
Mg g kg ⁻¹	22.30	<0.001	1.24±0.11b	2.00±0.09a	1.87±0.10a			
Na g kg ⁻¹	32.98	<0.001	0.79±0.13b	2.90±0.38a	2.75± 0.24a			
N:P	0.57	0.578	10.69±1.78	8.64±0.58	9.01±0.63			
N:K	0.89	0.430	2.06±0.37	2.23±0.12	1.81±0.14			
K:P	5.50	0.015	5.29±0.24a	3.91±0.32b	5.12±0.51ab			

Table 4 Herbage quality characteristics per plot under the limed or no limed conditions in 2012. Numbers represent average of three replicates \pm standard error of the mean (SE); *F*-ratio = *F*-statistics for the test of a particular analysis; *P*-value = corresponding probability value obtained by LMM. Herbage characteristics abbreviations are given in Fig, 1.

Herbage quality characteristics	F-ratio	P-value	Limed	No limed	
DMBS g m ⁻²	0.10	0.762	276.19±17.69	293.71±35.56	
IVOMD %	0.16	0.698	50.91±0.59	51.34±0.95	
CP g kg ⁻¹	1.40	0.252	116.82±6.98	106.32±2.65	
NDF g kg ⁻¹	0.03	0.854	61.73±0.62	61.51±1.09	
WSC g kg ⁻¹	0.07	0.795	8.08±0.52	8.25±0.31	
Ash g kg ⁻¹	0.68	0.421	6.19±0.17	5.91±0.31	
P g kg ⁻¹	0.45	0.510	1.93±0.15	2.04±0.11	
K g kg ⁻¹	1.61	0.222	10.03±0.87	8.64±0.50	
Ca g kg ⁻¹	0.30	0.591	3.97±0.37	4.28±0.39	
Mg g kg ⁻¹	0.43	0.520	1.58±0.14	1.71±0.13	
Na g kg ⁻¹	2.56	0.128	1.60±0.32	2.42±0.40	
N:P	1.91	0.185	10.47±1.33	8.49±0.48	
N:K	0.10	0.755	2.04±0.28	2.03±0.14	
K:P	4.56	0.047	5.24±0.27	4.32±0.34	

Table 5 Correlation (r) between herbage quality characteristics and sward characteristics. Data of sward characteristics are from previous study (Pavlů et al. 2021). Herbage characteristics abbreviations are given in Fig. 1. Asterisks indicate significant differences (*P < 0.05; **P < 0.01; ***P < 0.001). P – value = corresponding probability value.

	Herbage quality characteristics										
Sward characteristics		I		T	Γ	-		I	T	Γ	Γ
	DMBS	IVOMD	CP	NDF	WSC	Ash	Р	K	Ca	Mg	Na
Total number of plant	-0.52*	0.65**	-0.58**	-0.74***	0.55**	0.43	-0.09	-0.36	0.84***	0.79***	0.79***
species											
Total cover of graminoids	0.61**	-0.74***	0.56**	0.80***	-0.47*	-0.34	0.11	0.47*	-0.86***	-0.81***	-0.83***
Total cover forbs	-0.63**	0.75***	-0.54*	-0.78***	0.49*	0.30	-0.13	-0.49*	0.81***	0.81***	0.85***



Figure 1. Ordination diagram of the results of RDA analysis showing changes in nutrient concentration in the herbage, with treatments used as predictors (see Table 1, Analysis 1 for details). Treatment abbreviations are: sheep grazing, with (GL+) and without (GL-) lime application; hay cutting only, with (HL+) and without (HL-) lime application; and hay cutting followed by aftermath sheep grazing, with (HGL+) and without (HGL-) lime application; control (CO) continuing the previous site management (limed, fertilized and continually grazed by sheep. Abbreviations: DMSB—dry matter standing biomass, IVOMD—in vitro organic matter digestibility, CP—crude protein, NDF—neutral detergent fiber, WSC— water soluble carbohydrates detergent; P, K, Ca, Mg-nutrient concentration in the herbage; N:P, N:K, K:P-ratios in the herbage.



Figure S1: Schematic block design of the Brignant Long-term Plots.



- 8 Figure S2: Aerial view of the Brignant Long-term Plots (© Google 2015).

CHAPTER 7

The main results and overview discussion

7.1 The main results

7.1.1 The effects of first defoliation and previous management intensity on forage quality of a semi-natural species-rich grassland (Chapter 3)

In the early part of the grazing season DMSB had similar development till the beginning of June in both treatments. The highest mean value of DMSB in the extensive treatment was recorded in July.

During the **early part** of the grazing **season** a **sharp decline** in **IVOMD** was recorded in **both treatments**. The mean values of **IVOMD** were significantly **higher** in the **intensive treatment** than in the extensive treatment.

Concentrations of **CP** and **both fibres** (ADF, NDF) showed **opposite development trends** over the **whole period** of the grazing **season**.

In the **early part** of the grazing **season CP** concentration was significantly **higher** in the **intensive treatment** than in the extensive treatment.

The **both fibre** concentrations (ADF, NDF) were **higher** in the **extensive treatment** in comparison with the intensive treatment during the **early part** of grazing **season**.

The sharp decrease of P concentration in the herbage was recorded from May to June for both treatments.

In the **early part** of the grazing **season** the **K** concentration **reached** its **highest peak** in **May** under **both treatments**, then there was a declining trend for the rest of the grazing season in both treatments.

The concentrations of **Ca** and **Mg** in the **herbage** were significantly **higher** in the **intensive treatment** than in the extensive treatment in the **early part** of the grazing **season**.

From June onwards Ca concentration in the herbage tended to be higher in the extensive treatment than in the intensive treatment, whereas Mg concentration was similar in both treatments for the remainder of the season.

In the **early part** of grazing **season Na** concentration in the **herbage** was significantly **higher** in the **intensive** treatment than in the extensive treatment; this concentration of **Na** was **decreasing during the whole** of the grazing **season** in **both treatments**.

In the **early part** of the grazing **season the K/(Ca+Mg)** ratio showed a **slow decline** in **both treatments** and this ratio was significantly **higher** in the **extensive treatment**. **From June throughout** the **rest** of the grazing **season** the mean values for this **ratio** were predominantly **higher** in the **intensive treatment** than in the extensive treatment.

7.1.2 Effect of grazing intensity and dung on herbage and soil nutrients (Chapter 4)

The highest values for SH, DM content and DMSB were found under tall patches in the extensive treatment without and with presence of dung.

The highest values for dead biomass under tall patches in the extensive treatment without presence of dung and under grazed patches in the extensive treatment were revealed.

The highest N, P, K concentrations in the herbage were revealed under tall patches in the intensive treatment with presence of dung, whereas the highest Ca and Mg concentration was found in grazed patches in the intensive treatment. The highest Mg concentration was found under tall patches in the intensive treatment with presence of dung.

The **presence** of **dung** under **tall sward-height patches** in the **extensive grazing** had **no effect** either on **SH**, **DM** content and **DMSB** or on **N**, **P**, **K** concentrations in the **herbage**. The **lowest SH**, **DM** content, **DMSB** were under grazed patches in the **intensive grazing** which is linked with age of sward. Type of patch did not show any significant effect on the concentrations of N_{tot}, C_{org}, and plant available nutrients P, K, Ca, and Mg in the soil.

7.1.3 Restoration management of cattle resting place in mountain grassland (Chapter 5)

During the course of the **experiment**, significant **amount of nutrients** were **removed** in **harvested herbage** under the **cutting treatments**. The **removal** of **nutrients** at the **beginning** of the **experiment** was much **greater** than in the last year of sampling. The concentrations of **N**, **P**, **K**, **Ca and Mg** in the herbage were **higher** under **unmanaged treatment** in comparison with both cut treatments.

The mean **plant available** concentrations of **P**, **K**, **Mg** in the soil and N_{tot} , **pH/KCl** were **higher** under **unmanaged treatment** compared to both cut treatments whereas **plant available** concentration of **Ca** were the **highest** under **unmanaged treatment** and **cut treatment** with **herbicide** application.

In the **both cutting treatments**, the concentrations of **N**, **P**, **K**, **Mg** and **Ca** in the **herbage increased with increasing** concentrations of **plant available N**, **P**, **K**, **Mg** and **Ca**.

Under **unmanaged treatment**, the concentrations of **Ca**, **K** and **N** in the **herbage** was **negatively related** to the concentrations of **plant available Ca**, **K** and **N**. In contrast, the concentrations of **P** and **Mg** in the **unmanaged treatment** were **related positively**.

7.1.4 The effect of 19 years of restoration managements on forage quality and herbage soil relationships within improved upland grassland (Chapter 6)

The **DMSB** and **NDF** were significantly **supported** by **only grazed type** of defoliation, whereas **IVOMD** was **supported** by the type of **defoliation** that comprised **cutting** (hay and hay/grazed defoliation) **regardless** of **liming**.

The concentrations of Ca, Mg and Na in the herbage were significantly lower under

only grazed defoliation type than under the type of defoliation that incorporated cutting regardless of liming.

Although concentration of **WSC** was significantly **influenced** by the **treatment**, the type of defoliation did not have any effect on it. The **lowest** concentration of **WSC** was **recorded** under **control treatment**, conversely the **highest** concentration was under **hay cutting treatment with lime** application.

The concentrations of **CP**, **ash**, **P** and **K** in the **herbage** were **not influenced** by the **treatment** or the **type of defoliation**.

The **lowest K:P ratio** was under **hay cutting treatment without lime** application and the **highest** was under **sheep grazing treatment with lime** application. In contrast, there was **no effect** of the **treatment** or the **type of defoliation** on the **N:P** and **N:K** ratios in the **herbage.**

The **IVOMD** and concentrations of **WSC**, **Ca**, **Mg** and **Na** in the **herbage** were significantly **positively correlated** with number of **all vascular plant species**, in contrast to **CP**, **NDF** and **N** that were **correlated negatively**. On the contrary for concentrations of **P**, **K** and **ash no correlation** was found.

7.2 Overview discussion

Experiment abbreviations: BRE - Brignant Restoration Experiment (UK); **OFQE** - Oldřichov Forage Quality Experiment (Czechia); **OPE** - Oldřichov Patch Experiment (Czechia); **RPE** - Resting Place Experiment (Slovakia)

7.2.1 Herbage production

The highest yield of DM biomass for temperate grassland is usually in August-September, whereas the optimum concentration of minerals for cattle nutrition is in May-June (McDowell and Valle, 2000; Whitehead, 2000). Generally, DM biomass yield ranges from 2 to 4 t ha⁻¹ year ⁻¹ for Central European conditions (Smit et al., 2008), but it can have a wider range from 1 to 12 t ha ⁻¹ year ⁻¹. This range depends on the method of management and ecological conditions of the habitat (Frame, 1992; Kollárová et al., 2007).

The mean thirteen-year total DM biomass production was from 2.4 to 5.0 t ha⁻¹ under intensive and from 2.3 to 4.7 t ha⁻¹ under extensive grazing (OFQE, chapter 3). These values roughly corresponded with average yields of dry matter forage biomass in pasture and reflected typical biomass growth at the study site (Kassahun, 2016). When measuring biomass production through grazing season, usually a higher DM biomass yield was found under continuous intensive grazing, than extensive one, with two peaks in spring and summer (Pavlů et al., 2006b). However, when we measured DMSB (biomass growth without any disturbation in the vegetation season - cutting or grazing) we got the different result. In the OFQE (chapter 3) the highest mean value of DMSB was found under previous extensive grazing in September (5.9 t ha⁻¹) and under previous intensive grazing in October (5.3 t ha⁻¹). These differences were affected by the different phenology under various grazing pressure. Although biomass production was affected by the presence of faeces on pasture, it was not confirmed for biomass production of tall sward-height patches under extensive grazing in September (OPE, chapter 4).

In a very nutrient rich conditions in former cattle resting place (RPE, chapter 5) DM biomass production ranged from 6 to 7.4 t ha⁻¹ per year. The variation in the dry matter biomass production observed during the early period of this experiment could be attributed to climatic conditions and altitude such as temperature and precipitation distribution during the vegetation season, as well as the species composition, and management applied (Mpokos et al., 2014; Smith et al., 2008). Such variability in biomass production is expected and similar results have been reported in other long-term studies in Central Europe (Hrevušová et al.,

2009; Smits et al., 2008; Pavlů et al., 2006b). Also, other authors (Hejcman et al., 2010; Klimeš and Klimešová, 2002) declare the influence of the type of management to the height of vegetation and biomass yield. However, one of major outcomes from the RPE study was that biomass production did not change either in response to the cutting or the combined herbicide-reseeding-cutting management. It stabilized throughout the experiment period after the first year under both these cutting treatments.

Liming is used as an important tool in the restoration of species-rich grassland habitats (De Graaf et al., 1998), which can also increase availability of nutrients and consequently biomass production. Nevertheless, we did not find any effect of liming on DM biomass production in the restoration experiment (BRE, chapter 6) and although soil pH was higher in the treatments with liming than without it (Pavlů et al., 2021), it did not have any effect on biomass production.

7.2.2 Minerals

The concentrations of minerals in the herbage are affected by the plant available nutrient concentration (Schaffers, 2002), further also by phenophases, representation of individual agro-botanical groups in the grassland (Mládek et al., 2011), shading intensity, soil moisture and acidity and other ecological factors during the vegetation season (Schaffers, 2002). Herbage at the early part of growing season has very high concentration of minerals (Duru and Ducrocq 1996; Pavlů and Velich 1998). In the OFQE (chapter 3), dealing with the forage maturation during the grazing season, a significant decline of P, K and Na concentrations was found in the herbage during the grazing season. It is consequence of the 'dilution effect', it means, that during the maturation the herbage biomass increases, whereas mineral contents decrease (Duru and Ducrocq, 1997; Mládek et al., 2011). Similarly, Míka (1997) stated that dry matter biomass increases more than total amount of minerals in the herbage.

Nevertheless, the highest N, P and K concentrations in the herbage were not found in younger forage under intensive grazed patches, but in tall patches with dung under intensive grazing (OPE, chapter 4). The main factor, which increased P and K concentrations in the herbage of these tall patches, was presence of dung (Scheile et al., 2018).

There were also found the high concentrations of Ca and K in the herbage under all treatments in the RPE (chapter 5), especially during the early periods of the experiment, as a result of long-term defecation of the animals.

On the other hand, the highest concentrations of Mg, Ca and Na (BRE, chapter 6) were recorded in the treatments where cutting, that supported the cover of forbs, was included (only hay or hay-grazed defoliation) regardless of liming (Pavlů et al., 2021).

Higher concentrations of Mg and Ca (OFQE, chapter 3) under previous intensive grazing treatment in the beginning of the growing season were probably caused by higher proportion of legumes in the sward (Novák, 2008; Whitehead, 2000) and also by higher proportion of *Taraxacum* species, which are known for their high concentration of Ca (Ata et al., 2011; Grzegorczyk et al., 2013; Harrington et al., 2006; Suttle, 2010; Wilman and Derrick, 1994; Whitehead, 2000). In the early part of grazing season (OFQE) the concentration of Ca was sufficiently high in both intensive and extensive treatments to meet nutritional requirements for dairy cows (4–6.0 g kg⁻¹; Whitehead, 2000). However, concentration of Mg in the herbage fulfilled the requirements for dairy cows (at least 2.0 g kg⁻¹) in the early part of the grazing season only in the intensive treatment.

In the later period of grazing season (OFQE, chapter 3) under the previous intensive treatment there were decline in concentrations of Ca and Mg in the forage. It was due to the reduction of proportions of legumes and *Taraxacum* species with increased growth of grasses (*Agrostis capillaris, Festuca rubra* agg., *Poa trivialis*), which generally have lower mineral concentrations than forbs (Královec, 2001; Liebisch et al., 2013; Pirhofer-Walzl, 2011; Whitehead, 2000). On the contrary, under the previous extensive treatment the proportion of several tall forbs (*Aegopodium podagraria, Galium mollugo agg., Hypericum maculatum*) in the sward increased at the expense of the grasses (unpublished result), so higher concentration of Ca in the herbage in the previous extensive than intensive treatment in the later period of grazing season could be caused by seasonal development of different plant species composition, as was also described by Mládek et al. (2011). Thus, in this period under the previous intensive grazing treatment, Ca concentration met requirements only for low productive milking cows (threshold 3.0 g kg⁻¹) and beef cattle (threshold 2.9 g kg⁻¹), whereas Mg concentration was mostly suitable only for beef cattle (1.6 g kg⁻¹) in both treatments (Whitehead, 2000).

The physiological requirements of K for animals are significantly less than it is usually present in the herbage, therefore animal intake of K is higher, than their optimal need (Suttle, 2010; Whitehead, 2000). Thus, K was the only element in the herbage that exceeded the recommended range for cattle nutrition (5–9 g kg⁻¹; Whitehead, 2000) during the whole grazing season in both treatments (OFQE, chapter 3). The concentration of K in the biomass was particularly high in the spring, but during the vegetation season this concentration

gradually decreased. Similar decline was also described by Pelletier et al. (2006). The highest concentrations of K occur in forbs, then in grasses and the lowest in legumes (Královec, 2001).

The requirements of Na for dairy cows (2.0 g kg⁻¹) as well as beef cattle (1.0 g kg⁻¹) usually exceed Na concentration present in the herbage (Whitehead, 2000). Also, in the OFQE (chapter 3) concentration of Na in the forage did not meet the requirements of either dairy cows or beef cattle in both treatments during the whole grazing season too. Similarly, according to results of Pavlů et al. (2006a) concentration of K in the forage based on grasses tends to be higher than animal requirements, whereas concentrations of Mg and Na (alternatively Ca) tend to be in deficit.

The concentration of P in the herbage (OFQE, chapter 3) met the requirements of productive animals (2.4–4.0 g kg⁻¹; Whitehead, 2000) in both the extensive and intensive treatments only until early part of June. In the RPE (chapter 5) a very high concentration of P in the herbage was found in all treatments. Although the decline in the concentration of P in the herbage was observed from the beginning to the end of experiment under both cutting treatments, P concentration in the herbage was still high and thus biomass growth was not limited by P (Hejcman et al., 2012). This high concentration of P in the early part of the RPE could be caused by high representation of weedy *U. dioica* and *R. obtusifolius*, for which high concentrations of N and P are typical (Taylor, 2009; Thompson et al., 1997). Nevertheless, high herbage concentration of P in this study site was predominantly based on the previous management (cattle resting place) which considerably enriched the soil with nutrients.

There were generally lower concentrations of P, K and K/Ca+Mg ratio but higher concentrations of Na in the herbage in the OFQE (chapter 3) in comparison with another experiment in Jizerské hory Mountains based on rotation and continuous grazing regime (Pavlů and Velich, 1998). These differences were caused by lower concentration of plant-available nutrients in the OFQE caused by the different management.

Recommended K/(Ca+Mg) ratio should not exceed the value 2.20 (Novák, 2008), but according to various authors this ratio can be up to 2,50–3 (Grunes et al., 1970; Pavlů and Velich, 1998; Voisin, 1963). This exceeding ratio can cause grazing tetany (Novák, 2008). In the OFQE (chapter 3), the grass tetany ratio K/(Ca+Mg) in meq. of 2.5 (Grunes et al., 1970; Voisin, 1963) has never exceeded, due to high Ca and Mg concentrations in the herbage. In general, mineral imbalances is possible to solve by supplying with free-choice mineral supplements to livestock (McDowell and Valle, 2000; Suttle, 2010).

7.2.3 Organic components

Young herbage in vegetative state has higher digestibility values and higher concentrations of CP than the mature forage (Koidou et al., 2019; Rychnovská, 1985; Whitehead, 2000). A gradual decrease of digestibility is associated with an increasing accumulation of structural carbohydrates and lignification during the maturity (Frame, 1992; Rymer, 2000). The optimal values of forage digestibility are higher than 67% for dairy cows (Frame, 1992), at least 60% for beef cattle (NRC, 2000) and around 50% as maintenance value (ARC, 1980). The digestibility of forage is affected not only by the intensity of grazing during the recording period, as some previous studies show (Bruinenberg et al., 2002; Motazedian and Sharrow, 1990; Pelve et al., 2012; Stejskalová et al., 2013; Tallowin and Jefferson, 1999), but it can be also affected by previous grazing intensity.

The optimum level of IVOMD in forage in the OFQE (chapter 3), which meets the requirements for dairy cows was until early part of June in the previously intensive grazing treatment but only during the first two weeks in May in the previously extensive grazing treatment. In these both treatments (OFQE) the optimum values of IVOMD for feeding of beef cattle were suitable during the whole early part of the grazing season, because beef cattle do not have high digestibility requirements as dairy cows (NRC, 2000). The sufficient maintenance values of digestibility for feeding cattle were until July under the both treatments. Similar development of digestibility is typical for upland European grasslands (e.g. Andueza et al., 2014; Koidou et al., 2019).

Values of IVOMD and CP concentrations showed similar patterns in the OFQE (chapter 3) over the course of the grazing season. In both treatments a decline was recorded from the early part to the end of the grazing season. The highest concentrations of CP were reached in the early part of May, after this period there was a sharp decline until mid of June, when values were about 100 g kg⁻¹ regardless of treatment, this level was still optimal for the requirements for beef cattle (80 g kg⁻¹) (Thumm et al., 2009). After mid of June CP concentrations remained unchanged until the end of the grazing season. The higher CP concentration in the herbage in the early part of the grazing season under the previous intensive grazing treatment. These plant species usually have higher CP concentrations than grasses (e.g. Biel et al., 2017; Elgersma and Søegaard, 2016; Jancovic and Holubek, 1999). The optimum concentrations of CP that can meet the requirements of dairy cows (>160 g kg⁻¹) (Thumm et al., 2009) were only in the first two weeks of May in both treatments.
The high concentration of CP in the herbage in the RPE (chapter 5) was also found during the early period in all treatments, after this period there was found a decline in both cutting treatments. It seems that regular biomass removal can reduce N in the soil, which is usually linked with CP concentration in the herbage.

The highest CP concentration in the herbage in the OPE (chapter 4) was not surprisingly found in intensive grazed patches, where biomass is not matured, but under tall patches with dung in intensive grazed plots, which increased concentration of CP in the herbage biomass.

Level of NDF and CP concentrations found out in the BRE (chapter 6) was typical for UK species rich grasslands (French, 2017; Hayes et al. 2016) and because of low IVOMD in all treatments the forage was not suitable for high productive lactating animals, but only for sheep or beef cattle (NRC, 1985; NRC, 2000).

The forage quality in terms of NDF concentration was not suitable for dairy cows in both treatments of the OFQE (chapter 3), as their recommended values are about 300–400 g kg⁻¹ (Kudrna et al., 1998; NRC, 2001), higher concentrations are usable only for beef cattle (NRC, 2000). The high concentrations of ADF in forage were in both treatments in the OFQE, except for the first week in May under the previous intensive grazing treatment. These values were not acceptable for dairy nutrition, their recommended values are about 190–240 g kg⁻¹ (Kudrna et al., 1998; NRC, 2001). After early part of June, the both ADF and NDF concentrations in the herbage increased and were suitable only for beef cattle (NRC, 2000).

The herbage biomass in the OFQE (chapter 3) harvested after July was of very low quality and was not suitable as the only food source for cattle nutrition, but this biomass can be used for combustion (Boob et al., 2019).

7.2.2 Soil chemical properties

Cutting management with biomass removal usually results in decreasing of plant available P and K in the soil as well as consequently in the herbage (Hejcman et al., 2010; Pavlů et al., 2011). The reduction of K concentration from the soil by cutting and removing herbage is generally quick (Pavlů et al., 2013). The RPE (chapter 5) showed a decline in N and the major plant available nutrients (P, K and Mg) in the soil over the duration of the study under both cutting treatments with biomass removal. The decline in all these nutrients was similar in both soil layer (0-10 and 10-20 cm). However, the reductions of plant available concentrations of Ca and Mg under both cutting treatments were relatively small. It can be explained by the limited duration of the experiment, because significant nutrient removal requires a long-term period (Hansson and Fogelfors, 2000; Hejcman et al., 2010; Perring et al., 2009; Schnitzler and Muller, 1998). Conversely nutrients in the soil remained relatively stable under the unmanaged treatment throughout the experiment period, which was caused by the absence of management.

Dung is a potential source of available nutrients for plants and has a significant effect on the chemical status of the soil (Aarons et al., 2004). Typical rates of deposition of elements in dung pats are equivalent to 150–170 kg K, 125–400 kg P and 650–850 kg N per ha per year (Pearson and Ison, 1997), a recovery of nitrogen by urine in to the soil is about 60–70% (Ball and Keeney, 1983). In the OPE (chapter 4) the type of patch did not show any significant effect on the plant available nutrients (P, K, Ca, Mg) and concentrations of N_{tot}, C_{org}, in the soil. The regression analysis showed no relationship between the concentrations of nutrients in the herbage and in the soil. According to Dickinson and Craig (1990) and Scheile et al. (2018) nutrient losses from dung are not necessary connected with increases in nutrients in the soil, as these nutrients might have been used immediately by plants under the dung. Nevertheless, other studies (Aarons et al., 2009; MacDiarmid and Watkin, 1972; Yoshitake et al., 2014) have noted direct positive effect of dung-derived nutrients on the nutrient concentrations in the soil.

Although Pavlů et al. (2021) found a positive effect of previous liming on Ca and Mg concentration in the soil in the BRE (chapter 6) no effect of previous liming on mineral concentration in the forage was found in this study. So it seems that forage quality was predominantly affected by botanical composition which reflected applied management. In the BRE the positive relationship between the concentrations of P and K in the herbage and plant available concentrations of P and K in the soil was revealed. Similarly, several studies (Schaffers et al., 1998; Pavlů et al., 2013, 2016) has reported this positive linear relationship for K, but only a few authors (Pavlů et al., 2016) have found a similar relationship in the case of P.

7.3 References

- Aarons S.R., O'Connor C.R., Gourley C.J.P. 2004. Dung decomposition in temperate dairy pastures. I. Changes in soil chemical properties. *Australian Journal of Soil Research*, 42: 107-114.
- Aarons S.R., O'Connor C.R., Hosseini H.M., Gourley C.J.P. 2009. Dung pads increase pasture production, soil nutrients and microbial biomass carbon in grazed dairy systems. *Nutrient Cycling in Agroecosystems*, 84: 81-92.
- Andueza D., Rodrigues A.M., Picard F., Rossignol N., Baumont R., Cecato U., et al. 2014.
 Relationships between botanical composition, yield and forage quality of permanent grasslands over the first growth cycle. *Grass and Forage Science*, 71: 366-378.
- Ata S., Farooq F., Javed S. 2001. Elemental profile of 24 common medicinal plants of Pakistan and its direct link with traditional uses. *Journal of Medicinal Plants Research*, 5(26): 6164-6168.
- Ball P.R., Keeney D.R. 1983. Nitrogen losses from urine-affected areas of a New Zealand pasture, under contrasting seasonal conditions. Proceedings of the XIV the International Grassland Congress. Westview Press, Boulder, CO. pp. 342-4.
- Biel W., Jaroszewska A., Łysoń E., Telesiński A. 2017. The chemical composition and antioxidant properties of common dandelion leaves compared with sea buckthorn. *Canadian Journal of Plant Science*, 97: 1165-1174.
- Boob M., Elsaesser M., Thumm U., Hartung J., Lewandowski I. 2019. Harvest time determines quality and usability of biomass from lowland hay meadows. *Agriculture-Basel*, 9:198.
- Bruinenberg M.H., Valk H., Korevaar H., Struik P.C. 2002. Factors affecting digestibility of temperate forages from seminatural grasslands: a review. *Grass and Forage Science*, 57: 292-301.
- De Graaf M.C.C., Verbeek P.J.M., Bobbink R., Roelofs J.G.M. 1998. Restoration of speciesrich dry heaths: the importance of appropriate soil conditions. *Acta Botanica Neerlandica*, 47: 89-111.
- Dickinson C.H., Craig G. 1990. Effects of water on the decomposition and release of nutrients from cow pats. *New Phytologist*, 115: 139-147.
- Duru M., Ducrocq H. 1997. A nitrogen and phosphorus herbage nutrient index as a tool for assessing the effect of N and P supply on the dry matter yield of permanent pastures. *Nutrient Cycling in Agroecosystems*, 47: 59-69.

Elgersma A., Søegaard K. 2016. Effects of species diversity on seasonal variation in herbage yield and nutritive value of seven binary grass-legume mixtures and pure grass under cutting. *European Journal of Agronomy*, 78: 73-83.

Frame J. 1992. Improved grassland management. Farming Press Books, Ipswich, UK.

- French K.E. 2017. Species composition determines forage quality and medicinal value of high diversity grasslands in lowland England. Agriculture Ecosystems and Environment, 241: 193-204.
- Grunes D. L., Stout P. R., Brownell J. R. 1970. Grass tetany of ruminants. *Advances in Agronomy*, 22: 331-374.
- Grzegorczyk S., Alberski J., Olszewska M. 2013. Accumulation of potassium, calcium and magnesium by selected species of grassland legumes and herbs. *Journal of Elementology*, 18: 69-78.
- Hansson M., Fogelfors H. 2000. Management of a semi-natural grassland; results from a 15year-old experiment in southern Sweden. *Journal of Vegetation Science*, 11: 31-38.
- Harrington K.C., Thatcher A., Kemp P.D. 2006. Mineral composition and nutritive value of some common pasture weeds. *New Zealand Plant Protection*, 59: 261-265.
- Hayes F., Mills G., Jones L., Abbott J., Ashmore M., Barnes J., Wyness K. 2016. Consistent ozone-induced decreases in pasture forage quality across several grassland types and consequences for UK lamb production. *Science of the Total Environment*, 543: 336-346.
- Hejcman M., Schellberg J., Pavlů V. 2010. Long-term effects of cutting frequency and liming on soil chemical properties, biomass production and plant species composition of Lolio-Cynosuretum grassland after the cessation of fertilizer application. *Applied Vegetation Science*, 13: 257-269.
- Hejcman M., Strnad L., Hejcmanová P., Pavlů V. 2012. Response of plant species composition, biomass production and biomass chemical properties to high N, P and K application rates in Dactylis glomerata- and Festuca arundinacea-dominated grassland. *Grass and Forage Science*, 67: 488-506.
- Hrevušová Z., Hejcman M., Pavlů V. V., Hakl J., Klaudisová M., Mrkvička J. 2009. Longterm dynamics of biomass production, soil chemical properties and plant species composition of alluvial grassland after the cessation of fertilizer application in the Czech Republic. Agriculture Ecosystems and Environment, 130: 123-130.
- Jancovic J., Holubek R. 1999. Some quality parameters of chosen meadow plant species after long-term fertilization of semi-natural grassland. *Rostlinná Výroba*, 45(2): 79-83.

- Kassahun T., Pavlů V., Hejcman M. 2016. Seasonal dynamics of herbage biomass under long-term intensive and extensive grazing management. In: Klumpp G., Pott T., Oeding S. (eds.): Bio-based economy for a sustainable future, ELLS scientific student conference, Germany: University of Hohenheim, Hohenheim, DE. p. 39.
- Klimeš L., Klimešová J. 2002. The effect of mowing and fertilisation on carbohydrate reserves and regrowth of grasses: do they promote plant coexistence in species rich meadows? *Evolutionary Ecology*, 15: 363-382.
- Koidou M., Mountousis I., Dotas V., Zagorakis K., Yiakoulaki M. 2019. Temporal variations of herbage production and nutritive value of three grasslands at different elevation zones regarding grazing needs and welfare of ruminants. *Archives Animal Breeding*, 62: 215-226.
- Kollárová M., Plíva P., Jelínek A., Zemánek P., Burg P., Altmann V., Mimra M., Hájková V. 2007. Zásady pro obhospodařování trvalých travních porostů. Výzkumný ústav zemědělské techniky, Praha, CZ.
- Královec J. 2001. Obhospodařování pastvin základy hnojení travních porostů. In: Pavlů V. (ed.): Pastvinářství. ASZ, Praha, CZ. pp. 32-45.
- Kudrna V., Čermák B., Doležal O., (eds.) 1998. Produkce krmiv a výživa skotu. Agrospoj, Praha, CZ.
- Liebisch F., Bunemann E.K., Huguenin-Elie O., Jeangros B., Frossard E., Oberson A. 2013. Plant phosphorus nutrition indicators evaluated in agricultural grasslands managed at different intensities. *European Journal of Agronomy*, 44: 66-77.
- MacDiarmid B.N., Watkin B.R. 1972. The cattle dung patch. 2. Effect of a dung patch on the chemical status of the soil, and ammonia nitrogen losses from the patch. *Journal of British Grassland Society*, 27: 43-48.
- McDowell L.R., Valle G. 2000. Major minerals in forages. In: Givens D.I., Owen E., Axford R.F., Omed H.M. (eds.): Forage evaluation in ruminant nutrition. CABI Publishing, Wallingford, UK. pp. 373-397.
- Míka V. 1997. Minerální látky. In: Míka V. (ed.): Kvalita píce. Ústav zemědělských a potravinářských informací, Praha, CZ. pp. 97-101.
- Mládek J., Hejcman M., Hejduk S., Duchoslav M., Pavlů V. 2011. Community seasonal development enables late defoliation without loss of forage quality in semi-natural grasslands. *Folia Geobotanica*, 46: 17-34.
- Motazedian I., Sharrow S.H. 1990. Defoliation frequency and intensity effects on pasture forage quality. *Journal of Range Management*, 43(3): 198-201.

- Mpokos J.P., Yiakoulaki D.M., Papazafeiriou Z.A., Sgardelis S., Alifragis D., Papanikolaou
 K. 2014. Herbage production and species richness in sub-alpine grasslands of different soil parent material in Northern Greece. *Journal of Mountain Science*, 11: 1579-1592.
- National Research Council. 1985. Nutrient requirements of Sheep (Vol. 5). The National Academies Press, Washington, DC.
- National Research Council. 2000. Nutrient Requirements of Beef Cattle (7th Revised Edition). The National Academies Press, Washington, DC.
- National Research Council. 2001. Nutrient Requirements of Dairy Cattle (7th Edition). The National Academies Press, Washington, DC.
- Novák J. 2008. Pasienky, lúky a trávniky. Patria I. spol. s.r.o., Prievidza, SK.
- Pavlů L., Gaisler J., Hejcman M., Pavlů V. V. 2016. What is the effect of long-term mulching and traditional cutting regimes on soil and biomass chemical properties, species richness and herbage production in Dactylis glomerata grassland? *Agriculture Ecosystems and Environment*, 217:13-21.
- Pavlů L., Pavlů V., Gaisler J., Hejcman M. 2013. Relationship between soil and biomass chemical properties, herbage yield and sward height in cut and unmanaged mountain hay meadow (Polygono-Trisetion). *Flora - Morphology Distribution Functional Ecology of Plants*, 208: 599-608.
- Pavlů L., Pavlů V.V., Fraser M.D. 2021. What is the effect of 19 years of restoration managements on soil and vegetation on formerly improved upland grassland? *Science* of the Total Environment, 755: 142469.
- Pavlů V., Hejduk S., Mládek J., Hejcman M. 2006a. Charakteristika pastevního porostu Kvalita travní píce. In: Mládek J., Pavlů V., Hejcman M., Gaisler J. (eds.): Pastva jako prostředek údržby trvalých travních porostů v chráněných územích. Výzkumný ústav rostlinné výroby a Ministerstvo životního prostředí ČR, Praha, CZ. pp. 29-32.
- Pavlů V., Schellberg J., Hejcman M. 2011. Cutting frequency vs. N application: effect of a 20year management in Lolio-Cynosuretum grassland. *Grass and Forage Science*, 66: 501-515.
- Pavlů V., Hejcman M., Pavlů L., Gaisler J., Nežerková P. 2006b. Effect of continuous grazing on forage quality, quantity and animal performance. *Agriculture, Ecosystems and Environment*, 113: 349-355.
- Pavlů, V., Velich, J. 1998. Kvalita pastevní píce při rotační a kontinuální pastvě jalovic. *Rostlinná výroba*, 44: 287-292.

- Pearson C.J., Ison R.L. 1997. Agronomy of Grassland Systems. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, UK.
- Pelletier S., Bélanger G., Tremblay G.F., Brégard A., Allard G. 2006. Diatary cation-anion difference of Timothy as affected by development stage and nitrogen and phosphorus fertilization. *Agronomy Journal*, 98: 774-780.
- Pelve M.E., Olsson I., Spörndly E., Eriksson T. 2012. In vivo and in vitro digestibility, nitrogen balance and methane production in non-lactating cows and heifers fed forage harvested from heterogeneous semi-natural pastures. *Livestock Science*, 144: 48-56.
- Perring M.P., Edwards G., De Mazancourt C. 2009. Removing phosphorus from ecosystems through nitrogen fertilization and cutting with removal of biomass. *Ecosystems*, 12: 1130-1144.
- Pirhofer-Walzl K., Søegaard K., Høgh-Jensen H., Eriksen J., Sanderson M.A., Rasmussen J. 2011. Forage herbs improve mineral composition of grassland herbage. *Grass and Forage Science*, 66: 415-423.
- Rychnovská M. Úvod Travinné porosty mírného pásma. 1985. In: Rychnovská M., Balátová E., Úlehlová B., Pelikán J. (eds.): Ekologie lučních porostů. Academia, Praha, CZ. pp. 11-12.
- Rymer C. The measurement of forage digestibility in vivo. 2000. In: Givens D.I., Owen E., Axford R.F.E., Omed H.M. (eds): Forage evaluation in ruminant nutrition. CABI Publishing, Wallingford, UK. pp. 113-134.
- Schaffers A.P. 2002. Soil biomass, and management of semi-natural vegetation. Part I. Interrelationships. *Plant Ecology*, 158: 229-246.
- Schaffers A.P., Vesseur M.C., Sýkora K.V. 1998. Effects of delayed hay removal on the nutrient balance of roadside plant communities. *Journal of Applied Ecology*, 35: 349-364.
- Scheile T., Isselstein J., Tonn B. 2018. Herbage biomass and uptake under low-input grazing as affected by cattle and sheep excrement patches. *Nutrient Cycling in Agroecosystems*, 112: 277-289.
- Schnitzler A., Muller S. 1998. Towards an ecological basis for the conservation of subalpine heath-grassland on the upper ridges of the Vosges. *Journal of Vegetation Science*, 9: 317-326.
- Smit H.J., Metzger M.J., Ewert F. 2008. Spatial distribution of grassland productivity and land use in Europe. *Agricultural Systems*, 98: 208-219.

- Smith P., Fang C.M., Dawson J.J.C., Moncrieff J.B. 2008. Impact of Global Warming on Soil Organic Carbon. Advances in Agronomy, 97: 1-43.
- Smits N.A.C., Willems J.H., Bobbink R. 2008. Long-term after-effects of fertilisation on the restoration of calcareous grasslands. *Applied Vegetation Science*, 11: 279-286.
- Stejskalová M., Hejcmanová P., Pavlů V., Hejcman M. 2013. Grazing behavior and performance of beef cattle as a function of sward structure and herbage quality under rotational and continuous stocking on species-rich upland pasture. *Animal Science Journal*, 84: 622-629.
- Suttle N. 2010. Mineral nutrition in livestock. CABI Publishing, Wallingford, UK.
- Tallowin J.R.B., Jefferson R.G. 1999. Hay production from lowland semi-natural grasslands:
 a review of implication for ruminant livestock systems. *Grass and Forage Science*, 54: 99-115.
- Taylor K. 2009. Biological flora of the British Isles: Urtica dioica L. *Journal of Ecology*, 97: 1436-1458.
- Thompson K., Parkinson J.A., Band S.R., Spencer R.E. 1997. A comparative study of leaf nutrient concentrations in a regional herbaceous flora. *New Phytologist*, 136: 679-689.
- Thumm U., Tonn B. 2009. Grünlandaufwüchse-Futter oder Bioenergie? In: Schreiber K.F., Brauckmann H.J., Broll G., Krebs S., Poschlod P. (eds.): Artenreiches Grünland in der Kulturlandschaft. Verlag Regionalkultur. Ubstadt-Weiher, DE. pp. 305-313.

- Whitehead D.C. 2000. Nutrient elements in grassland, soil-plant-animal relationships. CABI Publishing, Wallingford, UK.
- Wilman D., Derrick W. 1994. Concentration and availability to sheep of N, P, K, Ca, Mg and Na in chickweed, dandelion, dock, ribwort and spurrey, compared with perennial ryegrass. *Journal of Agricultural Science*, 122(2): 217-223.
- Yoshitake S., Soutome H., Koizumi H. 2014. Deposition and decomposition of cattle dung and its impact on soil properties and plant growth in a cool-temperate pasture. *Ecological Research*, 29: 673-684.

Voisin A. 1963. Grass tetany. Charles C. Thomas Publisher, Springfield, Ill.

CHAPTER 8

Summary of results

Future recommendation

8.1 Summary of results

The previous extensive management had a carry-over effect which significantly reduced the organic parameters of quality (IVOMD, ADF, NDF, CP) and Ca, Mg and Na concentrations in herbage of *Agrostis capillaris-Festuca rubra* dominated grassland until mid-June. Herbage mineral concentrations declined over the course of the sward maturation. Besides Na and K, the concentrations of other tested minerals were in the range recommended for cattle feeding and were also affected by species composition of the sward. The diversification of DMSB occurred after early part of June and it tended to be higher under previously extensively managed treatment. Thus agri-environmental payments are necessary to compensate for deterioration of forage quality if the utilisation of semi-natural grassland is restricted for environmental reasons, and this will apply not only for the postponing of the first defoliation to after mid-June, but also when extensive management is required.

The intensity of grazing management can influence utilization of nutrients released from dung. In tall sward-height patches in extensive grazing, the sward was almost ungrazed and thus did not need nutrients to regrow. In addition the presence of dung in extensive grazing did not have any influence on herbage properties and nutrients were leached without utilization. On the contrary intensive grazing supported frequency of grazing of tall patches and some nutrients from dung were utilized for regeneration of pasture sward. As the presence of dung did not have any influence on the soil nutrient concentrations in any type of patches we suppose that the non-utilized nutrients were leached and thus soil nutrient enrichment was very low.

The introduction of cutting management as well as a combination of cutting with herbicide application and reseeding had effect on herbage production and nutrient concentration in the herbage as well as in the soil. Finally, considering the result from this experiment and other similar studies, we can see treatment with herbicide application combined with cutting did not demonstrate significant difference in removing nutrients from the soil/herbage compared to the nature friendly only cut treatment. We conclude restoration measures in national parks or other protected areas are better off without the application of destructive and non-selective herbicide as a potential measure against invasive weed species.

Due to higher proportion of forbs the forage from restoration managements including cutting defoliation had higher quality than only grazed treatments. There was not found any effect of previous liming on forage quality. The positive relationship between P, K concentrations in the soil and in the herbage was revealed and their high concentration in the

soil was connected with lower species richness. Concentrations of Ca, Mg and Na in the herbage were positively correlated with plant species richness, whereas concentration of N had the opposite effect. The restoration managements with the postponing the timing of the first cutting defoliation (non-selective) to mid growing season practiced in an upland grassland may not deteriorate forage quality and can be used as a forage for not highly productive herbivores.

8.2 Future recommendation

As there is only little information about forage quality of semi-natural grasslands further research should be focused on the qualitative and quantitative herbage parameters during the vegetation season in relation to the different stage of phenophase and plant species composition. Research should be focused not only on whole grassland community but also on the particular dominant plant species. For these studies, it would be appropriate to evaluate these parameters in relation to the soil properties, because examining of herbage biomass properties without knowledge of the soil parameters is not meaningful. In general, future research of this topic should be more focused on the relationship between nutrients in the soil and the herbage.

The grazing experiments should study the influence of animal's excrements (urine and dung), because they have a significant effect on the nutrient cycle in the herbage and the soil. Their effect on the grassland has not been much examined yet, although their influence is crucial on the nutrient concentration in the herbage and the soil, botanical composition and behaviour of grazing animals (avoiding these places). This research should be also associated with the decomposition time of dung from which nutrients are released on the pasture. Understanding of the nutrient cycle is very important for ecosystem functions, but also for botanical composition, as well as for animal nutrition in the grassland.

CHAPTER 9

Curriculum vitae

List of publications

9.1 Curriculum vitae

Personal information

Name: Klára Pavlů Date of birth: 15.8. 1990 Nationality: Czech Gender: Female Address: Oldřichov v Hájích, 122, 463 31 Contact: <u>kpavlu@fzp.czu.cz</u>; (+420) 721 258 761

Work experience

2015 – Present: Researcher at the Department of Ecology, Czech University of Life Sciences (CULS), Prague; branch in Liberec – joint workplace of CULS and Crop Research Institute "Ecology and management of grasslands"

Content of the work: work on projects, biomass sampling, data processing, articles writing, active participation in conferences, assistance with leading excursions for students

2015 – 2019: Researcher at the Department of Nutrition and Feeding of Farm animals, Institute of Animal Science, Prague
Content of the work: working in laboratory, data processing, articles writing, active participation in conferences

Education

2015 – Present: Czech University of Life Sciences, PragueFaculty: Faculty of Environmental SciencesField: Ecology, PhD.

2013 – 2015: Czech University of Life Sciences, PragueFaculty: Faculty of Agrobiology, Food and Natural ResourcesField: Masters of Animal Nutrition and Dietology, Ing.

2010 – 2013: Czech University of Life Sciences, PragueFaculty: Faculty of Agrobiology, Food and Natural ResourcesField: Bachelor of Animal-assisted Therapies and Activities, Bc.

Personal skills

Mother tongue(s): Czech Foreign language(s): English: B2

Job-related skills

Basic knowledge of Microsoft Office (Word, Excel, PowerPoint), Statistica

Projects

EU, Interreg SN/CZ r.č. 100264999 Sustainable grassland management for biodiversity support, 2017-2019, research worker EU, Interreg CZ/PL r.č. CZ.114.120/0.0/0.0/16_026/0001092 Grassland biomass as a renewable source of energy Biodiversity-Biomass-Biogas, 2017-2021, research worker

Internship

15/04/2019 – 15/09/2019: Georg-August-Universität Göttingen, Institute of Grassland Science (supervisor- Prof. Dr. Johannes Isselstein)

Work on two experiments:

- Determination of plant functional traits in relation to the grazing intensity
- Measuring root production under varying grazing intensities in different sward patches

9.2 List of publications

Scientific articles

i) Scientific articles with IF

Pavlů K., Kassahun T., Pavlů V., Pavlů L., Blažek P., Homolka P. 2021. The effects of first defoliation and previous management intensity on forage quality of a semi-natural species-rich grassland. *PlosOne*, 16(3): e0248804.

Kassahun T., **Pavlů K.**, Pavlů V.V., Pavlů L., Blažek P. 2021. Effect of 15-year sward management on vertical distribution of plant functional groups in a semi-natural perennial grassland of central Europe. *Applied Vegetation Science*, 24: e12568.

Kassahun T., **Pavlů K.**, Pavlů V., Pavlů L., Novák J., Blažek P. 2021. Restoration management of cattle resting place in mountain grassland. *PlosOne*, 16(4): e0249445.

Pavlů K., Kassahun T., Nwaogu Ch., Pavlů L., Gaisler J., Homolka P., Pavlů V. 2019. Effect of grazing intensity and dung on herbage and soil nutrients. *Plant, Soil and Environment*, 65 (7): 343-348.

Gaisler J., Pavlů L., Nwaogu Ch., **Pavlů K.**, Hejcman M., Pavlů V. 2019. Long- term effects of mulching, traditional cutting and no management on plant species composition of improved upland grassland in the Czech Republic. *Grass Forage Science*, 74: 463-475.

Pavlů K., Kassahun T., Pavlů L., Pavlů V., Fraser M. D. The effect of 19 years of restoration managements on forage quality and herbage soil relationships within improved upland grassland. Manuscript

ii) Scientific articles without IF

Titěra J., Haase H., Kassahun T., Nwaogu Ch., **Pavlů K.**, Kändler M., Pavlů L., Gaisler J., Paška F., Heidenreich H., Liepelt G., Jonášová I., Pavlů V. 2018. Divergrass - A cross border project to promote sustainable management of grasslands. *ACC Journal*, 24: 61-78.

Conferences

Pavlů K., Kassahun T., Nwaogu Ch., Pavlů V., Pavlů L. Gaisler J., Homolka P. 2018. The effect of previous contrasting grazing intensity on the content of nutrients in pasture forage. *Grassland Science in Europe*. 23:313-315. International Scientific Conference EGF (European Grassland Federation), Cork, Ireland, 17–21 June, 2018.

Kassahun T., **Pavlů K.**, Pavlů V., Pavlů L., Gaisler J. 2018. Biomass production and forage quality under intensive and extensive grazing. *Grassland Science in Europe*. 23:262-264. International scientific conference EGF (European Grassland Federation), Cork, Ireland, 17–21 June, 2018.

Pavlů K., Kassahun T., Nwaogu Ch., Pavlů V., Pavlů L., Gaisler J., Homolka P. 2017. The nutrient concentration in the soil and above-ground biomass of patches under intensive and extensive grazing intensities of *Agrostis capillaris* grassland. In: Harabiš F., Solský M. (eds). Kostelec inspire 2017. ISBN 978-80-213-2790-0, Kostelec inspire 2017. Conference of Czech University of Life Sciences in Prague, Faculty of Environmental Sciences, Kostelec, 23–24 November, 2017.

Pavlů K., Kassahun T., Nwaogu Ch., Pavlů V., Pavlů L., Gaisler J., Homolka P. 2017. Soil and herbage nutrients under pasture patches. In: Mertens J., Tropek R. (eds.). 6. Conference of Czech Society for Ecology. ECOLOGY 2017. 25–27 September, 2017.

Pavlů K., Homolka P., Hejcman M., Pavlů V. 2016. The effect of previous contrasting grazing intensity on the content of nutrients in pasture forage. *Grassland Science in Europe*.
21: 266-268. International Scientific Conference EGF (European Grassland Federation), Trondheim, Norway, 4– 8 September, 2016.

Pavlů K. 2016. The mineral content of herbaceous biomass influenced by previous varying intensity grazing. In: Šimůnková K. a M. Solský (eds.), Biodiversity 2016, Book of Abstracts, Czech University of Life Sciences in Prague, pp. 16. ISBN 978-80-213-2625-5, Biodiversity 2016. Conference of Czech University of Life Sciences in Prague, Faculty of Environmental Sciences, Chloumek, 23– 24 January, 2016.